An Internat	ional Journal of Research and Surve	ys
Volume 23	Number 1	2023
	CONTENTS	
Exponential and Strong S Control Systems by Deco	Stabilization for Inhomogeneous Semilinea omposition Method	ır 1
Harvesting Strategies in a a Crowley-Martin Type I Didiharyono, Sya	the Migratory Prey-Predator Model with Response Function and Constant Efforts msuddin Toaha, Jeffry Kusuma and Kasba	14 <i>wati</i>
Estimation of Forefnger Kalman Filter <i>T. Herlambang, F</i>	Motion with Multi-DOF Using Advanced I. Nurhadi, A. Muhith, A. Suryowinoto	
and K. Oktafanto A Note on the Controllab Equations Driven by Lév	bility of Stochastic Partial Differential by Noise	
D. D. Huan Asymmetric Duffing Osc J. Kyzioł and A. (	cillator: Jump Manifold and Border Set Dkniński	
Generalized Bessel-Riesz Measures	z Operator on Morrey Spaces with Differen	nt 58
Tsunami Wave Simulatio K. Oktafanto, A. Z T. Herlambang a	on in the Presense of a Barrier Z. Arifn, E. F. Kurniawati, T.Tafrikan, and F. Yudianto	69
Analysis of Dengue Dise Incidence Functions Harouna Ouedra	ase Transmission Model with General	
Denumerably Many Posi of Nonlinear Elliptic Equ Mahammad Khua	tive Radial Solutions to Iterative System nations on the Exterior of a Ball	
Existence of Weak Solut	ions for a Class of $(p(b(u)), q(b(u)))$ -Lapla	cian

# **Nonlinear Dynamics** and **Systems Theory**

# **An International Journal of Research and Surveys**

<b>EDITOR-IN-CHIEF A.A.M</b>
S.P.Timoshenko Institute of
National Academy of Sciences of Uk
MANAGING EDITOR I.P.ST
Department of Mathematics, Universit
<b>REGIONAL EDITO</b>
P.BORNE, Lille, Fra
A.OKNIŃSKI, Kielce,
Europe
M.BOHNER, Rolla,
HAO WANG, Edmonton
USA and Canada
T.A.BURTON, Port Ange
C.CRUZ-HERNANDEZ, Ense
USA and Latin Amer
M ALOURAN Irbid
Jordan and Middle E
THEDI AMDANG Sumbar
Indonesia and New Ze

### **InforMath Publishing Group** http://www.e-ndst.kiev.ua

ISSN 1562-8353 © 2023, InforMath Publishing Group Printed in Ukraine To receive contents and abstracts by e-mail, visit our Website at: http://www.e-ndst.kiev.ua

# ISSN 1562-8353

ARTYNYUK Mechanics raine, Kiev, Ukraine

AVROULAKIS ty of Ioannina, Greece

### ORS

ance Poland

USA Canada

eles, USA enada, Mexico rica

Jordan East

a, Indonesia ealand

### Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory

An International Journal of Research and Surveys

#### **EDITOR-IN-CHIEF A.A.MARTYNYUK**

The S.P.Timoshenko Institute of Mechanics, National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine, Nesterov Str. 3, 03680 MSP, Kiev-57, UKRAINE / e-mail: journalndst@gmail.com

#### MANAGING EDITOR I.P.STAVROULAKIS

Department of Mathematics, University of Ioannina 451 10 Ioannina, HELLAS (GREECE) / e-mail: ipstav@cc.uoi.gr

#### ADVISORY EDITOR A.G.MAZKO.

Institute of Mathematics of NAS of Ukraine, Kiev (Ukraine) e-mail: mazko@imath.kiev.ua

#### **REGIONAL EDITORS**

M.ALOURAN (Jordan), e-mail: marwan04@just.edu.jo P.BORNE (France), e-mail: Pierre.Borne@ec-lille.fr M.BOHNER (USA), e-mail: bohner@mst.edu T.A.BURTON (USA), e-mail: taburton@olypen.com C.CRUZ-HERNANDEZ (Mexico), e-mail: ccruz@cicese.mx T.HERLAMBANG (Indonesia), e-mail: teguh@unusa.ac.id A.OKNIŃSKI (Poland), e-mail:fizao@tu.kielce.pl HAO WANG (Canada), e-mail: hao8@ualberta.ca

#### **EDITORIAL BOARD**

Adzkiya, D. (Indonesia) Artstein, Z. (Israel) Awrejcewicz, J. (Poland) Braiek, N.B. (Tunisia) Chen Ye-Hwa (USA) De Angelis, M. (Italy) Denton, Z. (USA) Djemai, M. (France) Dshalalow, J.H. (USA) Gajic Z. (USA) Georgiev, S.G. (France) Georgiou, G. (Cyprus) Honglei Xu (Australia) Jafari, H. (South African Republic) Khusainov, D.Ya. (Ukraine)

Kloeden, P. (Germany) Kokologiannaki, C. (Greece) Kouzou, A. (Algeria) Krishnan, E.V. (Oman) Limarchenko, O.S. (Ukraine) Lopez Gutierrez R.M. (Mexico) Peterson, A. (USA) Radziszewski, B. (Poland) Shi Yan (Japan) Sivasundaram, S. (USA) Sree Hari Rao, V. (India) Staicu V. (Portugal) Vatsala, A. (USA) Zuyev, A.L. (Germany)

#### **ADVISORY COMPUTER SCIENCE EDITORS** A.N.CHERNIENKO and A.S.KHOROSHUN, Kiev, Ukraine

**ADVISORY LINGUISTIC EDITOR** S.N.RASSHYVALOVA, Kiev, Ukraine

© 2023, InforMath Publishing Group, ISSN 1562-8353 print, ISSN 1813-7385 online, Printed in Ukraine No part of this Journal may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means without permission from InforMath Publishing Group.

#### **INSTRUCTIONS FOR CONTRIBUTORS**

(1) General. Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory (ND&ST) is an international journal devoted to publishing peer-refereed, high quality, original papers, brief notes and review articles focusing on nonlinear dynamics and systems theory and their practical applications in engineering, physical and life sciences. Submission of a manuscript is a representation that the submission has been approved by all of the authors and by the institution where the work was carried out. It also represents that the manuscript has not been previously published, has not been copyrighted, is not being submitted for publication elsewhere, and that the authors have agreed that the copyright in the article shall be assigned exclusively to InforMath Publishing Group by signing a transfer of copyright form. Before submission, the authors should visit the website:

#### http://www.e-ndst.kiev.ua

for information on the preparation of accepted manuscripts. Please download the archive Sample NDST.zip containing example of article file (you can edit only the file Samplefilename.tex).

(2) Manuscript and Correspondence. Manuscripts should be in English and must meet common standards of usage and grammar. To submit a paper, send by e-mail a file in PDF format directly to

> Professor A.A. Martynyuk, Institute of Mechanics, Nesterov str.3, 03057, MSP 680, Kiev-57, Ukraine e-mail: journalndst@gmail.com

or to one of the Regional Editors or to a member of the Editorial Board. Final version of the manuscript must typeset using LaTex program which is prepared in accordance with the style file of the Journal. Manuscript texts should contain the title of the article, name(s) of the author(s) and complete affiliations. Each article requires an abstract not exceeding 150 words. Formulas and citations should not be included in the abstract. AMS subject classifications and key words must be included in all accepted papers. Each article requires a running head (abbreviated form of the title) of no more than 30 characters. The sizes for regular papers, survey articles, brief notes, letters to editors and book reviews are: (i) 10-14 pages for regular papers, (ii) up to 24 pages for survey articles, and (iii) 2-3 pages for brief notes, letters to the editor and book reviews.

(3) Tables, Graphs and Illustrations. Each figure must be of a quality suitable for direct reproduction and must include a caption. Drawings should include all relevant details and should be drawn professionally in black ink on plain white drawing paper. In addition to a hard copy of the artwork, it is necessary to attach the electronic file of the artwork (preferably in PCX format).

(4) References. Each entry must be cited in the text by author(s) and number or by number alone. All references should be listed in their alphabetic order. Use please the following style:

Journal: [1] H. Poincare, Title of the article. *Title of the Journal* volume (issue) (year) pages. [Language]

Book: [2] A.M. Lyapunov, Title of the Book. Name of the Publishers, Town, year.

Proceeding: [3] R. Bellman, Title of the article. In: Title of the Book. (Eds.). Name of the Publishers, Town, year, pages. [Language]

(5) Proofs and Sample Copy. Proofs sent to authors should be returned to the Editorial Office with corrections within three days after receipt. The corresponding author will receive a sample copy of the issue of the Journal for which his/her paper is published. (6) Editorial Policy. Every submission will undergo a stringent peer review process. An editor will be assigned to handle the review process of the paper. He/she will secure at least two reviewers' reports. The decision on acceptance, rejection or acceptance subject to revision will be made based on these reviewers' reports and the editor's own reading of the paper.

### NONLINEAR DYNAMICS AND SYSTEMS THEORY

An International Journal of Research and Surveys Published by InforMath Publishing Group since 2001

Volume 23

### Number 1

2023

### CONTENTS

Exponential and Strong Stabilization for Inhomogeneous Semilinear Control Systems by Decomposition Method 1 <i>M. Baddi, M. Chqondi and Y. Akdim</i>
Harvesting Strategies in the Migratory Prey-Predator Model with a Crowley-Martin Type Response Function and Constant Efforts 14 Didiharyono, Syamsuddin Toaha, Jeffry Kusuma and Kasbawati
Estimation of Forefinger Motion with Multi-DOF Using Advanced Kalman Filter
A Note on the Controllability of Stochastic Partial Differential Equations Driven by Lévy Noise
Asymmetric Duffing Oscillator: Jump Manifold and Border Set 46 J. Kyzioł and A. Okniński
Generalized Bessel-Riesz Operator on Morrey Spaces with Different Measures
Tsunami Wave Simulation in the Presense of a Barrier
Analysis of Dengue Disease Transmission Model with General Incidence Functions
Denumerably Many Positive Radial Solutions to Iterative System of Nonlinear Elliptic Equations on the Exterior of a Ball
Existence of Weak Solutions for a Class of $(p(b(u)), q(b(u)))$ -Laplacian Problems
Founded by A.A. Martynyuk in 2001.

Registered in Ukraine Number: KB No 5267 / 04.07.2001.

### NONLINEAR DYNAMICS AND SYSTEMS THEORY

An International Journal of Research and Surveys

Impact Factor from SCOPUS for 2021: SJR – 0.326, SNIP – 0.601 and CiteScore – 1.5

Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory (ISSN 1562–8353 (Print), ISSN 1813–7385 (Online)) is an international journal published under the auspices of the S.P. Timoshenko Institute of Mechanics of National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine and Curtin University of Technology (Perth, Australia). It aims to publish high quality original scientific papers and surveys in areas of nonlinear dynamics and systems theory and their real world applications.

#### AIMS AND SCOPE

Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory is a multidisciplinary journal. It publishes papers focusing on proofs of important theorems as well as papers presenting new ideas and new theory, conjectures, numerical algorithms and physical experiments in areas related to nonlinear dynamics and systems theory. Papers that deal with theoretical aspects of nonlinear dynamics and/or systems theory should contain significant mathematical results with an indication of their possible applications. Papers that emphasize applications should contain new mathematical models of real world phenomena and/or description of engineering problems. They should include rigorous analysis of data used and results obtained. Papers that integrate and interrelate ideas and methods of nonlinear dynamics and systems theory will be particularly welcomed. This journal and the individual contributions published therein are protected under the copyright by International InforMath Publishing Group.

#### PUBLICATION AND SUBSCRIPTION INFORMATION

Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory will have 5 issues in 2023, printed in hard copy (ISSN 1562-8353) and available online (ISSN 1813-7385), by InforMath Publishing Group, Nesterov str., 3, Institute of Mechanics, Kiev, MSP 680, Ukraine, 03057. Subscription prices are available upon request from the Publisher, EBSCO Information Services (mailto:journals@ebsco.com), or website of the Journal: http: //e-ndst.kiev.ua. Subscriptions are accepted on a calendar year basis. Issues are sent by airmail to all countries of the world. Claims for missing issues should be made within six months of the date of dispatch.

#### ABSTRACTING AND INDEXING SERVICES

Papers published in this journal are indexed or abstracted in: Mathematical Reviews / MathSciNet, Zentralblatt MATH / Mathematics Abstracts, PASCAL database (INIST-CNRS) and SCOPUS.

Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory, 23 (1) (2023) 1-13



# Exponential and Strong Stabilization for Inhomogeneous Semilinear Control Systems by Decomposition Method

M. Baddi\*, M. Chqondi and Y. Akdim

Laboratory LAMA, Department of Mathematics and Informatics, Sidi Mohamed Ben Abdellah University, Faculty of Sciences, Dhar El Mahraz - FES, Morocco.

Received: October 7, 2022; Revised: January 24, 2023

**Abstract:** In this work, we study, in a Hilbert state space, the stabilization problem of inhomogeneous semilinear control systems; the existence and uniqueness of solutions of the system are proved by the semigroup theory. The paper also gives a feedback control and sufficient conditions for exponential and strong stabilization using the decomposition method. Finally, an application to the heat equations is provided.

**Keywords:** stability of control systems; stabilization of systems by feedback; heat equation.

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010): 93-XX; 34-XX.

#### 1 Introduction

Semilinear systems are special types of nonlinear systems. They are a transition class between linear and nonlinear systems and thus represent a wide range for modeling the dynamic behavior of various real-world phenomena. Stability is one of the most important concepts in dynamical systems theory, particularly semi-linear systems. This problem remains a major concern in the work of mathematicians and engineers. In this work, we study the stabilization of the inhomogeneous semi-linear system described by the equation

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dy(t)}{dt} = Ay(t) + v(t)(Ny(t) + c), \\ y(0) = y_0, \in H, \end{cases}$$
(1)

where

© 2023 InforMath Publishing Group/1562-8353 (print)/1813-7385 (online)/http://e-ndst.kiev.ua 1

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author: mailto:chminfo@gmail.com

- 1. The state space is an infinite-dimensional Hilbert space H with the inner product  $\langle ., . \rangle$  and the corresponding norm  $\|.\|$ ;
- 2. v(t) is a scalar-valued control;
- 3. A is an unbounded operator with the domain  $D(A) \subset H$ , it generates a semigroup of contractions  $(S(t))_{t\geq 0}$  on H;
- 4. N is a nonlinear operator from H into H, which is locally Lipschitz and sequentially continuous operator such that N(0) = 0; since N(.) is locally Lipschitz, there is L > 0 such that for all  $z, y \in H$  satisfying  $0 < ||y|| \leq ||z|| \leq R$ , we have  $||Nz Ny|| \leq L||z y||$ ;
- 5.  $c \neq 0$  is a fixed vector in H.

**Remark 1.1** If N is linear, the system(1) is bilinear, and if N is not linear, the system (1) is semilinear; if c = 0, the system is homogeneous, and if  $c \neq 0$ , the system is inhomogeneous.

One of the most important concepts in systems theory is stability; we study the possibility of finding feedback u(y(t)) as "regular" as possible such that the system is stable; this stability can be strong, weak, or exponential. The study of the stability of homogeneous bilinear and semilinear systems has been considered in many works, and different results have been developed in finite and infinite dimensional cases, see J. Ball, M. Slemrod [1], M. Ouzahra, A. Tsouli and A. Boutoulout [2], M. Ouzahra [3], A. Benzaza and M. Ouzahra [4], E. Zerrik and M. Ouzahra [5], H. Bounit, and Hammouri [6], A. El Alami and M. Chqondi [7].

However, only a few works study the case of inhomogeneous systems; the stability of such systems has been studied in the bilinear case by Z. Hamidi and M. Ouzahra [8], who proved the necessary and sufficient conditions for weak and strong partial stabilization of inhomogeneous bilinear system by the control

$$v(t) = -\rho \frac{\langle y(t), Ny(t) + c \rangle}{|\langle y(t), Ny(t) + c \rangle| + 1}, \quad \forall t > 0,$$

$$(2)$$

where  $\rho > 0$  is the gain control.

In this work, an exponential and strong stabilization result has been established using the same feedback control (2), provided that the following observation assumption is verified:

$$\exists \delta, T > 0 \quad \text{such that} \quad \int_0^T |\langle NS(s)y(t) + c, S(s)y(t) \rangle| \mathrm{d}s \ge \delta \|y(t)\|, \quad \forall y \in H.$$

This paper is organized as follows. In Section 2, we choose a control that ensures the stabilization of our system; in Section 3, we show the existence and uniqueness of the solution in the semilinear inhomogeneous case; in Section 4, we present an appropriate decomposition of the state space H and the system (1) via the spectral properties of the operator A. We apply this approach to study the exponential stabilization problem of the type (1); in Section 5, we look at the strong stabilization problem using the chosen control. In the last section, we give illustrations through examples governed by a heat equation.

#### **Choice of Control** $\mathbf{2}$

Let (1) be as given in the Introduction. Here, the state space is a Hilbert space H with the inner product  $\langle ., . \rangle$  and corresponding norm  $\|.\|, y(t)$  is the state, and u(t) is a scalar valued control. The problem of stabilization consists of choosing a feedback control u(t)such that the solution of the resulting feedback system satisfies in some sense  $y(t) \to 0$ as  $\rightarrow +\infty$ . If we formally compute the time rate of change of the "energy", we get the following:

$$\begin{split} \frac{d}{dt} \|y(t)\|^2 &= 2 < y(t); \frac{d}{dt} y(t) > \\ &= 2 < y(t); Ay(t) > + 2u(t) < y(t), Ny(t) + c > \end{split}$$

which implies, since S(t) is a semigroup of contractions,

$$\frac{d}{dt} \|y(t)\|^2 \le 2u(t) < y(t); Ny(t) + c >, \ \forall t \in [0, T].$$

Then, to make the energy nonincreasing, an obvious choice of the feedback control (though not the only one) is  $v(t) = -\rho \frac{\langle y(t), Ny(t) + c \rangle}{|\langle y(t), Ny(t) + c \rangle| + 1}$ ;  $(\forall t > 0, \rho > 0)$  since this control yields the "dissipating energy inequality"

$$\frac{d}{dt} \|y(t)\|^2 \le -2 \frac{(\langle Ny(t) + c, y(t) \rangle)^2}{|\langle y(t), Ny(t) + c \rangle| + 1}; \forall t \in [0, T].$$
(3)

#### 3 Well-Possedness

Let us consider the closed loop-system

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dy(t)}{dt} = Ay(t) + f(y(t)), \quad \forall t > 0, \\ y(0) = y_0 \in H, \end{cases}$$
(4)

where f(y(t)) = v(t)(Ny(t) + c),  $\forall y \in H$ , and v(t) is the control given in (2). We set  $\phi(s) = \frac{s}{|s|+1}$  for all  $s \in \mathbb{R}$  so that  $f(y(t)) = -\rho\phi(\langle y; Ny + c \rangle)(Ny + c)$ . In this section, we aim to study the existence, uniqueness, and regularity of the solution to the system (1).

We start our study with the well-posedness result.

**Proposition 3.1** Assume that A is the infinitesimal generator of a linear  $C^0$  semigroup of contractions on a Hilbert space H and let N be locally Lipschitz and sequentially continuous operator; then the system (1) admits a unique global mild solution y(t) defined on the infinite interval  $[0, +\infty]$ , which is given by the following variation of constants formula:

$$y(t) = S(t)y_0 + \int_0^t v(\tau)(Ny(\tau) + c)S(t - \tau)d\tau.$$

Moreover, we have the following estimate:

$$||z(t)||^2 - ||z(s)||^2 \leqslant -2\rho \int_s^t \frac{\langle y(\tau); Ny(\tau) + c \rangle^2}{|\langle y(\tau), Ny(\tau) + c \rangle| + 1} d\tau.$$

In particular, we have  $||y(t)|| \le ||y_0||$ .  $\forall t \ge 0$ .

**Proof.** To establish the existence and uniqueness of the solution of (4), let us show that the function f is locally Lipschitz for all  $y, z \in H$ . Let  $x, y, z \in H$  with  $t \in [0, T]$ and R > 0 such that  $||x - y||, ||x - z|| \leq R$ . Without loss of generality, we can take x = 0. Since N is locally Lipschitz, there is  $L_R(N) > 0$  such that for all  $z, y \in H$ , satisfying  $0 < ||z|| \leq ||y|| \leq R$ , we have  $||Nz - Ny|| \leq L_R(N)||z - y||$ .

We have 
$$f(t, y) - f(t, z) = (\rho \phi(\langle z; Nz + c \rangle)(Nz + c) - \rho \phi(\langle y; Ny + c \rangle)(Ny + c))$$
  
=  $\rho(\phi(\langle z; Nz + c \rangle) - \phi(\langle y; Ny + c \rangle)(Nz + c) + \phi(\langle y; Ny + c \rangle(Nz - Ny)).$ 

By making use of the function  $\phi(s) = \frac{s}{|s|+1}$ , we have  $|\phi(s) - \phi(r)| \leq |s - r|$  and  $|\phi(s)| \leq |s|$  for all  $(s, r) \in \mathbb{R}^2$  since N() is locally Lipschitz, and when using Schwartz's inequality, it follows that

$$\|f(t,y) - f(t,z)\| \le \rho \Big( | < z; Nz + c > - < y; Ny + c > | \|Nz + c\| \Big) + \rho |\phi(< y; Ny + c >)| \|Nz - Ny\|.$$

We have 
$$|\langle z; Nz + c \rangle - \langle y; Ny + c \rangle | = |\langle z - y; Nz + c \rangle + \langle y; Nz - Ny \rangle |$$
  
 $\leq \left( \|c\| + 2L_R(N)\|y_0\| \right) \|z - y\|$   
and  $|\phi(\langle y; Ny + c \rangle)| \|Nz - Ny\| \leq |\langle y; Ny + c \rangle |L_R(N)\|z - y\|$   
 $\leq \|y_0\| \left( \|Ny\| + \|c\| \right) |L_R(N)\|z - y\|$   
 $\leq \|y_0\|L_R(N) \left( L_R(N)\|y_0\| + \|c\| \right) \|z - y\|.$   
So,  $\|f(t, y) - f(t, z)\| \leq \rho \left( L_R(N)\|y_0\| + \|c\| \right) \left( \|y_0\||L_R(N) + \|c\| + 2L_R(N)\|y_0\| \right) \|z - y\|$   
 $\leq \rho \left( L_R(N)\|y_0\| + \|c\| \right) \left( \|c\| + 3L_R(N)\|y_0\| \right) \|z - y\|$   
 $\leq \mathcal{M}_{(\|y_0\|;c)} \|z - y\|.$   
where  $\mathcal{M}_{(\|y_0\|;c)} = \rho \left( L_R(N)\|y_0\| + \|c\| \right) \left( \|c\| + 3L_R(N)\|y_0\| \right).$ 

**Remark 3.1** For c=0, we obtain the constant  $\mathcal{M}_{(\|y_0\|;0)} = 3\rho \left( L_R(N) \|y_0\| \right)^2$  which is strictly smaller than that found in the homogeneous case in [9].

So f(t; y(t)) satisfies a local Lipschitz condition in y, uniformly in t on bounded intervals. Thus we may apply Theorem 1.4 [10] (p.185), to obtain that there is a  $t_{\max} \leq \infty$  such that (8) has a unique mild solution y on  $[0, t_{\max}]$ , which is given by the following variation of constants formula:

$$y(t) = S(t)y_0 + \int_0^t f(y(\tau))S(t-\tau)d\tau$$
  
=  $S(t)y_0 - \rho \int_0^t \frac{\langle y(\tau), Ny(\tau) + c \rangle}{|\langle y(\tau), Ny(\tau) + c \rangle| + 1} (Ny(\tau) + c)S(t-\tau)d\tau.$ 

To show that  $t_{\max} = +\infty$ , it is sufficient to prove that for each T > 0, the mild solution y(t) is bounded by a constant independent of T. To do this, we discuss two cases: (i) If the initial value  $y_0 \in D(A)$ , then the function  $w(t) := \frac{1}{2} ||y(t)||^2$  is continuously differentiable and we can write for all  $t \ge 0$  the following: since this control yields the

differentiable and we can write for all  $t \ge 0$ , the following: since this control yields the "dissipating energy inequality",

$$\frac{d}{dt}\|y(t)\|^{2} \leq -2\rho \frac{(\langle y(t); Ny(t) + c \rangle)^{2}}{|\langle y(t), Ny(t) + c \rangle| + 1}; \forall t \in [0, T].$$
(5)

When integrating the last inequality over the interval [s,t], it follows that

$$\|y(t)\|^{2} - \|y(s)\|^{2} \le -2\rho \int_{s}^{t} \frac{\langle y(\tau); Ny(\tau) + c \rangle^{2}}{|\langle y(\tau), Ny(\tau) + c \rangle| + 1} d\tau, \forall t \ge s \ge 0.$$
(6)

It follows that  $||y(t)|| \le ||y_0||, \forall t \ge 0.$ 

ii) Let  $y_0 \in H$  and consider a sequence  $(y_0^n)_n$  of elements in H converging to  $y_0$ . For each T > 0, let y(t) and  $y^n(t)$  be the mild solutions of (S) associated, respectively, to the initial values  $y_0$  and  $y_0^n$ . Then one can prove that for each  $t \in [0, T]$ , the sequence  $(y^n(t))_n$  converges in H to y(t), see [11].

So, if  $y_0 \notin D(A)$ , then we can find a sequence  $(y_0^n)_n$  of elements in D(A) converging to  $y_0$  in H (because  $\overline{D(A)} = H$ ).

 $\forall t \in [0,T] \text{ and } \forall n \in \mathbb{N}, \text{ we know from i) that } \|y_0^n(t)\| \le \|y_0^n\|.$ 

Now, we conclude that  $||y(t)|| \le ||y_0||$  for all  $t \in [0, T]$ .

 $||z(t)|| \leq ||z_0||, \ \forall t \in [0, t_{\max}[.$ 

Hence  $t_{\max} = +\infty$  and from (6), we have  $||y(\tau)||^2 - ||y(t)||^2 \ge 2\rho \int_{\tau}^{t} \frac{\langle y(s); Ny(s) + c \rangle^2}{|\langle y(t), Ny(t) + c \rangle| + 1} ds$  for all  $0 \le \tau \le t$ . This completes the proof.

#### 4 Exponential Stabilisation

#### 4.1 Decomposition of the state space and the system

Let  $\delta > 0$  be fixed in advance. We suppose that the spectrum  $\sigma(A)$  of A can be decomposed into  $\sigma_u(A)$  and  $\sigma_s(A)$ 

such that 
$$\sigma_u(A) = \sigma(A) \cap \{\lambda : \operatorname{Re} \lambda \ge -\delta\}, \quad \sigma_s(A) = \sigma(A) \cap \{\lambda : \operatorname{Re} \lambda < -\delta\}.$$

Then  $\sigma(A) = \sigma_u(A) \cup \sigma_s(A)$  such that  $\sigma_u(A)$  can be separated from  $\sigma_s(A)$  by a simple and closed curve C.

It has been shown in [12](p. 178) and [13] that the operator A may be decomposed according to the decomposition:

$$H = H_u \oplus H_s \tag{7}$$

meaning  $P\mathcal{D}(A) \subset \mathcal{D}(A)$ ;  $AH_s \subset H_s$ ,  $AH_u \subset H_u$  (invariance of  $H_s$  and  $H_u$  under A), where  $H_u = P_u H$  and  $H_s = P_s H$  with  $P_u$  being the projection operator

$$P_u = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_C (\lambda I - A)^{-1} d\lambda \text{ and } P_s = I - P_u.$$

Then the operator A can be decomposed as

$$A = A_u + A_s \tag{8}$$

with  $A_u = P_u A$  and  $A_s = P_s A$ . Here,  $A_s$  and  $A_u$  are the restrictions of A on  $H_s$  and  $H_u$ , respectively.

We consider  $N_s$  and  $N_u$ , the restrictions of the operator N on  $H_s$  and  $H_u$ , respectively, such that

- $(\mathbf{H}_1): NH_u \subseteq H_u.$
- $(\mathbf{H}_2): NH_s \subseteq H_s.$

In the sequel, we suppose that the operator A may be decomposed according to the decomposition (8). Under the hypotheses ( $\mathbf{H}_1$ ) and ( $\mathbf{H}_2$ ), the system (1) can be decomposed into the two following systems:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dy_u(t)}{dt} = A_u y_u(t) + v_u(t) (N_u y_u(t) + c_u), & \forall t > 0, \\ y_u(0) = (y_{u_0}) \in H_u, \end{cases}$$
(9)

and

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dy_s(t)}{dt} = A_s y_s(t) + v_s(t) (N_s y_s(t) + c_s), & \forall t > 0, \\ y_s(0) = (y_{s_0}) \in H_s, \end{cases}$$
(10)

where  $y_u$  and  $y_s$  are the components of the solution  $y \in H$  on  $H_u$  and  $H_s$ , respectively. By [13], the semigroup S(t) generated by A also commutes with  $P_u$  and  $P_s$ , and induces a  $C_0$ -semigroup  $S_u(t)$  (resp.  $S_s(t)$ ) on  $H_u$  (resp.  $H_s$ ).

We further suppose that  $A_u$  generates a  $C_0$ -semigroup of contractions  $S_u(t)$ , and  $A_u$  generates a  $C_0$ -semigroup of contractions  $S_u(t)$ . If  $A_s$  satisfies the following spectrumdetermined growth assumption:

determined growth assumption:  $\lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{\ln \|S_s(t)\|}{t} = \sup \operatorname{Re}\left(\sigma\left(A_s\right)\right), \text{ then } \exists \eta, K_{\eta} > 0 \text{ such that } \|S_s(t)\| \leq K_{\eta} e^{-\eta t}, t \geq 0.$ The aim of what follows is to study the problem of weak and strong stabilization of

(1) via the properties of the systems (10) and (9). We begin with the component  $y_s(t)$  of the solution y(t) of the system (10).

#### 4.2 Exponential stabilization of the component $y_s(t)$

**Theorem 4.1** Let A generate a  $C_0$ -semigroup S(t), and suppose that the following conditions hold:

- 1. The operator A may be decomposed according to the decomposition (8).
- 2.  $A_s$  satisfies the following spectrum-determined growth assumption:

$$\exists \eta, K_{\eta} > 0 \text{ such that:} \quad ||S_s(t)|| \leq K_{\eta} e^{-\eta t}, \quad t \geq 0.$$

Then if 
$$\rho < \frac{\eta}{K_{\eta} \left( L \| y_s(0) \| + \| c_s \| \right)^2}$$
, the feedback

$$v_u(t) = -\rho \frac{\langle y_u(t), N_u y_u(t) + c_u \rangle}{|\langle y_u(t), N_s y(t) + c_u \rangle| + 1}, \ \forall t > 0,$$
(11)

exponentially stabilizes the system (10).

More precisely,  $\exists \beta_s > 0$  such that  $\|y_s(t)\| \le K_\eta \|y_s(0)\| e^{-\beta_s t}, \ \forall t > 0.$ 

**Proof.** Using Proposition 3.1, we deduce that the system (10) admits a unique global mild solution given by

$$\begin{cases} y_s(t) = S_s(t)y_s(0) + \int_0^t S_s(t-\tau)v_s(\tau) \left(N_s y_s(\tau) + c_s\right) d\tau, t \ge 0, \\ y_s(0) \in H_s. \end{cases}$$

So,  $||y_s(t)|| \le ||S_s(t)|| ||y_s(0)|| + \int_0^t |v_s(\tau)| ||S_s(t-\tau)|| (||N_s y_s(\tau)|| + ||c_s||) d\tau.$ We have  $||S_s(t)|| \leq K_\eta e^{-\eta t}$ . So,  $\|y_s(t)\| \le K_\eta e^{-\eta t} \|y_s(0)\| + \int_0^t |v_s(\tau)| K_\eta e^{-\eta(t-\tau)} \big(\|N_s y_s(\tau)\| + \|c_s\|\big) d\tau$  $\leq K_{\eta}e^{-\eta t}\|y_{s}(0)\| + \left(L_{s}\|y_{s}(0)\| + \|c_{s}\|\right)\int_{0}^{t}|v_{s}(\tau)|K_{\eta}e^{-\eta(t-\tau)}d\tau$ 

 $(L_s \text{ is a Lipschitz constant of } N_u \text{ in the ball } \mathcal{B}_{(0,||z_0||)}).$ The feedback (11) is a bounded function in time and is uniformly bounded with respect to the initial states, and we have

$$\begin{aligned} |v_u(t)| &\leq \rho |\langle y_u(t), Ny_u(t) + c_u \rangle| \quad \forall t > 0, \\ &\leq \rho ||y_u(t)| \Big( L_u ||y_u(0)|| + ||c_u|| \Big); \\ &\Big( L_u \text{ is a Lipschitz constant of } N_u \text{ in the ball } \mathcal{B}_{(0,||z_0||)} \Big) \end{aligned}$$

So,

$$\begin{split} \|y_{s}(t)\| &\leq K_{\eta}e^{-\eta t}\|y_{s}(0)\| \\ &+ \rho K_{\eta}\Big(L_{u}\|y_{s}(0)\| + \|c_{s}\|\Big)\Big(L_{s}\|y_{s}(0)\| + \|c_{s}\|\Big)\int_{0}^{t}\|y_{s}(\tau)\|e^{-\eta(t-\tau)}d\tau \\ &\leq K_{\eta}e^{-\eta t}\|y_{s}(0)\| + \mathcal{A}e^{-\eta t}\int_{0}^{t}\|y_{s}(\tau)\|e^{\tau}d\tau, \\ \text{where } \mathcal{A} &= \rho K_{\eta}\Big(L_{u}\|y_{s}(0)\| + \|c_{s}\|\Big)\Big(L_{u}\|y_{s}(0)\| + \|c_{s}\|\Big). \\ \text{So,} \quad \|y_{s}(t)\|e^{\eta t} \leq K_{\eta}\|y_{s}(0)\| + \mathcal{A}\int_{0}^{t}\|y_{s}(\tau)\|e^{\tau}d\tau. \\ \text{By using Gronwall's inequality, we have} \quad \|y_{s}(t)\|e^{\eta t} \leq K\|y_{s}(0)\|\exp\left(\int_{0}^{t}\mathcal{A}ds\right) \\ &\leq K_{\eta}\|y_{s}(0)\|e^{\mathcal{A}t}. \\ \text{So,} \quad \|y_{s}(t)\| \leq K_{\eta}\|y_{s}(0)\|e^{(\mathcal{A}-\eta)t}. \\ \text{We set: } \beta_{s} &= \eta - \mathcal{A} = \eta - \rho K\Big(L_{u}\|y_{s}(0)\| + \|c_{s}\|\Big)\Big(L_{u}\|y_{s}(0)\| + \|c_{s}\|\Big) \quad \text{if} \end{split}$$

$$\rho < \frac{\eta}{K_{\eta} \left( L_{u} \| y_{s}(0) \| + \| c_{s} \| \right) \left( L_{u} \| y_{s}(0) \| + \| c_{s} \| \right)} \left( L_{u} \| y_{s}(0) \| + \| c_{s} \| \right) \left( L_{u} \| y_{s}(0) \| + \| c_{s} \| \right).$$
  
Then  $\rho K_{\eta} \left( L_{u} \| y_{s}(0) \| + \| c_{s} \| \right) \left( L_{u} \| y_{s}(0) \| + \| c_{s} \| \right) < \eta$ , so  $\beta_{s} > 0$ .

Finally,  $\|y_s(t)\| \leq K_{\eta}\|y_s(0)\|e^{-\beta_s t}$ ,  $K_{\eta}, \beta_s > 0$ . This completes the proof of the theorem.

Now let us study the component  $y_u(t)$  of the solution y(t) of the system (10).

#### 4.3 Decay estimate and exponential stabilization of the component $y_u(t)$

**Lemma 4.1** Let  $A_u$  generate a semigroup  $S_u(t)$  of contractions on  $H_u$  and let  $N_u$  be locally Lipschitz. Then the system (9) controlled by (2) possesses a unique mild solution  $y_u(t) \in H_u$  for each  $y_u(0) \in H_u$  which satisfies, when  $t \to +\infty$ ,

$$\int_{0}^{T} |\langle S_{u}(\tau)y_{u}(t), N_{u}S_{u}(\tau)y_{u}(t) + c_{u}\rangle|d\tau = \mathcal{O}\left(\sqrt{\int_{t}^{t+T} \frac{|\langle y_{u}(\tau), N_{u}y_{u}(\tau) + c_{u}\rangle|^{2}}{1 + |\langle N_{u}y_{u}(\tau) + c_{u}, y_{u}(\tau)\rangle|}}d\tau\right).$$
 (12)

**Proof.** Using Proposition 3.1, we deduce that the system (9) admits a unique global mild solution given by the following formula of variation of the constants:

$$y_u(t) = S_u(t)y_u(0) - \rho \int_0^t \frac{\langle y_u(\tau), N_u y_u(\tau) + c_u \rangle}{|\langle y_u(\tau), N_u y_u(\tau) + c_u \rangle| + 1} (N_u y_u(\tau) + c_u) S_u(t-\tau) d\tau$$

and using the fact that  $S_u(t)$  is a semigroup of contractions, and Schwartz's inequality, for all  $t \in [0,T]$ , we have

$$\|y_u(t) - S_u(t)y_u(0)\| \le \rho\sqrt{T} \Big( L \|y_u(0)\| + \|c_u\| \Big) \left( \int_0^T \frac{|\langle y_u(\tau), N_u y_u(\tau) + c_u\rangle|^2}{1 + |\langle y_u(\tau), N_u y_u(\tau) + c_u\rangle|} d\tau \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (13)

From the relation

$$\langle N_u S_u(t) y_0 + c_u, S_u(t) y_0 \rangle = \langle N_u S_u(t) y_0, S_u(t) y_u(0) - y_u(t) \rangle + \langle c_u, S_u(t) y_u(0) - y_u(t) \rangle + \langle N_u S_u(t) y_0 - N_u y_u(t), y_u(t) \rangle + \langle N_u y_u(t) + c, y_u(t) \rangle,$$

when using  $||y_u(t)|| \leq ||y_u(0)||, \forall t \in [0, t_{\max}]$ , the fact that  $S_u(t)$  is a semigroup of contraction,  $N_u$  is locally Lipschitz, and Schwartz's inequality, it comes

$$|\langle N_u S_u(s) y_u(0) + c_u, S_u(s) y_u(0) \rangle| \le \left( 2L_u ||y_u(0)|| + ||c_u|| \right) ||y_u t\rangle - S_u(t) y_u(0) || + |\langle N_u y_u(s) + c_u, y_u(s) \rangle|.$$

Using (13),

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle N_u S_u(s) y_u(0) + c_u, S_u(s) y_u(0) \rangle| &\leq \mathcal{C}_{(||y_u(0)||;c_u)} \left( \int_0^t \frac{|\langle y_u(s), N_u y_u(s) + c_u \rangle|^2}{1 + |\langle y_u(s), N_u y_u(s) + c_u \rangle|} ds \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &+ |\langle N_u y_u(s) + c_u, y_u(s) \rangle|, \end{aligned}$$
(14)

where  $C_{(\|y_u(0)\|;c_u)} = \rho \sqrt{T} (2L_u \|y_0\| + \|c_u\|) (L_u \|y_0\| + \|c_u\|)$ . Replacing  $y_0$  by  $y_u(t)$  in (14) and using the fact that  $\|y_u(t)\| \le \|y_u(0)\| \forall t \ge 0$ , we get

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle N_u S_u(s) y_u(t) + c_u, S_u(s) y_u(t) \rangle| &\leq \mathcal{C}_{(||y_0||;c_u)} \left( \int_0^T \frac{|\langle y_u(s+t), N_u y_u(s+t) + c_u \rangle|^2}{1 + |\langle y_u(s+t), N_u y_u(s+t) + c_u \rangle|} ds \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &+ |\langle N_u y_u(s+t) + c_u, y_u(s+t) \rangle|. \end{aligned}$$

Integrating the last inequality over the interval [0,T] and using the semigroup property of the solution y(t) and Schwartz's inequality, remarking that the mappings  $x \mapsto C_x = (2L_ux + ||c||) (L_ux + ||c_u||)$  are increasing  $(C_{||y_u(t)||} \leq C_{||y_0||})$ , we get

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{1} & \langle N_{u}S_{u}(s)y_{u}(t) + c_{u}, S_{u}(s)y_{u}(t) \rangle | ds \leq T^{3}\mathcal{C}_{(||y_{0}||;c_{u})} \left( \int_{0}^{1} \frac{|\langle y_{u}(s+t), N_{u}y_{u}(s+t) + c_{u} \rangle|^{2}}{1 + |\langle y_{u}(s+t), N_{u}y(s+t) + c_{u} \rangle|} ds \right)^{2} \\ & + \int_{0}^{T} |\langle N_{u}y_{u}(s+t) + c_{u}, y_{u}(s+t) \rangle| ds. \end{split}$$
Since

Since  $\int_0^T |\langle N_u y_u(s+t) + c_u, y_u(s+t) \rangle| ds \le \left(1 + L_u ||y_0||^2 + ||c_u|| ||y_0||\right) \int_0^T \frac{|\langle y_u(s+t), N_u y_u(s+t) + c_u \rangle|^2}{1 + |\langle y_u(s+t), N_u y_u(s+t) + c_u \rangle|} ds,$ 

by Schwartz's inequality, we get

 $\int_{0}^{T} |\langle N_{u}y_{u}(s+t) + c_{u}, y_{u}(s+t)\rangle| ds \leq T \left(1 + L_{u} ||y_{0}||^{2} + ||c_{u}|| ||y_{0}||\right) \left(\int_{0}^{T} \frac{|\langle y_{u}(s+t), N_{u}y_{u}(s+t) + c_{u}\rangle|^{2}}{1 + |\langle y_{u}(s+t), N_{u}y_{u}(s+t) + c_{u}\rangle|^{2}} ds\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$  We deduce that

$$\int_0^T |\langle N_u S_u(s) y_u(t) + c_u, S_u(s) y_u(t) \rangle| ds \le \mathcal{M} \left( \int_0^T \frac{|\langle y_u(s+t), N_u y_u(s+t) + c_u \rangle|^2}{1 + |\langle y_u(s+t), N_u y_u(s+t) + c_u \rangle|} ds \right)^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

where  $\mathcal{M} = \left(\rho T^{\frac{3}{2}} \mathcal{C}_{(\|y_0\|;c_u)}\right) + T(1 + L_u \|y_0\|^2 + \|c_u\| \|y_0\|)$ . This gives the estimate (12).

**Remark 4.1** For c=0, we obtain the same content found in the homogeneous case, see [2],  $\mathcal{M} = \rho T^{\frac{3}{2}} (2L_u \|y_u(0)\|) (L(N_u) \|y_u(0)\|) + T(1 + L_u \|y_u(0)\|^2).$ 

**Theorem 4.2** Let A generate a  $C_0$ -semigroup  $S_u(t)$ , and suppose that the following conditions hold:

1.  $S_u(t)$  is a contraction semigroup;

2. there exist  $\delta, T > 0$  such that

$$\int_0^T |\langle N_u S_u(s) y_u(t) + c_u, S(s) y_u(t) \rangle| ds \ge \delta ||y_u(t)||, \quad \forall y_u \in H_u.$$

$$\tag{15}$$

Then the feedback (5) exponentially stabilizes the system (6). More precisely, there exists  $\beta_u > 0$  such that  $\|y_u(t)\| \le e^{-\beta_u} \|y_0\| e^{-\frac{\beta_u}{T}(t)} \quad \forall t > 0.$ 

**Proof.** Integrate now the following inequality over the interval [kT, (k+1)T], for  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  and T > 0,

$$\frac{d}{dt} \|y_u(t)\|^2 \le -2\rho \frac{(\langle y_u(t); N_u y(t) + c_u \rangle)^2}{|\langle y_u(t), N_u y(t) + c_u \rangle| + 1}; \forall t \in [0, T].$$

We get  $||y_u((k+1)T)||^2 - ||y_u(kT)||^2 \le -2\rho \int_{kT}^{(k+1)T} \frac{|\langle y(\tau), N_u y(\tau) + c_u \rangle|^2}{|\langle y_u(\tau), N_u y_u(\tau) + c_u \rangle| + 1} d\tau.$ Using now the estimate (12), we deduce that

$$\|y_u((k+1)T)\|^2 - \|y_u(kT)\|^2 \le \frac{-2\rho}{\mathcal{M}} \left( \int_0^T |\langle S_u(\tau)y_u(t), N_u S_u(\tau)y_u(t) + c_u \rangle | \, \mathrm{d}\tau \right)^2.$$

According to the inequality (15), we have

$$\|y_u((k+1)T)\|^2 - \|y_u(kT)\|^2 \le \frac{-2\rho\delta^2}{\mathcal{M}} \|y_u(kT)\|^2.$$
(16)

Letting  $s_k = ||y(kT)||^2$ ,  $k \in \mathbb{IN}$ , the inequality (16) can be written as

$$s_{k+1} - s_k \le \frac{-2\rho\delta^2}{\mathcal{M}}s_k, \quad \forall k \ge 0,$$
$$s_{k+1} \le Cs_k, \quad \forall k \ge 0.$$

where  $C = \left(1 - \frac{2\rho}{\mathcal{M}}\delta^2\right) < 1$ , which gives  $s_k \leq e^{-k\ln\frac{1}{C}}s_0$ .

So,  $||y_u(t)|| \le e^{-\frac{\ln(\frac{1}{C})}{2}} ||y_0|| e^{-\frac{\ln(\frac{1}{C})}{2T}t}$  for all  $t \ge 0$ ,  $||y_u(t)|| \le e^{-\beta_u} ||y_0|| e^{-\frac{\beta_u}{T}t}$  for all  $t \ge 0$ , where  $\beta_u = \frac{\ln(\frac{1}{C})}{2} > 0$ .

#### M. BADDI, M. CHQONDI AND Y. AKDIM

#### 4.4 Exponential stabilization

**Theorem 4.3** Suppose that the assumptions of both Theorems 4.1 and 4.2 are verified. Then the feedback (2) exponentially stabilizes the system (1). More precisely, there exist  $\beta > 0$  and  $\alpha > 0$  such that  $||y(t)|| \le \alpha e^{-\beta t}, \forall t \ge 0$ .

**Proof.** Using Proposition 3.1, we deduce that the system (1) admits a unique global mild solution y(t); according to the decomposition (8), we have  $y(t) = y_u(t) + y_s(t)$ . It follows from Theorems 4.1 and 4.2 that

$$\begin{aligned} y(t) &\leqslant e^{-\beta_u} \|y_0\| e^{-\frac{\beta_u}{T}t} + K_\eta \|y_s(0)\| e^{-\beta_s t} \\ &\leqslant 2(e^{-\beta_u} \|y_0\| + K_\eta \|y_s(0)\|) e^{-\min(e^{-\frac{\beta_u}{T}},\beta_s)t}. \end{aligned}$$

So,  $\|y(t)\| \leq \alpha e^{-\beta t}, \ \forall t \geq 0$ , where  $\alpha = 2(e^{-\beta_u} \|y_0\| + K_\eta \|y_s(0)\|)$  and  $\beta = \min(\frac{\beta_u}{T}, \beta_s)$ .

#### 5 Strong Stabilisation

**Theorem 5.1** Let A generate a semigroup S(t) of contractions on H. Suppose that (i) N is locally Lipschitz;

(*ii*)  $\exists \delta, T > 0$  such that

$$\int_0^T |\langle NS(s)y(t) + c, S(s)y(t)\rangle| \mathrm{d}s \ge \delta ||y(t)||^2, \quad \forall y \in H.$$
(17)

Then the feedback (2) strongly stabilises the system (1) with the following decay estimate:

$$\|y(t)\| = O\left(t^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right) \text{ as } t \to +\infty.$$

**Proof.** If  $H = H_u$  is of finite dimension, then we retrieve the result of Theorem 4.2. In the case dim  $H_u = +\infty$ , following the techniques used in the proof of Lemma 4.1, we can obtain the following estimate when  $t \to +\infty$ :

$$\int_0^T |\langle S(\tau)y(t), NS(\tau)y(t) + c \rangle| d\tau = \mathcal{O}\left(\sqrt{\int_t^{t+T} \frac{|\langle y(\tau), Ny(\tau) + c \rangle|^2}{1 + |\langle Ny(\tau) + c, y(\tau) \rangle|}} d\tau\right).$$
(18)

Integrating now the inequality  $\frac{d}{dt} \|y(t)\|^2 \leq -2\rho \frac{(\langle y(t); Ny(t)+c \rangle)^2}{|\langle y(t), Ny(t)+c \rangle|+1}; \forall t \in [0,T]$ , over the interval [kT, (k+1)T], for  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  and T > 0, we get

$$\|y((k+1)T)\|^2 - \|y(kT)\|^2 \le -2\rho \int_{kT}^{(k+1)T} \frac{|\langle y(\tau), Ny(\tau) + c \rangle|^2}{|\langle y(\tau), Ny(\tau) + c \rangle| + 1} \, \mathrm{d}\tau.$$

Using now the estimate (18), we deduce that

$$||y((k+1)T)||^2 - ||y(kT)||^2 \le \frac{-2\rho}{\mathcal{M}} \left( \int_0^T |\langle S(\tau)y, NS(\tau)y + c \rangle | \mathrm{d}\tau \right)^2.$$

From (17), we have  $\|y((k+1)T)\|^2 - \|y(kT)\|^2 \leq \frac{-2\rho\delta^2}{\mathcal{M}}\|y(kT)\|^4$ . Letting  $s_k = \|y(kT)\|^2, k \in \mathbb{IN}$ , the last inequality can be written as

$$s_{k+1} \le s_k - \frac{2\rho\delta^2}{\mathcal{M}}s_k^2, \quad \forall k \ge 0.$$

#### 10

Using the fact that  $t \mapsto ||y(t)||$  is a decreasing function on  $[0, +\infty)$ , we get

$$s_{k+1} \le s_k - \frac{2\rho\delta^2}{\mathcal{M}}s_{k+1}^2, \quad \forall k \ge 0.$$

The last inequality can be written as follows:  $s_{k+1} \leq s_k - Cs_{k+1}^2$ ,  $\forall k \geq 0$ , where  $C = \frac{2\rho\delta^2}{\mathcal{M}} > 0$ . Now, to obtain the decay rate for solutions of (1), we recall the following lemma, see [14] and [15].

**Lemma 5.1** Let the sequence of non-negative real numbers  $s_k$ , k = 0, 1, 2, ..., satisfy  $s_{k+1} \leq s_k - C(k+1)^r s_{k+1}^2$ , where C is a positive real number and r is a nonnegative integer. Then there exists a positive number  $M = M(M, r, u_0)$  such that  $s_k \leq \frac{M}{(k+1)^{r+1}}$ , k = 0, 1, 2, 3, ...

So, from the lemma and for r = 0, there exists a positive constant K (depending on C) such that  $s_k \leq \frac{M}{k+1}$ , so  $||y(kT)||^2 \leq \frac{M}{k+1}$ . For  $k = E(\frac{t}{T}), (E(\frac{t}{T}))$  designed the integer part of  $\frac{t}{T}$ , we obtain

$$\|y(E(\frac{t}{T})T)\|^2 \le \frac{M}{E(\frac{t}{T})+1}$$

Using the fact that  $E(\frac{t}{T})T \leq t$  and  $t \mapsto ||y(t)||$  is a decreasing function on  $[0, +\infty[$ , we get  $||y(t)||^2 \leq \frac{TM}{t}$ . So,  $||y(t)|| = \mathcal{O}\left(t^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right)$  as  $t \to +\infty$ .

#### 6 Applications

Example 6.1 One-dimensional heat equation.

Let us consider the following semilinear heat equation:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial y(x,t)}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial^2 y(x,t)}{\partial x^2} + v(y(t))(Ny(t) + c), & x \in (0,1), t > 0, \\ \frac{\partial y(0,t)}{\partial x} = \frac{\partial y(1,t)}{\partial x} = 0, & \forall t > 0, \end{cases}$$
(19)

where y(t) is the temperature profile at time t. Here we take the state space  $H = L^2(0, 1)$ and the operator A is defined by

$$Ay = \frac{\partial^2 y}{\partial x^2} \text{ with } \mathcal{D}(A) = \left\{ y \in H^2(0,1) \mid \frac{\partial y(0,t)}{\partial x} = \frac{\partial y(1,t)}{\partial x} = 0 \right\}.$$

The domain of A gives the homogeneous Neumann boundary condition imposed at the ends of the bar, which requires specifying how the heat flows out of the bar and means that both ends are insulated. The control v(y(t)) is defined by

$$v(y(t)) = -\rho \frac{\langle y(t), Ny(t) + c \rangle}{|\langle y(t), Ny(t) + c \rangle| + 1}, \quad \forall t \ge 0.$$

$$(20)$$

The operator of control N is defined by  $Ny = \frac{1}{1+||y||} \sum_{j=1}^{+\infty} \alpha_j \langle y, \varphi_j \rangle \varphi_j, \alpha_j \ge 0, \forall j \ge 1$ , such that  $\sum_{j=1}^{+\infty} \alpha_j^2 < \infty$ ; N is a nonlinear sequentially continuous and locally Lipschitz operator such that N(0) = 0.

The spectrum of A is given by the simple eigenvalues  $\lambda_j = -\pi^2 (j-1)^2, j \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , and eigenfunctions  $\varphi_1(x) = 1$  and  $\varphi_j(x) = \sqrt{2} \cos((j-1)\pi x)$  for all  $j \ge 2$ . Then the subspace  $H_u$  is the one-dimensional space spanned by the eigenfunction  $\varphi_1$ , and we have  $S_u(t)y_u = \langle y_u, \varphi_1 \rangle \varphi_1$ , so  $S_u(t) = I_{H_u}$  (the identity) and hence  $(S_u(t))_{t>0}$  is a semigroup of isometries.

 $N_u$  is the restriction of the operator N on  $H_u$  defined by

$$\begin{aligned} N_u y_u(t) &= \frac{\alpha_1 y_u(t)}{1 + \|y_u(t)\|} \\ &= \frac{\alpha_1}{1 + |\langle y_u(t), \varphi_1 \rangle|} \left\langle y_u(t), \varphi_1 \right\rangle \varphi_1, \end{aligned}$$

 $N_u$  is a nonlinear sequentially continuous and locally Lipschitz operator,

$$\begin{split} \|N_{u}y_{u}(t) - N_{u}z_{u}(t)\| &= \|\frac{\alpha_{1}y_{u}(t)}{1+\|y_{u}(t)\|} - \frac{\alpha_{1}z_{u}(t)}{1+\|z_{u}(t)\|} \| \\ &\leqslant \frac{\alpha_{1}y_{u}(t)}{1+\|y_{u}(t)\|} - \frac{\alpha_{1}z_{u}(t)}{1+\|y_{u}(t)\|} + \frac{\alpha_{1}z_{u}(t)}{1+\|y_{u}(t)\|} - \frac{\alpha_{1}z_{u}(t)}{1+\|z_{u}(t)\|} \\ &\leqslant \|\frac{\alpha_{1}}{1+\|y_{u}(t)\|} (y_{u}(t) - z_{u}(t))\| + \|\alpha_{1}z_{u}(t) (\frac{1}{1+\|y_{u}(t)\|} - \frac{1}{1+\|z_{u}(t)\|})\| \\ &\leqslant L_{u}\|y_{u}(t) - z_{u}(t)\|, \text{ where } L_{u} = |\alpha_{1}|. \end{split}$$

Here we can see that  $NH^u \subset H^u$ . We have

$$< NS_{u}(\tau)y_{u}(t) + c_{u}, S_{u}(\tau)y_{u}(t) >_{H} | = | < N_{u}y_{u}(t), y_{u}(t) > + < c_{u}, y_{u}(t) > |$$

$$= \left(\frac{\alpha_{1}||y_{u}(t)||}{1+||y_{u}(t)||} + ||c_{u}||\right) ||y_{u}(t)||$$

if  $\alpha_1 > 0$ , we have  $\left(\frac{\alpha_1 \|y_u(t)\|}{1+\|y_u(t)\|} + \|c_u\|\right) \|y_u(t)\| > \|c_u\| \|y_u(t)\|$ , then  $| < NS_u(\tau)y_u(t) + c_u, S_u(\tau)y_u(t) > | > \|c_u\| \|y_u(t)\|$ , so  $\int_0^T | < NS_u(\tau)y_u(t) + c_u, S_u(\tau)y_u(t) > |d\tau > \delta \|y_u(t)\|$  with  $\delta = T \|c_u\|$ . We can see that (15) holds, and the assumptions of Theorem 4.1 are verified.

For  $j \geq 2$ , the subspace  $H_s$  is spanned by the eigenfunctions  $(\varphi_j)_{j\geq 2}$ ;  $N_s$  is the restriction of the operator N on  $H_s$  defined by  $N_s y_s = \frac{1}{1+\|y_s\|} \sum_{j=2}^{+\infty} \alpha_j \langle y_s, \varphi_j \rangle \varphi_j$ . We have  $S_s(t) = \sum_{j=2}^{\infty} e^{-\pi^2(j-1)^2 t}$ . Since  $j-2 \ge 0$ , one has  $e^{-2\pi^2 j(j-2)t} \le 1$ ,

then  $||S_s(t)|| \le e^{-\pi^2 t}, \ \forall t \ge 0.$ 

So,  $A_s$  satisfies the spectrum-determined growth assumption.

If 
$$\rho < \frac{\pi^2}{(L_s \|y_s(0)\| + \|c_s\|) (L_u \|y_s(0)\| + \|c_s\|)}$$
, where  $L_u = \alpha_1$  and  $L_s = \sum_{j=2}^{+\infty} \alpha_j^2$ ,

then the assumptions of Theorem 4.2 are verified.

Finally, the assumptions of both Theorems 4.1 and 4.2 are verified. Then by applying Theorem 4.3, we deduce that (19) is exponentially stabilizable by the control

$$v(y(t)) = -\rho \frac{(\alpha_1 + |c_u|)y_u(t)^2 + |c_u|y_u(t)}{(1 + \alpha_1 + |c_u|)y_u(t)^2 + (1 + |c_u|)y_u(t)}, \quad \forall t \ge 0.$$

#### 7 Conclusion

In this work, the sets of necessary and sufficient conditions for the exponential stabilization of inhomogeneous semilinear systems are given. The stabilizing controls may be chosen bounded with respect to time and initial states and can be applied to systems subject to constraints on the control input. Though the exponential stabilization of bounded operators enables us to discuss various stabilization problems, the present study does not cover other situations. This is the case of exponential stabilization of unbounded operators in a Banach space. Also, the issue of unbounded operator control is of great interest.

#### References

- J. M. Ball and M. Slemrod. Feedback stabilization of distributed semilinear control systems. Applied Mathematics and Optimization 5 (1) (1979) 169–179.
- [2] A. Tsouli, M. Ouzahra and A. Boutoulout. Stabilisation and polynomial decay estimate for distributed semilinear systems. *International journal of Control* 85 (4) (2012) 451–456.
- [3] M. Ouzahra. Strong stabilization with decay estimate of semilinear systems. Systems and control letters 57 (10) (2008) 813–815.
- [4] A. Benzaza, and M. Ouzahra. Weak and strong stabilisation of bilinear systems in a Banach space. *International journal of control* 92 (12) (2019) 2784–2790.
- [5] E. Zerrik and M. Ouzahra. Output stabilisation for distributed semilinear systems. Control Theory and Applications 3 (1) (2007) 838–843.
- [6] H. Bounit and H. Hammouri. Feedback stabilization for a class of distributed semilinear control systems. Analysis: Theory, Methods and Applications 37 (8) (1999) 953–969.
- [7] A. Alami, M. Chqondi and Y. Akdim. Partial Strong Stabilization of Semi-Linear Systems and Robustness of Optimal Control. *Discontinuity, Nonlinearity, and Complexity* 10 (3) (2021) 369–380.
- [8] Z. Hamidi and M. Ouzahra. Partial stabilisation of non-homogeneous bilinear systems. International Journal of Control 91 (6) (2018) 1251–1258.
- M. Ouzahra. Partial stabilisation of semilinear systems using bounded controls. International Journal of Control 86 (12) (2013) 2253–2262.
- [10] A.Pazy. Semigroups of Linear Operators and Applications to Partial Differential Equations. Springer Science and Business Media, Vol. 44. (2012).
- [11] M. Akkouchi and A. Bounabat. Weak stabilizability of a nonautonomous and non-linear system. *Mathematica Pannonica* 14 (1) (2003) 55–61.
- [12] T. Kato. Perturbation Theory for Linear Operators. Vol. 132. Springer Science and Business Media, 2013.
- [13] R. Triggiani. On the stabilizability problem in Banach space. Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications 52 (3) (1975) 383–403.
- [14] L. David, Russell. Decay rates for weakly damped systems in Hilbert space obtained with control-theoretic methods. *Journal of differential Equations* 19 (2) (1975) 344–370.
- [15] D. Tataru and I. Lasiecka. Uniform boundary stabilization of semilinear wave equations with nonlinear boundary damping. *Differential and integral Equations* 6 (3) (1993) 507– 533.

Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory, 23(1) (2023) 14-23



# Harvesting Strategies in the Migratory Prey-Predator Model with a Crowley-Martin Type Response Function and Constant Efforts

### Didiharyono, Syamsuddin Toaha\*, Jeffry Kusuma and Kasbawati

Department of Mathematics, Hasanuddin University, Makassar, 90245, Indonesia

Received: October 10, 2022; Revised: December 21, 2022

**Abstract:** This paper deals with the dynamics of prev and predator populations in the permitted and prohibited areas of harvesting with a Crowley-Martin response function. The predator can migrate easily into both areas. The prey and predator populations in the permitted area are harvested with constant efforts. The existence and stability of the interior equilibrium point are studied. The stable interior equilibrium point is connected with maximum profit. The stability of the interior equilibrium point is analysed locally using the linearization method and eigenvalues. Due to the complexity, the simulation is carried out using the relevant parameter values to determine the existence of a stable interior equilibrium point and profit function. From simulation, there exists an ordered pair of harvesting efforts that gives a stable interior equilibrium point and also maximizes the profit function. Harvesting in prey and predator populations in the permitted area can prevent the populations from extinction and also provide maximum sustainable profit. The trajectories of prey and predator populations are plotted to visualize the dynamical behaviour for a given span of time. The surface of profit function is also plotted to view the maximum profit.

**Keywords:** prey-predator; harvesting effort; migration; stability; Crowley-Martin; maximum profit.

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010): 34Dxx, 70Kxx, 93-XX.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author: mailto:syamsuddint@gmail.com

<sup>© 2023</sup> InforMath Publishing Group/1562-8353 (print)/1813-7385 (online)/http://e-ndst.kiev.ua 14

#### 1 Introduction

Mathematical modelling has been applied in various fields of studies including biology, ecology, epidemiology, economics, and many other fields, see [1], [2], [3], [4]. The model aims to explain the real phenomena from the mathematical aspect [5] and is also used to make prediction for the future, see [6]. A dynamical population is one of the research objects in the modelling. The growth rates of populations and their interaction are still a concern of researchers, including the dynamics of prey-predator populations living at the same area. The dynamics of populations were not only affected by their growth rate and interaction but also by some other factors like the death rate, competition, predation response, harvesting, and migration, see [7]. The dynamical population analysis not only studies and predicts sustainability but also considers social and economic aspects, see [8].

In the prey-predator model, one thing that is very important is the form of interaction between the prey and the predator, known as the predation function. Some of the predation functions often used in prey-predator models are of the Holling type, Holling-Tanner type, Mechaelis-Menten type, and Leslie-Gower type, see [5], [9]. The Beddington-DeAngelis type as another type of functional response is used as a control to stabilize the interaction of the prey and the predator, see [10]. The use of these types of functional response is dependent on the characteristic of the prey and the predator. The Crowley-Martin response function is influenced by the predator density, catch rate, handling time, and the magnitude of disturbance among predators, see [11]. The preypredator model with the Crowley-Martin response function has been applied for many purposes, see [12].

The Crowley-Martin response function was also applied to predict the dynamics of a phytoplankton-zooplankton system [13]. There are prey-predator models which consider two identical areas and populations can migrate to these areas. Some of the population models are useful, for example, a fish population model in fisheries management, when the populations are harvested in various ways and policies. There is a policy in the fisheries management where the population in an area is prohibited from being harvested while in the other area it is permitted. Several policies in harvesting include selective harvesting, harvesting with constant quotas, harvesting with constant effort. Harvesting activities in population dynamics have economic consequences. The populations are not only managed to be sustainable but also strived to provide the maximum benefit. In some prey-predator models, only the prey populations are harvested or only the predator populations are harvested, see [14]. There are also other researchers who considered both prey and predator populations to be harvested, see [15].

In this paper, we consider a prey-predator model with the Crowley-Martin response function in an ecosystem which is divided into two areas, namely, an area where fishing is permitted and other area where fishing is prohibited. The prey population can migrate into both areas. The modeled populations are the population of butini fish (*Glossogobius matanensis*) as the prey and the population of nila fish (*Oreochromis nilotichus*) as the predator. The butini is an endemic and native fish found in several lakes of East Luwu district, South Sulawesi province, Indonesia, see [16]. In this model, the nila fish as the predator is divided into two compartments according to where the fish is located. Both populations are allowed to be harvested in the permitted area. The model formed is a system of nonlinear differential equations and the constant harvesting efforts are used for both populations. The local stability is analyzed using the linearization method. Maximum profit is evaluated over a certain range of effort values. The surface of the profit function is given to visualize the maximum profit.

#### 2 Material and Method

This research involves a prey-predator population model following the Crowley-Martin response function. The populations considered in this study are butini fish and nila fish that live in several lakes in East Luwu district. Both sets of fish can only be harvested in the permitted area. The location of the two sets of fish is divided into the permitted and prohibited areas for fishing, where the nila fish population can migrate into the two areas. The populations are divided into three compartments, namely, butini fish, nila fish that live in the prohibited area to be harvested, and the nila fish that live in the permitted area to be harvested. The growth models of the three compartments are expressed in the form of an autonomous system of nonlinear differential equations.

The interior equilibrium point of the model is confirmed and then stability analysis is carried out using the linearization method and checking the eigenvalues of the Jacobian matrix resulting from the linearized model around the interior equilibrium point. The butini fish and nila fish are harvested in the permitted area with constant harvesting efforts. In order to get the profit function which is the consequence of fishing activity, the cost function and revenue function should be defined. The profit function  $(\pi)$  is given by  $\pi = TR - TC$ , based on the total revenue function (TR),  $TR = p_1E_1B^* + p_2E_2M^*$ and the total cost function (TC),  $TC = c_1E_1 + c_2E_2$ . The parameter  $E_i$  represents the harvesting efforts,  $p_i$  represents the price of fish catch per unit, and  $c_i$  represents the cost of fishing activities, where i = 1, 2.

The prey-predator population model is a nonlinear system and the interior equilibrium point cannot be stated explicitly. In order to perform the analysis, the parameter values of the model were used being partially obtained from data collection for the fish populations. Some of the relevant parameter values are obtained from various references and some other are assumed. The various ordered pairs of the harvesting efforts are taken within a range of values to get the interior equilibrium points. Therefore, stability of the equilibrium points and profit value are determined. From the simulation, we determine the ordered pair of efforts that gives the stable interior equilibrium point and maximize the profit.

#### 3 Results and Discussion

#### 3.1 Predator-prey population model

The dynamics of the predator and prey population with the Crowley-Martin response function is expressed in the form of a system of nonlinear differential equations. The environment in which the population lives is divided into two areas, the permitted and prohibited areas for harvesting. The predator population is divided into two compartments, depending on where the predator live. The predator can migrate between the two areas. The prey population is assumed to follow logistic growth. The predator and prey populations are harvested in the permitted area with constant harvesting efforts. The interaction between the prey and predator populations is shown in the following Figure 1. The growth rates of the prey-predator population with their interaction are stated in the system of nonlinear differential equations.



Figure 1: Interaction Diagram for the Prey and Predator Populations.

$$\frac{dB}{dt} = rB(1 - \frac{B}{K}) - \frac{\alpha NB}{(1 + \eta B)(1 + \mu N)} - \beta MB - q_1 E_1 B,$$
(1)

$$\frac{dN}{dt} = \frac{\delta \alpha NB}{(1+\eta B)(1+\mu N)} - bN - \sigma N + \theta M,$$
(2)

$$\frac{dM}{dt} = \vartheta M B - cM + \sigma N - \theta M - q_2 E_2 M.$$
(3)

The symbol *B* is the size of the butini fish population as the prey, *N* and *M* state the size of the predator population in the permitted and prohibited area at time *t*, respectively. All parameters of the model are assumed to be positive. The description, meaning, and units of the parameters can be found in the related references, see [5]. For simplicity, we take  $q_1 = q_2 = 1, r_1 = r - E_1, r_2 = b + \sigma$ , and  $r_3 = c + \theta + E_2$ . Thus, the model (1, 2, 3) is rewritten as

$$\frac{dB}{dt} = r_1 B (1 - \frac{B}{K}) - \frac{\alpha N B}{(1 + \eta B)(1 + \mu N)} - \beta M B,$$
(4)

$$\frac{dN}{dt} = \frac{\delta \alpha NB}{(1+\eta B)(1+\mu N)} - r_2 N + \theta M,\tag{5}$$

$$\frac{dM}{dt} = \vartheta M B - r_3 M + \sigma N. \tag{6}$$

#### 3.2 Equilibrium points and stability analysis

The possible non negative equilibrium points for the model (4, 5, 6) are  $T_1 = (0,0,0), T_2 = (K,0,0), T_3 = (\omega, \frac{\omega \alpha_1 + \alpha_2}{\mu \beta_1 \alpha_2}, \frac{\sigma \omega \alpha_1 - \alpha_2}{\mu \beta_1 \beta_2 \alpha_2})$ , where  $\omega$  are the roots of the equation  $\delta \eta \mu r_1 r_2 \vartheta Z^5 + (-K \delta \eta \mu r_1 r_2 \vartheta^2 + \sigma \delta \eta \mu r_1 \theta \vartheta - 2\delta \eta \mu r_1 r_2 r_3 \vartheta + \delta \mu r_1 r_2 \vartheta^2) Z^4 + (-K \sigma \delta \eta \mu r_1 \theta \vartheta + 2K \delta \eta \mu r_1 r_2 r_3 \vartheta - K \alpha \beta \sigma \delta^2 \vartheta + K \beta \sigma \delta \eta r_2 - K \delta \mu r_1 r_2 \vartheta^2 - \sigma \delta \eta \mu r_1 r_3 \vartheta + \delta \eta \mu r_1 r_2 r_3^2 - 2\delta \mu r_1 r_2 r_3 \vartheta) Z^3 + (K \sigma \delta \eta \mu r_1 r_3 \theta - K \delta \eta \mu r_1 r_2 r_3^2 + K \alpha \beta \delta^2 r_3 - K \beta \sigma^2 \delta \eta \theta - K \beta \sigma \delta \eta r_1 r_2 - K \delta \mu r_1 r_2 r_3^2 + \delta \mu r_1 r_2 r_3^2 - K r_3^2 \vartheta^2) Z^2 + (K \sigma \delta \mu \mu r_1 r_3 \theta - K \delta \mu \mu r_1 r_2 r_3^2 - K \alpha \sigma \delta r_3 \theta + K \alpha \delta r_3^2 r_2 + K \beta \sigma^2 \delta \theta - K \beta \sigma \delta r_2 r_3 - K \sigma^2 \eta \theta^2 + 2K \sigma \eta \mu r_2 r_3 \theta - K \eta r_2^2 r_3^2 - 2K \delta r_2 \theta \vartheta + 2K r_2^2 r_3 \vartheta) Z - K \delta^2 \theta^2 + 2K \delta r_2 r_3 \theta - K r_2^2 r_3^2, \alpha_1 = \omega \eta r_2 \vartheta - \omega \alpha \delta \vartheta - \alpha \delta r_3 + \sigma \eta \theta - \eta r_2 r_3, \alpha_2 = \omega r_2 \vartheta + \sigma \theta - r_2 r_3, \beta_1 = \eta \omega + 1, \text{ and } \beta_2 = \omega \vartheta - r_3.$ 

We focus to analyze the equilibrium point  $T_3$  which is located in the first octant when  $\omega > 0, \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 > 0$ , and  $\sigma \omega \alpha_1 > \alpha_2 > 0$ . Because of the complexity of the system, we just consider the local stability of the interior equilibrium point.

#### 18 DIDIHARYONO, SYAMSUDDIN TOAHA, JEFFRY KUSUMA AND KASBAWATI

#### 3.3 Bionomic equilibrium and maximum profit

The bionomic equilibrium point is a condition where  $\frac{dB}{dt} = \frac{dM}{dt} = \frac{dN}{dt} = 0$  and  $\pi = 0$ . The only interior equilibrium point satisfies the condition  $T_3 = (\omega, \frac{\omega\alpha_1 + \alpha_2}{\mu\beta_1\alpha_2}, \frac{\sigma\omega\alpha_1 - \alpha_2}{\mu\beta_1\beta_2\alpha_2})$  which can be written in terms of  $E_1$  and  $E_2$  so that it becomes  $T_3 = (B^*, N^*, M^*) = (\omega(r - E_1), \frac{\omega\alpha_1 + \alpha_2(b+\sigma)}{\mu\beta_1\alpha_2}, \frac{\sigma\omega\alpha_1 - \alpha_2(c+\theta+E_2)}{\mu\beta_1\beta_2\alpha_2})$ . The total revenue function (TR) obtained from harvesting of the populations B and M evaluated at the equilibrium point  $T_3$  is given by  $TR(B^*, N^*, M^*) = TR(B^*) + TR(M^*) = p_1E_1B^* + p_2E_2M^*$ . After substituting the values of  $B^*$  and  $M^*$  in the state of equilibrium, we get

$$TR = p_1 \omega r E_1 - p_1 \omega E_1^2 + \frac{p_2 (\sigma \omega \alpha_1 - \alpha_2)(c+\theta) E_2}{\mu \beta_1 \beta_2 \alpha_2} + \frac{p_2 (\sigma \omega \alpha_1 - \alpha_2) E_2^2}{\mu \beta_1 \beta_2 \alpha_2}.$$

The total cost function (TC) can be expressed as  $C = c_1E_1 + c_2E_2$ . Furthermore, the profit function  $(\pi)$  is given as

$$\pi = (p_1 \omega r - c_1) E_1 - p_1 \omega E_1^2 + \frac{(p_2 (\sigma \omega \alpha_1 - \alpha_2)(c + \theta) - \mu \beta_1 \beta_2 \alpha_2 c_3) E_2}{\mu \beta_1 \beta_2 \alpha_2} + \frac{p_2 (\sigma \omega \alpha_1 - \alpha_2) E_2^2}{\mu \beta_1 \beta_2 \alpha_2}.$$
(7)

The profit function (7) now depends on the efforts  $E_1, E_2$ , and the parameter  $\omega$  which is a positive root of the polynomial of degree five and cannot be written explicitly. The value of  $\omega$  also depends on the efforts  $E_1$  and  $E_2$ . As a standard procedure to get the maximum value of profit, we need to get the stationary points via the first partial derivative with respect to  $E_1$  and  $E_2$ . Since  $\omega$  cannot be stated in terms of  $E_1$  and  $E_2$ , we evaluate the value of profit by taking various values of ordered pairs  $(E_1, E_2)$  and determine the interior equilibrium point  $T_3$  and its stability by showing the eigenvalues. The eigenvalues are related to the Jacobian matrix evaluated at the equilibrium point  $T_3$ . Furthermore, the profit function at each value of ordered pairs  $(E_1, E_2)$  can be determined. In this study, we restrict the value of efforts as  $0 \leq E_1, E_2 \leq E_{max}$ , and  $E_{max} = 1$ . The ordered pair  $(E_1, E_2)$  to be considered is the ordered pair that gives the interior equilibrium point  $T_3$  and is stable.

#### 3.4 Simulation

In order to simulate the profil function, we set the values of parameters for the model equations (4), (5, (6) as follows:  $K = 100, r = 0.7, \alpha = 0.3, \eta = 0.01, \mu = 0.01, \beta = 0.1, \vartheta = 0.01, \delta = 0.03, \sigma = 0.25, \theta = 0.25, b = 0.2$ , and c = 0.1, see [5,17]. The values of these parameters are partly based on data collection. The interior equilibrium point  $T_3$  with various ordered pairs of  $(E_1, E_2)$  are given in Table 1.

The various ordered pairs of the efforts (E1, E2) give the interior equilibrium point  $T_3$  and the stability is determined by inspection of the real part of eigenvalues. The equilibrium point is asymptotically stable when the real parts of eigenvalues are negative. The ordered pairs of efforts and eigenvalues of the interior equilibrium point  $T_3$  are given in Table 2.

In order to simulate and determine the profit, we set the values of parameters related to the total revenue and total cost, namely,  $p_1 = 3.5, p_2 = 1.3, c_1 = 0.5$  and  $c_2 = 0.3$  in appropriate units. Together with the various values of ordered pairs of efforts, we determine the profit evaluated at the equilibrium point  $T_3$  following the formula  $\pi(E_1, E_2) = p_1 B^* E_1 + p_2 M^* E_2 - (c_1 E_1 + c_2 E_2)$ . The ordered pairs of efforts and profit are given in Table 3.

E1/E2	0	0.1	0.2	0.3
0	15.94, 1.52, 1.99	23.01, 1.52, 1.73	29.69, 1.51, 1.48	35.97, 1.47, 1.27
0.1	15.93, 1.26, 1.65	22.98, 1.23, 1.40	29.65, 1.19, 1.18	35.91, 1.14, 0.98
0.2	15.92, 1.00, 1.31	22.95, 0.95, 1.08	29.61,  0.89,  0.87	35.85, 0.81, 0.70
0.23	15.91, 0.92, 1.21	22.95, 0.87, 0.98	29.60,  0.80,  0.78	35.83, 0.72, 0.61
0.235	15.91, 0.91, 1.19	22.94,  0.85,  0.97	29.59, 0.78, 0.77	35.82, 0.70, 0.60
0.3	15.91, 0.74, 0.97	22.93,  0.67,  0.76	29.57,  0.58,  0.57	35.78, 0.48, 0.42
0.4	15.89, 0.48, 0.63	22.91, 0.39, 0.44	29.53, 0.28, 0.27	35.72, 0.16, 0.14
0.5	15.88, 0.22, 0.29	22.88, 0.11, 0.12	-	-

**Table 1**: Ordered Pairs of Efforts and Interior Equilibrium Point  $T_3$ .

E1/E2	0.4	0.5	0.6	0.7
0	41.81, 1.43, 1.08	47.21, 1.38, 0.91	52.11, 1.32, 0.77	56.54, 1.26, 0.65
0.1	41.72, 1.08, 0.81	47.07, 1.01, 0.66	51.94,  0.93,  0.54	56.33, 0.85, 0.43
0.2	41.63,  0.73,  0.54	46.95,  0.63,  0.41	51.78,  0.54,  0.31	56.12, 0.44, 0.23
0.23	41.61,  0.62,  0.46	46.91,  0.52,  0.34	51.73,  0.42,  0.24	56.06,  0.32,  0.16
0.235	41.60,  0.61,  0.45	46.90,  0.51,  0.33	51.72,  0.40,  0.23	56.05, 0.29, 0.15
0.3	41.54, 0.38, 0.28	46.83, 0.26, 0.17	51.61, 0.15, 0.08	55.92, 0.03, 0.01
0.4	41.45, 0.03, 0.02	-	-	-

E1/E2	0.8	0.9	1
0	60.51, 1.19, 0.55	64.05, 1.13, 0.46	67.18, 1.07, 0.39
0.1	60.25, 0.76, 0.35	63.74,  0.69,  0.28	66.82,  0.61,  0.22
0.2	60.01, 0.34, 0.15	63.44, 0.24, 0.10	66.47, 0.16, 0.05
0.23	59.92, 0.21, 0.09	63.34, 0.12, 0.04	66.36, 0.02, 0.009
0.235	59.91, 0.19, 0.08	63.33, 0.09, 0.03	66.34, 0.002, 0.0009

**Table 2**: Ordered Pairs of Efforts and Eigenvalues of Interior Equilibrium Point  $T_3$ .

$E_{1}/E_{2}$	0	0.1	0.2	0.3
0	-0.02 $\pm$ 0.28 I, -0.53	-0.03 $\pm$ 0.31 I, -0.52	-0.05 $\pm$ 0.32 I, -0.52	$-0.07 \pm 0.31$ I, $-0.52$
0.1	$-0.02 \pm 0.25$ I, $-0.53$	$-0.04 \pm 0.27$ I, $-0.52$	$-0.06 \pm 0.28$ I, $-0.52$	$-0.08 \pm 0.27$ I, $-0.52$
0.2	-0.03 $\pm$ 0.22 I, -0.53	-0.05 $\pm$ 0.24 I, -0.51	-0.07 $\pm$ 0.24 I, -0.51	$-0.09 \pm 0.22$ I, $-0.52$
0.23	-0.03 $\pm$ 0.21 I, -0.51	$-0.05 \pm 0.23$ I, $-0.51$	-0.07 $\pm$ 0.22 I, -0.51	$-0.09 \pm 0.21$ I, $-0.52$
0.235	-0.03±0.21I, -0.53	$-0.05\pm0.22$ I, $-0.51$	-0.07±0.22I, -0.51	$-0.09\pm0.21$ I, $-0.52$
0.3	$-0.03\pm0.19$ I, $-0.52$	$-0.05 \pm 0.21$ I, $-0.52$	$-0.08 \pm 0.18$ I, $-0.51$	$-0.08\pm0.18$ I, $-0.51$
0.4	$-0.04\pm0.15$ I, $-0.52$	$-0.06\pm0.14$ I, $-0.51$	$-0.09\pm0.11$ I, $-0.51$	-0.15, -0.08, -0.51
0.5	$-0.05 \pm 0.09$ I, $-0.52$	-0.07±0.04I, -0.51	-	-

Table 3 shows that maximum profit is reached when the efforts  $(E_1, E_2) = (0.235, 1)$  with  $\pi_{max} = 217.05$ . The profit becomes maximum when the predator population in the permitted area is harvested at the maximum level of efforts and the prey population is harvested at the level 0.235. The maximum profit occurs at the top of the surface of the profit function, as shown in Figure 2.

For the model without harvesting, we get an interior equilibrium point at the level

DIDIHARYONO, SYAMSUDDIN TOAHA, JEFFRY KUSUMA AND KASBAWATI

E/E	0.4	0 5	0.0	0.7
$E_{1}/E_{2}$	0.4	0.5	0.6	0.7
0	$-0.09 \pm 0.31$ I, $-0.54$	$-0.11 \pm 0.29$ I, $-0.56$	$-0.13 \pm 0.27$ I, $-0.58$	$-0.15\pm0.24$ I, $-0.61$
0.1	$-0.11 \pm 0.26$ I, $-0.53$	$-0.12 \pm 0.23$ I, $-0.55$	$-0.14 \pm 0.21$ I, $-0.58$	$-0.16 \pm 0.17$ I, $-0.61$
0.2	$-0.07 \pm 0.24$ I, $-0.51$	$-0.14 \pm 0.16$ I, $-0.55$	$-0.16 \pm 0.11$ I, $-0.58$	-0.23, -0.12, -0.61
0.23	$-0.12 \pm 0.17$ I, $-0.53$	$-0.14 \pm 0.13$ I, $-0.55$	$-0.01 \pm 0.05$ I, $-0.58$	-0.29, -0.07, -0.61
0.235	$-0.12\pm0.17$ I, $-0.53$	$-0.14 \pm 0.12$ I, $-0.55$	$-0.16 \pm 0.03$ I, $-0.58$	-0.31, -0.06, -0.61
0.3	$-0.13 \pm 0.11$ I, $-0.52$	-0.21, -0.09, -0.54	-0.31, -0.03, -0.57	-0.38, -0.006, -0.6
0.4	-0.27, -0.009, -0.52	-	-	-

$E_1/E_2$	0.8	0.9	1
0	-0.17±0.21I, -0.65,	-0.19±0.18I, -0.71,	-0.21±0.14I, -0.75
0.1	$-0.18 \pm 0.12$ I, $-0.65$ ,	-0.20±0.04I, -0.70,	-0.32, -0.11, -0.76
0.2	-0.33, -0.06, -0.66	-0.39, -0.04, -0.71	-0.43, -0.02, -0.77
0.23	-0.36, -0.04, -0.66	-0.42, -0.02, -0.71	-0.45, -0.003, -0.77
0.235	-0.37, -0.03, -0.66	-0.42, -0.01, -0.72	-0.46, -0.0003, -0.77

Table 3: Ordered Pairs of Efforts and Profit.

E1/E2	0	0.2	0.4	0.6	0.8	1
0	0	54.62	103.91	142.36	171.36	193.88
0.1	3.29	60.67	112.26	152.66	183.20	206.97
0.2	5.472	64.64	117.70	159.27	190.74	215.27
0.23	5.907	65.43	118.79	160.54	191.96	216.84
0.235	5.971	65.55	118.94	160.72	192.01	217.05
0.3	6.532	66.53	120.21	162.23	-	-
0.4	6.476	66.362	119.82	-	-	-
0.5	5.308	-	-	-	-	-



Figure 2: Surface of the Profit Function.

(15.94, 1.52, 1.99) and the related eigenvalues  $-0.02\pm0.28$ I, -0.53. This means that the prey (B) and the predators (M and N) will live sustainably. From Tables 1, 2 and 3, as

20

the efforts of harvesting increase, the equilibrium points are still in the first octant and also remain stable but there are changes in the type of stability of the equilibrium point which are indicated by all the eigenvalues having negative real values. In addition, the value of the profit function also increases. When the prey and the predator are harvested at the level  $(E_1, E_2) = (0.23, 1)$ , the ordered pair of efforts gives an interior equilibrium point at the level (66.36, 0.02, 0.009), the eigenvalues -0.46, -0.0003, -0.77, and the profit at the level 216.84. The dynamics of the solution curve of the prey (B) and the predators (M and N) with the initial population B(0) = 66.36, N(0) = 0.02, and M(0) = 0.009are shown in Figures 3, 4, 5.

Figures 3, 4, 5 show that with a given initial value of the prey and the predator



**Figure 3**: Solution Curve of Prey Population (B) with  $t \in [0, 1000]$ .



**Figure 4**: Solution Curve of Predator Population (N) with  $t \in [0, 1000]$ .

populations, there is initially little oscillatory motion. This is caused by the nonlinear term in the model and then the trajectories of the populations move monotonously toward the equilibrium point. It takes a long time to reach the equilibrium state. The ordered pair of efforts provides a stable interior equilibrium point and also almost maximizes the profit, the maximum profit is at the level 217.05.



**Figure 5**: Solution Curve of Predator Population (M) with  $t \in [0, 1000]$ .

#### 4 Conclusion

The model for growth of butini fish as the prey and nila fish as the predator in the permitted and prohibited areas for harvesting with the Crowley-Martin type response function and migration possibly has an interior equilibrium point. The prey and predator populations in the permitted area are harvested with constant efforts. The interior equilibrium point cannot be stated explicitly because of complexity of the nonlinear model. In order to get the maximum value of the profit function, several ordered pairs of harvesting efforts are evaluated to obtain a stable interior equilibrium point. Using the suitable parameter values and harvesting efforts, we get an ordered pairs of efforts that give a stable interior equilibrium point and maximize the profit.

The analysis and simulation show that if the level of harvesting effort for the prey population is increased, the equilibrium state for the prey and predator populations will decrease. This is because of the more prey populations are harvested, the lower number of prey populations exists. This has a consequence for predators having difficulty to get food, which results in the number of predator also decreasing. On the other hand, if the level of harvesting effort in the predator population is increased, this condition will result in a decrease in the number of predator population both in the permitted and prohibited areas for harvesting. This causes the prey population tending to increase because the number of predator population decreases. Harvesting with constant efforts for the prey and predator populations in the permitted area can obviously increase the number of the prey population, give maximum profit, and the populations also remain sustainable.

#### Acknowledgment

This research is funded by Institute for Research and Community Services Hasanuddin University with contract number: 1474/UN4.22/PT.01.03/2022.

#### References

 M. Z. Ndii and A. K. Supriatna. Stochastic Dengue Mathematical Model in the Presence of Wolbachia: Exploring the Disease Extinction. *Nonlinear Dynamics and System Theory* 20 (2) (2020) 214–227.

- [2] A. Zaghdani. Mathematical Study of a Modified SEIR Model for the Novel SARS-Cov-2 Coronavirus. Nonlinear Dynamics and System Theory 21 (3) (2021) 326-336.
- [3] Firman, S. Toaha and Kasbawati. Modification of the Trajectory Following Method for Asymptotic Stability in a System Nonlinear Control. Nonlinear Dynamics and System Theory 22 (2) (2022) 169–177.
- [4] T. Herlambang, A. Y. P. Asih, D. Rahmalia, D. Adzkiya and N. Aini. The Effects of Pesticide as Optimal Control of Agriculture Pest Growth Dynamical Model. *Nonlinear Dynamics* and System Theory **22** (3) (2022) 281–290.
- [5] B. Dubey, S. Agarwal and A. Kumar. Optimal Harvesting Policy of a Prey-Predator Model with Crowley-Martin Type Functional Response and Stage Structure in the Predator. *Nonlinear Analysis Modelling Control* 23 (4) (2018) 493-514.
- [6] S. Toaha and M.I. Azis. Stability and Optimal Harvesting of Modified Leslie-Gower Predator-Prey Model. IOP Conferences Series: Journal of Physics (2018) 1-8.
- [7] R. Sivasamy, K. Sathiyanathan and K. Balachandran. Dynamics of a Modified Leslie-Gower Model with Crowley-Martin Functional Response and Prey Harvesting. *Journal Applied Nonlinear Dynamics* 8 (4) (2019) 621–636.
- [8] E. Y. Frisman, O. L. Zhdanova, M. P. Kulakov, G. P. Neverova and O. L. Revutskaya. Mathematical Modeling of Population Dynamics Based on Recurrent Equations: Results and Prospects. *Biology Bulletin* 48 (1) (2021) 1–15.
- [9] P. K. Santra, G. S. Mahapatra and G. R. Phaijoo. Bifurcation and Chaos of a Discrete Predator-Prey Model with Crowley-Martin Functional Response Incorporating Proportional Prey Refuge. *Mathematical Problems in Engineering* **202** (1) (2020) 5309814.
- [10] S. Chen, J. Wei and J.Yu. Stationary Patterns of a Diffusive Predator-Prey Model with Crowley-Martin Functional Response. *Nonlinear Analysis: Real World Applications* **39** (1) (2018) 33–57.
- [11] S. Hossain, M. M. Haque, M. H. Kabir, M. O. Gani and S. Sarwardi. Complex Spatiotemporal Dynamics of a Harvested Prey–Predator Model with Crowley–Martin Response Function. *Results in Control and Optimization* 5 (1) (2021) 1–17.
- [12] D. Didiharyono, S. Toaha, J. Kusuma and Kasbawati. Global Stability of Prey-Predator Model with Crowley-Martin Type Functional Response and Stage Structure for Predator. In: Proceedings of the International Conference on Industrial Engineering and Operations Management Harbin (2021) 714–724.
- [13] T. Liao, H. Yu and M. Zhao. Dynamics of a Delayed Phytoplankton-Zooplankton System with Crowley-Martin Functional Response. Advances in Difference Equations 17 (5) (2017) 1–30.
- [14] K. Chakraborty, S. Jana and T. K. Kar. Global Dynamics and Bifurcation in a Stage Structured Prey-Predator Fishery Model with Harvesting. Applied Mathematics and Computation 218 (5) (2012) 9271–9290.
- [15] S. Toaha, J. Kusuma, Khaeruddin and Mawardi. Stability Analysis and Optimal Harvesting Policy of Prey-Predator Model with Stage Structure for Predator. *Applied Mathematical Sciences* 8 (159) (2014) 7923–7934.
- [16] S. H. Nasution and R. Dina. Population Structure and Gonadal Maturity Stage of Endemic and Alien Fish Dominant Species in Lake Matano, South Sulawesi. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science* (2019) 1–14.
- [17] S. Toaha, Firman and A. Ribal. Global Stability and Optimal Harvesting of Predator-Prey Model with Holling Response Function of Type II and Harvesting in Free Area of Capture. *Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory* **22** (1) (2022) 105–116.

Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory, 23 (1) (2023) 24-33



### Estimation of Forefinger Motion with Multi-DOF Using Advanced Kalman Filter

T. Herlambang<sup>1\*</sup>, H. Nurhadi<sup>2</sup>, A. Muhith<sup>3</sup>, A. Suryowinoto<sup>4</sup> and K. Oktafianto<sup>5</sup>,

 <sup>1</sup> Department of Information Systems, Universitas Nahdlatul Ulama Surabaya, Indonesia
 <sup>2</sup> Department of Industrial Mechanical Engineering, Sepuluh Nopember Institute of Technology, Indonesia

<sup>3</sup> Department of Nursing, Universitas Nahdlatul Ulama Surabaya, Indonesia
 <sup>4</sup> Electrical Engineering Department, Adhi Tama Institute of Technology Surabaya, Indonesia
 <sup>5</sup> Department of Mathematics, University of PGRI Ronggolawe, Indonesia

Received: July 22, 2022; Revised: December 29, 2022

Abstract: Data from the World Health Organization (WHO) of the year 2016 recorded that stroke cases were ranked second as a non-communicable disease that causes death, and the third leading cause of disability worldwide. Stroke can cause disability or weakness on one side of the body, including the upper limbs such as the fingers being difficult to move, so rehabilitation is required to restore the function of the hand. A finger arm robot is one solution to help accelerate the rehabilitation process specifically for finger movements. One of the efforts to develop a finger robot is finger motion estimation. It is started with the inverse kinematic modeling of the finger arm robot with 3 joints matching the structure of a human finger. One reliable estimation method frequently used is the Advanced Kalman Filter method. In this paper, the Advanced Kalman Filter is divided into two methods, that is, the Ensemble Kalman Filter (EnKF) and the Ensemble Kalman Filter Square Root (EnKF-SR). The focus of this paper is to estimate the fingers, especially the index finger of the left hand, using the EnKF and Square Root EnKF (SR-EnKF) methods. And, the simulation results show that both methods reached an accuracy of 99% when 400 ensembles were generated on a semicircular path by the EnKf-SR with lower error.

Keywords: finger arm robot; EnKF; SR-EnKF; finger motion estimation.

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010): 93E10, 62F10.

© 2023 InforMath Publishing Group/1562-8353 (print)/1813-7385 (online)/http://e-ndst.kiev.ua 24

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author: mailto:teguh@unusa.ac.id

#### 1 Introduction

Data from the World Health Organization (WHO) of 2016 recorded that stroke cases were ranked second as a non-communicable disease that causes death and ranked third as a leading cause of disability worldwide. A stroke can cause weakness in one part or side of the body (hemiparesis), due to which a stroke sufferer finds it difficult to move and use parts of the respective side of the body [1]. A stroke can cause disability or weakness on one side of the body, including the upper limbs such as the fingers that are difficult to move, so rehabilitation is needed to restore the function of the hand. Hands and fingers are the most important and complex body parts that humans have. Their muscles can carry out any movement as the human brain commands, without having to control it one by one.

Robotics technology is currently developing rapidly along with advances in science and technology to assist medical rehabilitation, one of which is post-stroke rehabilitation, especially the rehabilitation of finger movements [2]. This is also due to the human desire to help each other in accelerating the recovery of post-stroke patients. The manufacture of technology in the form of robots can be inspired by the phenomena of living things, among others, by referring to the basic principles of movement of the human body. For instance, the way humans walk, talk, hold objects and others. The aim of medical rehabilitation is to maximize functional independence and ability of a patient to continue his or her pre-illness way of living or roles and to improve quality of his or her life.

A finger is one part of the human body, having an important role in human body movement to do various activities [2]. A human has a total of ten fingers functioning to hold objects. The working principles of the human finger are then used as the basis of developing a finger robot designed to hold objects.

A finger robot is one solution to help accelerate the rehabilitation process specifically for finger movements. One of the efforts to develop the finger robot is finger motion estimation [3]. One reliable estimation method frequently used is the Advanced Kalman Filter method. In this paper, the Advanced Kalman Filter method is divided into two methods, that is, the Ensemble Kalman Filter (EnKF) and the Ensemble Kalman Filter Square Root (EnKF-SR) ones. These EnKF and EnkF-SR methods are very reliable for both linear and nonlinear models [4], [5], [6]. The EnKF method was frequently used for estimating the motion and position of AUV [7], ASV [8]- [9] and missiles [10]. And in this paper, the finger estimation is carried out, particularly for the index finger of the left hand by using the EnKF and Square Root EnKF (SR-EnKF) methods on a semi-circular path, and the simulation results produce comparison of the accuracy of one motion estimation method and that of the other [11].

#### 2 Inverse Kinematic Modeling of Finger Motion with 3 Joints

The following is a modeling analysis of the 3-joint finger arm robot [12]. Figure 1 shows the 3-joint arm robot using x and y coordinates in its working area. Just like the 2-joint arm robot, the 3-joint arm robot uses forward kinematics as an equation analysis [5].

The angle  $\Psi$  is the angle of the direction of the third part toward the X-axis, as in equation

$$\Psi = (\theta_1 + \theta_2 + \theta_3). \tag{1}$$

Figure 2 shows that the equations for the projection of link 1, link 2 and link 3 toward the x- and y-axis can be obtained by the analysis and combination of equations to locate



Figure 1: Configuration of a Finger Arm Robot with 3 Joints.

the coordinate points of  $X_T$  and  $Y_T$  as follows:



Figure 2: The First part, Second part and Third part of a Finger Arm Robot with 3 DOF.

$$x = x_1 + x_2 + x_3, x = l_1 \cos \theta_1 + l_2 \cos (\theta_1 + \theta_2) + l_3 \cos (\theta_1 + \theta_2 + \theta_3),$$
(2)

and

$$y = y_1 + y_2 + y_3, y = l_1 \sin \theta_1 + l_2 \sin (\theta_1 + \theta_2) + l_3 \sin (\theta_1 + \theta_2 + \theta_3),$$
(3)

so that

$$x_{T} = l_{1} \cos \theta_{1} + l_{2} \cos (\theta_{1} + \theta_{2}) + l_{3} \cos (\theta_{1} + \theta_{2} + \theta_{3}),$$
  

$$y_{T} = l_{1} \sin \theta_{1} + l_{2} \sin (\theta_{1} + \theta_{2}) + l_{3} \sin (\theta_{1} + \theta_{2} + \theta_{3}).$$
(4)

Simplify by using the trigonometric identity formula [5]:

$$x_T = x - l_3 \cos(\theta_1 + \theta_2 + \theta_3),$$
  

$$y_T = y - l_3 \sin(\theta_1 + \theta_2 + \theta_3).$$
(5)

The formula for the forward kinematic equation of 3 joint is

$$x = l_1 \cos \theta_1 + l_2 \cos (\theta_1 + \theta_2) + l_3 \cos (\theta_1 + \theta_2 + \theta_3),$$
  

$$y = l_1 \sin \theta_1 + l_2 \sin (\theta_1 + \theta_2) + l_3 \sin (\theta_1 + \theta_2 + \theta_3).$$
(6)

For the inverse kinematics, if the coordinates of  $P(x_T, y_T)$  and P(x, y) are known, then  $\theta_1$  and  $\theta_2$  can be obtained by using the same equation as that applied to the two joint arm robot:

$$\theta_{2} = \cos^{-1} \left( \frac{x^{2} + y^{2} - l_{1}^{2} - l_{2}^{2}}{2l_{1}l_{2}} \right),$$
  

$$\theta_{1} = \tan^{-1} \left( \frac{y(l_{1} + l_{2}\cos\theta_{2}) - xl_{2}\sin\theta_{2}}{x(l_{1} + l_{2}\cos\theta_{2}) + yl_{2}\sin\theta_{2}} \right).$$
(7)

The angle  $\Psi = (\theta_1 + \theta_2 + \theta_3)$  can be obtained by using  $P(x_T, y_T)$  and P(x, y) inserted into equations (5) and (6) so that  $\theta_3$  can be found.

By substituting  $P(x_T, y_T)$  and P(x, y) into equation (5), we get

$$l_3 \cos \Psi = 0, \tag{8}$$

whereas, by substituting  $P(x_T, y_T)$  and P(x, y) into equation (6), it becomes

$$y_{T} = x - l_{3} \sin \Psi,$$

$$l_{1} \sin \theta_{1} + l_{2} \sin (\theta_{1} + \theta_{2}) + l_{3} \sin \Psi = l_{1} \cos \theta_{1} + l_{2} \cos (\theta_{1} + \theta_{2}) + l_{3} \cos \Psi - l_{3} \sin \Psi,$$

$$2l_{3} \sin \Psi - l_{3} \cos \Psi = l_{1} (\cos \theta_{1} - \sin \theta_{1}) + l_{2} (\cos (\theta_{1} + \theta_{2}) - \sin (\theta_{1} + \theta_{2})).$$
(9)

Since in equation (8),  $l_3 \cos \Psi = 0$ , we obtain

$$\Psi = \theta_1 + \theta_2 + \theta_3 = \sin^{-1} \left( \frac{l_1(\cos \theta_1 - \sin \theta_1) + l_2(\cos (\theta_1 + \theta_2) - \sin (\theta_1 + \theta_2))}{2l_3} \right).$$
(10)

Below is the picture of a finger arm robot and its finger parts.

#### 3 Ensemble Kalman Filter and EnKF Square Root Algorithm

The Ensemble Kalman Filter and the Square Root Ensemble Kalman Filter (SR-EnKF) algorithms are summarized in Table 1.

27

#### 28 T. HERLAMBANG, H. NURHADI, A. MUHITH, A. SURYOWINOTO AND K. OKTAFIANTO



Figure 3: The Arm Robot Image with a Focus on the Finger Arm Robot.

#### 4 Simulation Results

This study started with the inverse kinematic modeling of a finger arm robot with 3 joints that matches the structure of the human fingers. In this section, two choices of the number of ensembles, that is, 300 ensembles and 400 ensembles were tested on a semi-circle track. Such a choice of track was because in a semi-circle, all the joints of a finger can move optimally.

In this trajectory, the diameter used is about 7.5 cm. This is due to the fact that the finger length of most people in Indonesia ranges from 7.5 to 8.2 cm. So, with a semi-circular movement having a diameter of about 7.5 cm, physical exercises for the index finger can be carried out thoroughly. And, the simulation results can be seen in Figures 4-7.

Figure 4 shows the simulation results by the EnKF and EnKF-SR methods using 300 ensembles and a time of 400 seconds. Figure 4 a) shows the forefinger movement, moving up to 8 cm of the X-axis, by both estimation methods with a small error of 0.1 for the EnKF method and 0.09 for the EnkF-SR method. Figure 4 b) shows the forefinger movement on the Y-axis is of only 2.5 cm, and the EnKF and EnKF-SR methods have sufficient accuracy.

Figure 5 shows the results of the simulation by the EnKF and EnKF-SR methods, producing a movement resembling a semi-circle with a diameter of  $\sqrt{(8^2 + 2.5^2)} = \sqrt{70.25} = 8.3$  cm, so overall if in terms of the diameter of about 7.5 cm, when using 300 ensembles, it has an error of about 10%.

Figure 6 shows the simulation results by the EnKF and EnKF-SR methods using 400 ensembles and a time of 400 seconds. Figure 6a) shows the forefinger movement, moving up to 6.8 cm of the X-axis, and by both estimation methods, having a small error of 0.09% for the EnKF method and 0.08% for the EnkF-SR method. Figure 6b) shows that the forefinger movement on the Y-axis is of only 3 cm, and the EnKF and EnKF-SR

EnKF	EnKF-SR
System Model and	Measurement Model
$x_{k+1} = f(u_k, x_k) + w_k, w_k \sim N(0, Q_k)$	$x_{k+1} = f(u_k, x_k) + w_k, w_k \sim N(0, Q_k)$
$z_k = Hx_k + v_k, v_k \sim N(0, R_k)$	$z_k = Hx_k + v_k, v_k \sim N(0, R_k)$
Initial	ization
Generate N ensemble in accordance with	Generate $N$ ensemble in accordance with
initial estimate $\overline{x}_0$	initial estimate $\overline{x}_0$
$x_{0,i} = [x_{0,1} \ x_{0,2} \ x_{0,3} \ \dots \ x_{0,Ne}]$	$x_{0,i} = [x_{0,1} \ x_{0,2} \ x_{0,3} \ \dots \ x_{0,Ne}]$
Determine initial value : $\hat{x}_0 = \frac{1}{N_e} \sum_{i=1}^N X_{0,i}$	Initial Mean Ensemble : $\overline{x}_{0,i} = x_{0,i} 1_N$
	Ensemble initial error :
	$\widetilde{x}_{0,i} = x_{0,i} - \overline{x}_{0,i} = x_{0,i}(I - 1_N)$
Predicti	on Stage
$ \widehat{x_{k,i}} = f(\widehat{x}_{k-1,i}, u_{k-1,i}) + w_{k,i} \text{ with } w_{k,i} \sim N(0, Q_k) $	$ \widehat{x}_{k,i} = f(\widehat{x}_{k-1,i}, u_{k-1,i}) + w_{k,i} \text{ of which} $ $w_{k,i} \sim N(0, Q_k) $
Estimate : $\hat{x}_k^- = \frac{1}{N_e} \sum_{i=1}^N \hat{x}_{k,i}^-$	Ensemble Mean : $\overline{x}_{k,i}^- = \widehat{x}_{k,i}^- 1_N$
Covariance error :	Ensemble Error :
$P_{k}^{-} = \frac{1}{N_{e}-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N} (\widehat{x}_{k,i}^{-} - \widehat{x}_{k}^{-}) (\widehat{x}_{k,i}^{-} - \widehat{x}_{k}^{-})^{T}$	$\widetilde{x}_{k,i}^- = \widehat{x}_{k,i}^ \overline{x}_{k,i}^- = \widehat{x}_{k,i}^- (I - 1_N)$
Correcti	on Stage
$z_{k,i} = z_k + v_{k,i}$ with $v_{k,i} \sim N(0, R_k)$	$z_{k,i} = z_k + v_{k,i}$ of which $v_{k,i} \sim N(0, R_k)$ $S_i = H\widetilde{x}^ E_k = (v_k, v_0, v_{k,i})$ and
$K_{i} = D^{-}H^{T}(HD^{-}H^{T} + R_{i})^{-1}$	$S_k = \Pi x_{k,i}, L_k = (v_1, v_2,, v_N), \text{ and}$ $C_i = S_i S^T + F_i F^T$
$\begin{bmatrix} n_k - I_k & \Pi & (\Pi I_k & \Pi & + \Pi_k) \\ \text{Estimate} & \cdot \end{bmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} C_k - S_k S_k + E_k E_k \\ Ensemble Mean \\ \cdot \end{bmatrix}$
$\widehat{x}_{k,i} = \widehat{x}_{k,i} + K_k(z_{k,i} - H\widehat{x}_{k,i})$	$\bar{x}_{k,i} = \bar{x}_{k,i}^{-1} + \tilde{x}_{k,i}^{-1} S_k^T C_k^{-1} (\bar{z}_{k,i} - H\bar{x}_{k,i}^{-1})$
$\widehat{x}_k = \frac{1}{N_e} \sum_{i=1}^N \widehat{x}_{k,i}$	Square root schema:
v — 1	- decompose eigenvalue of $C_k = U_k \Lambda_k U_k^T$
	- compute matrices $M_k = \Lambda_k^{-1/2} U_k^T S_k^{-1/2}$
	- determine SVD from $M_k = Y_k L_k^{\kappa} V_k^T$
	Ensemble Error :
	$\widetilde{x}_{k,i} = \widetilde{x}_{k,i}^{-} V_k (I - L_k^T L_k)^{1/2}$
	Ensemble Estimate : $\widehat{x}_{k,i} = \widetilde{x}_{k,i} + \overline{x}_{k,i}$

Table 1: EnKF and EnKF-SR Algorithms [13, 14].

methods have high accuracy.

Figure 7 shows the results of the simulation using the EnKF and EnKF-SR methods resulting in a movement resembling a semi-circle with a diameter of  $\sqrt{(6.8^2 + 3^2)} = \sqrt{46.24 + 9} = \sqrt{55.24} = 7.43$  cm, so overall if viewed in terms of a diameter of about 7.5 cm, when using 400 ensembles, it has an error of about 0.09. In Table 2, it can be seen that the EnKF-SR method is more accurate than EnKF because there is a factor square root in the correction stage. Viewed in comparison of the numbers of ensembles, the generating of 400 ensembles is more accurate than that of 300 ensembles. When the



#### 30 T. HERLAMBANG, H. NURHADI, A. MUHITH, A. SURYOWINOTO AND K. OKTAFIANTO

Figure 4: Estimation of Forefinger Motion using 300 Ensembles: a) X position, b) Y Position.



Figure 5: Estimation of Forefinger Motion in XY-Plane using 300 Ensembles.

index finger size of Indonesian people is generally around 7.5 cm (as the diameter) as a reference for the half-track trajectory, then the error for XY motion using 300 ensembles is about 10%, but that for XY motion using 400 ensembles is about 0.09%.

#### 5 Conclusion

Based on the simulation results and the analysis above, it can be concluded that the EnKF and EnKF-SR methods were effective to estimate the movement of the index finger, especially for the finger size of the Indonesian people, with an accuracy of about



Figure 6: Estimation of Forefinger Motion using 400 Ensembles: a) X position, b) Y Position.



Figure 7: Estimation of Forefinger Motion in XY-Plane using 400 Ensembles.

99% and an error of 0.09%, and an error of 10% if using 300 ensembles. The error was obtained after comparing to the average finger size of the Indonesian people, about 7.5 as the diameter of the movement forming a semicircular path.

#### Acknowledgment

High appreciation to the Kemdikbudristek for the very fund support for the research conducted in the year of 2022 with contract number 159/E5/P6.02.00.PT/2022 and 047/SP2H/PT/LL7/2022.

#### 32 T. HERLAMBANG, H. NURHADI, A. MUHITH, A. SURYOWINOTO AND K. OKTAFIANTO

	300 E	Insembles	400 E	Insembles
	EnKF	EnKF-SR	EnKF	EnKF-SR
X Motion	0.1%	0.09%	0.094%	0.091%
Y Motion	0.12%	0.095%	0.09%	0.087
XY Motion (compare				
with real simulation)	0.13%	0.1%	0.093%	0.09%
XY Motion (compare				
with the real (average)	10.2%	10%	0.092%	0.09%
finger size of				
Indonesian people)				

Table 2: The Value of Motion Error by the EnKF and EnKF-SR Based on 400 Iterations.

#### References

- K. Anam, A. R. Chaidir and F. Isman. Peramalan Kekuatan Gerak Tangan Menggunakan Extreme Learning Machine untuk Terapi Pasca-Stroke. Jurnal Teknologi dan Sistem Komputer 9 (2) (2021) 70–76.
- [2] E. S. Ningrun, B. Sumantri, B. Wijayanto, C. Yanuar and M. I. Riansyath. Optimasi Pergerakan Robot Planar 3 Sendi Pada Robot Penggenggam Menggunakan Metode Pemrograman Genetika. Jurnal Inovtek 3 (1) (2013) 20–25.
- [3] T. Herlambang, D. Rahmalia, H. Nurhadi, H. Suryowinoto and D. F. Karya. Estimation of Shoulder and Elbow Joint Angle from Linear Quadratic Tracking Based on Six Muscle Force Vectors. In: Proc. The 5<sup>th</sup> International Conference of Combinatorics, Graph Theory, and Network Topology (ICCGANT). Jember, Indonesia, 2021.
- [4] M. Y. Anshori and T. Herlambang. Profitability Estimation of XYZ Company Using H-Infinity and Ensemble Kalman Filter. In: Proc. The 5<sup>th</sup> International Conference of Combinatorics, Graph Theory, and Network Topology (ICCGANT). Jember, Indonesia, 2021.
- [5] S. Subchan, T. Herlambang and H. Nurhadi. UNUSAITS AUV Navigation and Guidance System with Nonlinear Modeling Motion Using Ensemble Kalman Filter. In: Proc. International Conference on Advanced Mechatronics, Intelligent Manufacture and Industrial Automation (ICAMIMIA). Malang, Indonesia, 2019.
- [6] T. Herlambang, F. A. Susanto, D. Adzkiya, A. Suryowinoto and K. Oktafianto. Design of Navigation and Guidance Control System of Mobile Robot with Position Estimation Using Ensemble Kalman Filter (EnKF) and Square Root Ensemble Kalman Filter (SR-EnKF). Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory 22 (4) (2022) 390–399.
- [7] T. Herlambang, S. Subchan and H. Nurhadi. Navigation and Guidance Control System of UNUSAITS AUV Based on Dynamical System Using Ensemble Kalman Filter Square Root. In: Proc. The Third International Conference on Combinatorics, Graph Teory and Network Topology. Jember, Indonesia, 2019.
- [8] H. Nurhadi, T. Herlambang and D. Adzkiya. Position Estimation of Touristant ASV Using Ensemble Kalman Filter. In: Proc. International Conference on Mechanical Engineering. Indonesia, 2019.
- [9] H. Nurhadi, T. Herlambang and D. Adzkiya. Trajectory Estimation of Autonomous Surface Vehicle Using Square Root Ensemble Kalman Filter. In: Proc. International Conference on Advanced Mechatronics, Intelligent Manufacture and Industrial Automation (ICAMIMIA). Malang, Indonesia, 2019.
- [10] T. Herlambang. Design of a Navigation and Guidance System of Missile with Trajectory Estimation Using Ensemble Kalman Filter Square Root (EnKF-SR). In: Proc. International Conference on Computer Applications and Information Processing Technology (CAIPT). Bali, Indonesia, 2019, 8–10.
- [11] F. A. Susanto, M. Y. Anshori, D. Rahmalia, K. Oktafianto, D. Adzkiya, P. Katias and T. Herlambang. Estimation of Closed Hotels and Restaurants in Jakarta as Impact of Corona Virus Disease (Covid-19) Spread Using Backpropagation Neural Network. *Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory* **22** (4) (2022) 457–467.
- [12] I. Sugiharto. Pemodelan dan Simulasi Dinamika Lengan Robot 3-DOF Menggunakan Perangkat Lunak Open Source. Jurnal Teknik Elektro 8 (2) (2008).
- [13] W. Shanty, F. Firdaus and T. Herlambang. Prediction of Availability of Packed Red Cells (PRC) at PMI Surabaya City Using Ensemble Kalman Filter as Management of Blood Transfusion Management. In: Proc. The Second International Conference on Combinatorics, Graph Teory and Network Topology. University of JemberIndonesia, Indonesia, 2018.
- [14] T. Herlambang, Z. Mufarrikoh, D. F. Fidita and D. Rahmalia. Estimation Of Water Level And Steam Temperature In Steam Drum Boiler Using Ensemble Kalman Filter Square Root (EnKF-SR). In: Proc. The First International Conference on Combinatorics, Graph Teory and Network Topology. University of Jember, Indonesia, 2017.

Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory, 23 (1) (2023) 34-45



# A Note on the Controllability of Stochastic Partial Differential Equations Driven by Lévy Noise

## D.D. Huan $^{\ast}$

Than Nhan Trung High School, Bacgiang Agriculture and Forestry University, Bacgiang 26000, Vietnam

Received: April 3, 2020; Revised: February 2, 2023

**Abstract:** This paper discusses the exact controllability for impulsive neutral stochastic delay partial differential equations driven by Lévy noise in Hilbert spaces. Under the Lipschitz conditions, the linear growth conditions are weakened and under the condition that the corresponding linear system is exactly controllable, a new set of sufficient conditions is derived by using a fixed point approach without imposing a severe compactness condition on the semigroup.

**Keywords:** *exact controllability; neutral stochastic partial differential equations; impulse; delay; Lévy noise.* 

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010):** 34A37, 93B05, 93E03, 60H20, 34K50.

## 1 Introduction

Exact controllability is one of the fundamental concepts in mathematical control theory, it plays an important role in both deterministic and stochastic control systems. It is well known that the controllability of deterministic systems is widely used in many fields of science and technology (for instance, see [4,7,21,26,28]). Stochastic control theory is a stochastic generalization of classic control theory. The theory of controllability of differential equations in infinite dimensional spaces has been extensively studied in the literature, and the details can be found in various papers and monographs, see [3,16,29] and the references therein. Besides white noise or stochastic perturbation, many systems, for example, predator-prey systems, arising from realistic models depend heavily on the histories or impulsive effect [10, 12, 13, 17, 20, 24, 28]. Therefore, there is a real need to discuss impulsive neutral partial differential systems with delays. Tai and Lun [25]

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author: mailto:diemdanghuan@gmail.com

<sup>© 2023</sup> InforMath Publishing Group/1562-8353 (print)/1813-7385 (online)/http://e-ndst.kiev.ua 34

studied the exact controllability of fractional impulsive neutral infinite delay evolution integrodifferential systems in Banach spaces. However, in order to establish the results, the conditions presented in [25] state that the resolvent operator associated with the linear part is compact and the controllability operator is also compact, thus the induced inverse does not exist in the infinite dimensional state space. To relax that restriction, in this paper, we will study the exact controllability of stochastic nonlinear systems together with the condition that the compactness of the semigroup S(t) is not assumed. Besides the environmental noise, sometimes, we have to consider the impulsive effects, which exist in many evolution processes, because the impulsive effects may bring an abrupt change at certain moments of time (see, e.g. [28]). Moreover, in most research on nonlinear stochastic systems, the control function  $u_{\alpha}(t, x)$  is always constructed by its corresponding linear systems and the stochastic maximum principle [1], however, the stochastic maximum principle is not available in impulsive stochastic systems as a result of its linear form. Therefore, there is a real need to discuss impulsive differential control systems with memory (delay).

On the other hand, in recent years, stochastic partial differential equations with Poisson jumps have gained much attention since Poisson jumps not only exist widely but also can be used to study many phenomena in the real life. Therefore, it is necessary to consider the Poisson jumps into the stochastic systems. To be more precise, in [6], Cui et al. investigated the exponential stability of mild solutions to neutral stochastic partial differential equations with delays and Poisson jumps by using the Banach fixed point principle. Bao et al. [5] studied the existence, uniqueness and some sufficient conditions for stability in the distribution of mild solutions to stochastic partial differential delay equations with Poisson jumps. More recently, by using the successive approximations method, Yin and Xiao [27] considered the controllability of a stochastic partial equation driven by a Poisson random measure. For more details about the stochastic partial differential equations with Poisson jumps, we refer the reader to the monographs [2, 14, 15, 23] and the references therein.

However, to the best of our knowledge, the exact controllability problem for impulsive neutral stochastic delay partial differential equations driven by Lévy noise in Hilbert spaces has not been investigated yet. Motivated by the above works, in this paper, we will study the exact controllability problem for impulsive neutral stochastic delay partial differential equations driven by Lévy noise, which are natural generalizations of controllability concepts well known in the theory of infinite dimensional deterministic control systems. More precisely, we consider the following form:

$$\begin{cases} d[x(t) - G(t, x(t - \tau))] = A[x(t) - G(t, x(t - \tau))]dt \\ + [F(t, x(t), x(t - \tau)) + Bu(t)]dt + \sigma(t, x(t), x(t - \tau))dW(t) \\ + \int_{\mathbf{Z}} L(t, x(t), x(t - \tau), z)\widetilde{N}(dt, dz), t_k \neq t \in J := [0, T], \\ \Delta x(t_k) = I_k(x(t_k^-), \quad k \in \{1, 2, ..., m\}, \\ x(t) = \varphi(t) \in \mathcal{C}_{\tau} = \mathcal{C}^b_{\mathcal{F}_0}([-\tau, 0]; \mathbb{H}), \quad -\tau \leq t \leq 0, \quad \tau > 0, \end{cases}$$
(1)

where  $x(\cdot)$  is a stochastic process taking values in a real separable Hilbert space  $\mathbb{H}$ ;  $A: D(A) \subset \mathbb{H} \to \mathbb{H}$  is the infinitesimal generator of a strongly continuous semigroup of the bounded linear operators  $S(t), t \geq 0$  in  $\mathbb{H}$ . Assume that the mappings  $G: J \times \mathbb{H} \to \mathbb{H}$ ,  $F: J \times \mathbb{H} \times \mathbb{H} \to \mathbb{H}, \sigma: J \times \mathbb{H} \times \mathbb{H} \to \mathcal{L}_2^0, L: J \times \mathbb{H} \times \mathbb{H} \times \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{H}$  are the Borel measurable functions and  $I_k: \mathbb{H} \to \mathbb{H}, k = 1, 2, ..., m$  are continuous functions. The control function  $u(\cdot)$  takes values in  $L_2^F(J, U)$  of admissible control functions for a separable Hilbert space

### D. D. HUAN

U and B is a bounded linear operator from U into  $\mathbb{H}$ . Furthermore, let  $0 = t_0 < t_1 < \cdots < t_m < t_{m+1} = T$  be prefixed points, and  $\Delta x(t_k) = x(t_k^+) - x(t_k^-)$  represent the jump of the function x at time  $t_k$  with  $I_k$  determining the size of the jump, where  $x(t_k^+)$  and  $x(t_k^-)$  represent the right and left-hand limits of x(t) at  $t = t_k$ , respectively. Let  $\varphi(t) : [-\tau, 0] \to \mathbb{H}$  be càdlàg independent of the Wiener process W and the Poisson point process  $p(\cdot)$  with  $\mathbf{E}[\sup_{-\tau \leq s \leq 0} \|\varphi\|_{\mathbb{H}}^2] < \infty$ .

The structure of this paper is as follows. In Section 2, we briefly present some basic notations, preliminaries and assumptions. The main results in Section 3 are devoted to the study of the exact controllability for the system (1) and supplied with their proofs.

## 2 Preliminaries

Let  $(\mathbb{H}, \|\cdot\|_{\mathbb{H}}, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\mathbb{H}})$  and  $(\mathbb{K}, \|\cdot\|_{\mathbb{K}}, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\mathbb{K}})$  denote two real separable Hilbert space, with their vector norms and their inner products, respectively. We denote by  $\mathcal{L}(\mathbb{K}; \mathbb{H})$  the set of all linear bounded operators from  $\mathbb{K}$  into  $\mathbb{H}$ , which is equipped with the usual operator norm  $\|\cdot\|$ . In this paper, we use the symbol  $\|\cdot\|$  to denote the norms of operators regardless of the spaces potentially involved when no confusion possibly arises. Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{F} = {\mathcal{F}_t}_{t\geq 0}, \mathbf{P})$  be a complete filtered probability space satisfying the usual condition (i.e., it is right-continuous and  $\mathcal{F}_0$  contains all  $\mathbf{P}$ -null sets). Let  $W = (W(t))_{t\geq 0}$ be a Q-Wiener process defined on the probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{F}, \mathbf{P})$  with the covariance operator Q such that  $Tr(Q) < \infty$ . We assume that there exist a complete orthonormal system  $\{e_k\}_{k\geq 1}$  in  $\mathbb{K}$ , a bounded sequence of nonnegative real numbers  $\lambda_k$  such that  $Qe_k = \lambda_k e_k, k = 1, 2, ...,$  and a sequence of independent Brownian motions  $\{\beta_k\}_{k\geq 1}$  such that

$$\langle W(t), e \rangle_{\mathbb{K}} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sqrt{\lambda_k} \langle e_k, e \rangle_{\mathbb{K}} \beta_k(t), \quad e \in \mathbb{K}, t \ge 0.$$

Let  $\mathcal{L}_2^0 = \mathcal{L}_2(Q^{\frac{1}{2}}\mathbb{K};\mathbb{H})$  be the space of all Hilbert-Schmidt operators from  $Q^{\frac{1}{2}}\mathbb{K}$  into  $\mathbb{H}$  with the inner product

$$\langle \Psi, \phi \rangle_{\mathcal{L}^0_2} = Tr[\Psi Q \phi^*],$$

where  $\phi^*$  is the adjoint of the operator  $\phi$ .

Let p = p(t),  $t \in D_p$  (the domain of p(t)), be a stationary  $\mathcal{F}_t$ -Poisson point process taking its value in a measurable space  $(\mathbf{Z}, \mathcal{B}(\mathbf{Z}))$  with a  $\sigma$ -finite intensity measure  $\lambda(dz)$ . We will denote by N(dt, dz) the Poisson counting measure of p such that

$$N(t, \mathbf{Z}) = \sum_{s \in D_p, s \le t} \mathbb{I}_{\mathbf{Z}}(p(s))$$

for any measurable set  $\mathbf{Z} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{K} - \{0\})$ , which denotes the Borel  $\sigma$ -field of  $(\mathbb{K} - \{0\})$ . Let

$$N(dt, dz) := N(dt, dz) - \lambda(dz)dt$$

be the compensated Poisson measure that is independent of W(t).

Let  $\tau > 0$  and  $\mathcal{C} := \mathcal{C}([-\tau, 0]; \mathbb{H})$  denote the family of all right-continuous functions with left-hand limits (càdlàg) from  $[-\tau, 0]$  to  $\mathbb{H}$ . The space  $\mathcal{C}$  is assumed to be equipped with the norm

$$\|\varsigma\|_{\mathcal{C}} := \sup_{-\tau \le t \le 0} \|\varsigma(t)\|_{\mathbb{H}}, \quad \varsigma(t) \in \mathcal{C}.$$

We also assume that  $\mathcal{C}^b_{\mathcal{F}_0}([-\tau, 0]; \mathbb{H})$  denotes the family of all almost surely bounded,  $\mathcal{F}_0$ -measurable,  $\mathcal{C}([-\tau, 0]; \mathbb{H})$ -valued random variables. For all  $t \geq 0$ ,

$$x_t = \{x(t+\theta) : -\tau \le \theta \le 0\}$$

is regarded as the  $\mathcal{C}([-\tau, 0]; \mathbb{H})$ -valued stochastic process. Further, we consider the Banach space  $B_T$  of all  $\mathbb{H}$ -valued  $\mathcal{F}_t$ -adapted càdlàg process x(t) defined on [0, T] with

$$x(t) = \varphi(t), \quad t \in [-\tau, 0]$$

such that

$$||x||_{B_T}^2 := \mathbf{E}[\sup_{0 \le t \le T} ||x(t)||_{\mathbb{H}}^2] < \infty.$$

Next, let us recall the definition of a mild solution for (1).

**Definition 2.1** An  $\mathcal{F}_t$ -adapted càdlàg stochastic process  $x : J \to \mathbb{H}$  is called a mild solution of (1) if for each  $u \in L_2^{\mathcal{F}}(J, U)$  and for arbitrary  $t \in J$ ,  $\mathbf{P}\{\omega : \int_J ||x(s)||_{\mathbb{H}}^2 ds < +\infty\} = 1$ , it satisfies the integral equation

$$\begin{aligned} x(t) &= S(t)[\varphi(0) - G(0,\varphi)] + G(t, x(t-\tau)) \\ &+ \int_0^t S(t-s)[F(s, x(s), x(s-\tau)) + Bu(s)]ds \\ &+ \int_0^t S(t-s)\sigma(s, x(s), x(s-\tau))dW(s) + \sum_{0 < t_k < t} S(t-t_k)I_k(x(t_k^-)) \\ &+ \int_0^t \int_{\mathbf{Z}} S(t-s)L(s, x(s), x(s-\tau), z)\widetilde{N}(ds, dz) \end{aligned}$$
(2)

for any  $x_0(\cdot) = \varphi(\cdot) \in \mathcal{C}_{\tau}$ .

Consider the following linear stochastic system of the form:

$$\begin{cases} dx(t) = [Ax(t) + Bu(t)]dt + \sigma(t)dW(t), & t \in J, \\ x(0) = x_0. \end{cases}$$
(3)

It is convenient to introduce the relevant operators and the basic controllability condition.

(i) The operator  $L_0^T \in \mathcal{L}(L_2^{\mathcal{F}}(J, \mathbb{H}), L_2(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_T, \mathbb{H}))$  is defined by

$$L_0^T u = \int_0^T S(T-s)Bu(s)ds,$$

where  $L_2^{\mathcal{F}}(J, \mathbb{H})$  is the space of all  $\mathcal{F}_t$ -adapted, H-valued measurable square integrable processes on  $J \times \Omega$ . Clearly, the adjoint  $(L_0^T)^* : L_2(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_T, \mathbb{H}) \to L_2^{\mathcal{F}}(J, \mathbb{H})$  is defined by

$$[(L_0^T)^* z](t) = B^* S^* (T - t) \mathbf{E} \{ z \mid \mathcal{F}_t \}.$$

(ii) The controllability operator  $\Pi_0^T$  associated with (3) is defined by

$$\Pi_0^T\{\cdot\} = L_0^T(L_0^T)^*\{\cdot\} = \int_0^T S(T-t)BB^*S^*(T-t)\mathbf{E}\{\cdot \mid \mathcal{F}_t\}dt$$

and belongs to  $\mathcal{L}(L_2(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_T, \mathbb{H}), L_2(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_T, \mathbb{H}))$ , and the controllability operator  $\Gamma_s^T \in \mathcal{L}(\mathbb{H}, \mathbb{H})$  is

$$\Gamma_s^T = \int_s^T S(T-t)BB^*S^*(T-t)dt, \quad 0 \le s < t.$$

**Lemma 2.1** ([19]) The linear stochastic system (3) is exactly controllable on J iff there exists a  $\gamma > 0$  such that

$$\mathbf{E}\langle \Pi_0^T x, x \rangle \ge \gamma \mathbf{E} \|x\|^2, \quad \forall x \in L_2(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_T, \mathbb{H}).$$

Then

$$\mathbf{E} \| (\Pi_0^T)^{-1} \|^2 \le \frac{1}{\gamma}.$$

Let  $x(t; \varphi, u)$  denote the state value of the system (1) at time t corresponding to the control  $u \in L_2^{\mathcal{F}}(J, U)$  and the initial value  $\varphi$ . In particular, the state of system (1) at t = T,  $x(T; \varphi, u)$ , is called the terminal state with the control u.

$$\mathcal{R}_T := \mathcal{R}(T, \varphi) = \{ x(T; \varphi, u) : u(\cdot) \in L_2^{\mathcal{F}}(J, U) \}$$

is called the reachable set of the system (1).

**Definition 2.2** The stochastic system (1) is said to be exactly controllable on the interval J if

$$\mathcal{R}_T = L_2(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_T, \mathbb{H}).$$

To prove our main results, we list the following basic assumptions of this paper. (H1) A is the infinitesimal generator of a contraction C<sub>0</sub>-semigroup S(t),  $t \ge 0$ , in  $\mathbb{H}$ . (H2) There exists a positive constant  $C_0$  such that for all  $t \in J$ ,  $x, y \in \mathbb{H}$ ,

$$||G(t,x) - G(t,y)||_{\mathbb{H}}^2 \le C_0 (||x - y||_{\mathbb{H}}^2).$$

(H3) There exist a positive constant  $C_1$  such that for all  $t \in J$ ,  $x_1, y_1, x_2, y_2 \in \mathbb{H}$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} \|F(t,x_1,y_1) - F(t,x_2,y_2)\|_{\mathbb{H}}^2 &\vee \|\sigma(t,x_1,y_1) - \sigma(t,x_2,y_2)\|_{\mathcal{L}_2^0}^2 \\ &\vee \int_{\mathbf{Z}} \|L(t,x_1,y_1,z) - L(t,x_2,y_2,z)\|_{\mathbb{H}}^2 \lambda(dz) \\ &\leq C_1 (\|x_1 - x_2\|_{\mathbb{H}}^2 + \|y_1 - y_2\|_{\mathbb{H}}^2). \end{aligned}$$

(H4) There exists a positive constant  $C_2$  such that for all  $t \in J$ ,  $x_1, y_1, x_2, y_2 \in \mathbb{H}$ ,

$$\int_{\mathbf{Z}} \|L(t, x_1, y_1, z) - L(t, x_2, y_2, z)\|_{\mathbb{H}}^4 \lambda(dz) \le C_2 (\|x_1 - x_2\|_{\mathbb{H}}^4 + \|y_1 - y_2\|_{\mathbb{H}}^4).$$

(H5) There exists some positive constants  $Q_k$ , k = 1, 2, ..., m such that for all  $t \in J$ ,  $x, y \in \mathbb{H}$ ,

$$||I_k(x) - I_k(y)||_{\mathbb{H}}^2 \le Q_k ||x - y||_{\mathbb{H}}^2.$$

(H6) For all  $t \in J$ , there exists a positive constant M such that

$$\|G(t,0)\|_{\mathbb{H}}^{2} \vee \|F(t,0,0)\|_{\mathbb{H}}^{2} \vee \|\sigma(t,0,0)\|_{\mathbb{H}}^{2} \vee \|I_{k}(0)\|_{\mathbb{H}}^{2}$$
$$\vee \int_{\mathbf{Z}} \|L(t,0,0,z)\|_{\mathbb{H}}^{2} \lambda(dz) \vee \int_{\mathbf{Z}} \|L(t,0,0,z)\|_{\mathbb{H}}^{4} \lambda(dz) \leq M$$

(H7) The linear stochastic system (3) is exactly controllable.

We now note that for the proof of our main results, we need the following lemmas.

**Lemma 2.2** (see [8], Proposition 7.3). Suppose that  $\Phi(t)$ ,  $t \ge 0$ , is a  $\mathcal{L}_2^0$ -valued predictable process and let  $W_A^{\Phi} = \int_0^t S(t-s)\Phi(s)dW(s)$ ,  $t \in [0,T]$ . Then for any arbitrary p > 2, there exists a constant C(p,T) > 0 such that

$$\mathbf{E}\sup_{t\in[0,T]} \|W_A^{\Phi}\|_{\mathbb{H}}^p \le \overline{C}\sup_{t\in[0,T]} \|S(t)\|^p \mathbf{E} \int_0^T \|\Phi(s)\|_{\mathcal{L}_2^0}^p ds$$

where  $\overline{C} = C(p,T)$ . Moreover, if  $\mathbf{E} \int_0^T \|\Phi(s)\|^p ds < +\infty$ , then there exists a continuous version of the process  $\{W_A^{\Phi}\}_{t\geq 0}$ . If  $(S(t))_{t\geq 0}$  is a contraction semigroup, then the above result is true for  $p \geq 2$ .

**Lemma 2.3** (see [18], Lemma 2.2). Let the space  $M^p_{\nu}([0,T] \times \Omega \times (\mathbb{K} - \{0\}), \mathbb{H})$ ,  $p \geq 2$ , denote the set of all random process J(x, y) with values in  $\mathbb{H}$ , predictable with respect to  $\{\mathcal{F}_t\}$  such that

$$\mathbf{E}\Big(\int_0^T\int_{\mathbf{Z}}\|J(t,y)\|_{\mathbb{H}}^p\nu(dy)dt\Big)<\infty.$$

Suppose  $J \in M^2_{\nu}([0,T] \times \Omega \times (\mathbb{K} - \{0\}), \mathbb{H}) \cap M^4_{\nu}([0,T] \times \Omega \times (\mathbb{K} - \{0\}), \mathbb{H})$ . Then for any  $t \in [0,T]$ ,

$$\mathbf{E}\left[\sup_{\theta\in[0,t]}\left\|\int_{0}^{\theta}\int_{\mathbf{Z}}S(\theta-s)J(s,y)\widetilde{N}(ds,dy)\right\|_{\mathbb{H}}^{2}\right] \leq C\left\{\mathbf{E}\left(\int_{0}^{t}\int_{\mathbf{Z}}\|J(t,y)\|_{\mathbb{H}}^{2}\nu(dy)dt\right) + \mathbf{E}\left(\int_{0}^{t}\int_{\mathbf{Z}}\|J(t,y)\|_{\mathbb{H}}^{4}\nu(dy)dt\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right\}$$

for some constant C = C(T) > 0, dependent on T > 0.

## 3 Main Results

In this section, we shall investigate the exact controllability for impulsive neutral stochastic delay partial differential equations driven by Lévy noise in Hilbert spaces.

The main result of this section is the following theorem.

**Theorem 3.1** Let the assumptions (H1) - (H7) hold. Then the system (1) is exactly controllable on J provided that

$$\begin{cases} \left(1 + \frac{30T^2C_B^2}{\gamma}\right) \left[6(C_0 + 2T^2C_1 + 2T\overline{C}C_1 + m\sum_{k=1}^m Q_k) + \frac{1}{2} + (2CC_1 + C^2C_2)T\right] < 1, \text{ where } \|B\|^2 = C_B. \end{cases}$$

$$\tag{4}$$

D. D. HUAN

**Proof.** Using the assumptions, for an arbitrary function  $x(\cdot)$ , choose the feedback control function

$$u_x^T(t) = B^* S^*(T-t) \mathbf{E} \Big\{ (\Pi_0^T)^{-1} \big[ x_T - S(T) [\varphi(0) - G(0,\varphi)] - G(t, x(t-\tau)) \\ - \int_0^T S(T-s) F(s, x(s), x(s-\tau)) ds \\ - \int_0^T S(T-s) \sigma(s, x(s), x(s-\tau)) dW(s) \\ - \int_0^T \int_{\mathbf{Z}} S(T-s) L(s, x(s), x(s-\tau), z) \widetilde{N}(ds, dz) \\ - \sum_{0 < t_k < T} S(T-t_k) I_k(x(t_k^-)] \mid \mathcal{F}_t \Big\}.$$
(5)

We transform (1) into a fixed point problem. Consider the operator  $\Pi$  :  $\mathbf{B}_T \to \mathbf{B}_T$  defined by

$$\Pi(x)(t) = S(t)[\varphi(0) - G(0,\varphi)] + G(t, x(t - \tau)) + \int_0^t S(t - s)[F(s, x(s), x(s - \tau)) + Bu_x^T(s)]ds + \int_0^t S(t - s)\sigma(s, x(s), x(s - \tau))dW(s) + \sum_{0 < t_k < t} S(t - t_k)I_k(x(t_k^-)) + \int_0^t \int_{\mathbf{Z}} S(t - s)L(s, x(s), x(s - \tau), z)\widetilde{N}(ds, dz).$$
(6)

In what follows, we shall show that when using the control  $u_x^T(\cdot)$ , the operator  $\Pi$  has a fixed point, which is then a mild solution for system (1).

By our assumptions, Hölder's inequality, Lemma 2.1, Lemma 2.2, Lemma 2.3 and the basic inequality  $\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i\right)^p \leq n^{(p-1)\vee 0} \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i^p$ , p > 0, we obtain that for  $x \in \mathbf{B}_T$ ,

$$\begin{split} \|\Pi(x)(t)\|_{\mathbf{B}_{T}}^{2} &\leq 7 \Biggl\{ \mathbf{E} \Bigl( \sup_{t \in J} \|S(t)[\varphi(0) - G(0,\varphi)]\|^{2} \Bigr) \\ &+ \mathbf{E} \Bigl( \sup_{t \in J} \|G(t,x(t-\tau))\|^{2} \Bigr) \\ &+ \mathbf{E} \Bigl( \sup_{t \in J} \left\| \int_{0}^{t} S(t-s)F(s,x(s),x(s-\tau))ds \right\|^{2} \Bigr) \end{split}$$

40

$$+ \mathbf{E} \Big( \sup_{t \in J} \left\| \int_{0}^{t} S(t-s) B u_{x}^{T}(s) ds \right\|^{2} \Big)$$

$$+ \mathbf{E} \Big( \sup_{t \in J} \left\| \int_{0}^{t} S(t-s) \sigma(s, x(s), x(s-\tau)) dW(s) \right\|^{2} \Big)$$

$$+ \mathbf{E} \Big( \sup_{t \in J} \left\| \sum_{0 < t_{k} < t} S(t-t_{k}) I_{k}(x(t_{k}^{-})) \right\|^{2} \Big)$$

$$+ \mathbf{E} \Big( \sup_{t \in J} \left\| \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbf{Z}} S(t-s) L(s, x(s), x(s-\tau), z) \widetilde{N}(ds, dz) \right\|^{2} \Big) \Big\}$$

$$\leq 7 \Big\{ \Big[ 2(1+C_{0}) \mathbf{E} \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{C}}^{2} + 2 \Big[ M + C_{0}(\mathbf{E} \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{C}}^{2} + \|x\|_{\mathbf{B}_{T}}^{2}) \Big]$$

$$+ 2T \Big[ MT + C_{1}(\tau \mathbf{E} \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{C}}^{2} + 2T \|x\|_{\mathbf{B}_{T}}^{2}) \Big]$$

$$+ 8C \Big[ MT + C_{1}(\tau \mathbf{E} \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{C}}^{2} + 2T \|x\|_{\mathbf{B}_{T}}^{2}) \Big]$$

$$+ 8C \Big[ MT + C_{1}(\tau \mathbf{E} \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{C}}^{2} + 2T \|x\|_{\mathbf{B}_{T}}^{2}) \Big]$$

$$+ 8C \Big[ MT + C_{1}(\tau \mathbf{E} \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{C}}^{2} + 2T \|x\|_{\mathbf{B}_{T}}^{2}) \Big]$$

$$+ 8C \Big[ MT + C_{1}(\tau \mathbf{E} \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{C}}^{2} + 2T \|x\|_{\mathbf{B}_{T}}^{2}) \Big]$$

$$+ 8C \Big[ MT + \sqrt{C_{2}}(\sqrt{\tau} \mathbf{E} \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{C}}^{2} + \sqrt{2T} \|x\|_{\mathbf{B}_{T}}^{2}) \Big] \Big]$$

$$\times \Big( 1 + \frac{7T^{2}C_{B}^{2}}{\gamma} \Big) + \frac{7T^{2}C_{B}^{2}}{\gamma} \mathbf{E} \|x_{T}\|_{\mathbb{H}}^{2} \Big\} < \infty.$$

Thus,  $\Pi$  maps  $\mathbf{B}_T$  into itself.

Now, we shall prove that  $\Pi$  is a contraction mapping in  $\mathbf{B}_T$ . For any  $x, y \in \mathbf{B}_T$ , in the same ways as above, we can get

$$\begin{split} \|\Pi(x)(t) - \Pi(y)(t)\|_{\mathbf{B}_{T}}^{2} \\ &\leq \Big[6(C_{0} + 2T^{2}C_{1} + 2T\overline{C}C_{1} + m\sum_{k=1}^{m}Q_{k}) + \frac{1}{2} + (2CC_{1} + C^{2}C_{2})T\Big]\|x - y\|_{\mathbf{B}_{T}}^{2} \\ &+ 6T^{2}C_{B}\mathbf{E}\Big(\sup_{t\in J}\|u_{x}^{T} - u_{y}^{T}\|_{\mathbb{H}}^{2}\Big) \\ &\leq \Big(1 + \frac{30T^{2}C_{B}^{2}}{\gamma}\Big)\Big[6(C_{0} + 2T^{2}C_{1} + 2T\overline{C}C_{1} + m\sum_{k=1}^{m}Q_{k}) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} + (2CC_{1} + C^{2}C_{2})T\Big]\|x - y\|_{\mathbf{B}_{T}}^{2}. \end{split}$$

By assumption (4), we conclude that  $\Pi$  is a contraction mapping on  $\mathbf{B}_T$ . On the other hand, by the Banach fixed point theorem, there exists a unique fixed point  $x(\cdot) \in \mathbf{B}_T$ such that  $(\Pi x)(t) = x(t)$ . This fixed point is then the mild solution of the system (1). Thus, the system (1) is exactly controllable on J. The proof of Theorem 3.1 is complete.

**Remark 3.1** From the assumptions  $(\mathbf{H1}) - (\mathbf{H6})$ , for every  $u(\cdot) \in U$ , the system (1) has a unique solution in  $\mathbf{B}_T$ .

Now let us consider a special case for the system (1). If  $G \equiv 0$ ,  $m \equiv 0$ , then the system (1) becomes the following stochastic delay partial differential equations driven by

D. D. HUAN

Lévy noise:

$$\begin{cases} dx(t) = Ax(t)dt + [F(t, x(t), x(t - \tau)) + Bu(t)]dt + \sigma(t, x(t), x(t - \tau))dW(t) \\ + \int_{\mathbf{Z}} L(t, x(t), x(t - \tau), z)\widetilde{N}(dt, dz), \quad t \in [0, T], \\ x(t) = \varphi(t) \in \mathcal{C}^{b}_{\mathcal{F}_{0}}([-\tau, 0]; \mathbb{H}), \quad -\tau \leq t \leq 0, \quad \tau > 0. \end{cases}$$
(7)

**Corollary 3.1** Suppose that the assumptions (H1), (H3), (H4), (H6), (H7) hold. Then the system (10) is exactly controllable on J provided that

$$\left(1 + \frac{12T^2C_B^2}{\gamma}\right) \left[\frac{1}{2} + 8(T^2C_1 + T\overline{C}C_1) + (2CC_1 + C^2C_2)T\right] < 1.$$
(8)

**Remark 3.2** As we all know, the mathematical formulation of many physical phenomena contains integro-differential equations arisen in various applications such as viscoelasticity, heat equations, fluid dynamics, chemical kinetics and so on. More recently, M.A. Diop et al. [9, 10] studied the asymptotic stability of neutral impulsive stochastic partial integro-differential equations with delays and Poisson jumps in Hilbert spaces. In this remark, we consider the exact controllability for impulsive neutral stochastic delay partial integro-differential equations driven by Lévy noise in the form

$$\begin{cases} d[x(t) - G(t, x(t - \tau))] = A[x(t) - G(t, x(t - \tau))]dt \\ + \int_0^t K(t - s)[x(s) - G(s, x(s - \tau))]dsdt \\ + [F(t, x(t), x(t - \tau)) + Bu(t)]dt \\ + \sigma(t, x(t), x(t - \tau))dW(t) \\ + \int_{\mathbf{Z}} L(t, x(t), x(t - \tau), z)\widetilde{N}(dt, dz), \quad t_k \neq t \in [0, T], \end{cases}$$

$$\Delta x(t_k) = I_k(x(t_k^-), \quad k \in \{1, 2, ..., m\}, \\ x(t) = \varphi(t) \in \mathcal{C}^b_{\mathcal{F}_0}([-\tau, 0]; \mathbb{H}), \quad -\tau \leq t \leq 0, \end{cases}$$

$$(9)$$

where K(t),  $t \ge 0$ , is a closed linear operator defined on a common domain which is dense in a Banach space X.

Further, we assume that the integro-differential abstract Cauchy problem

$$\frac{dx(t)}{dt} = Ax(t) + \int_0^t K(t-s)x(s)ds, \quad x(0) = x_0 \in X,$$
(10)

has an associated resolvent operator of bounded linear operators  $\{R(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$  on X.

A one-parameter family of bounded linear operator  $\{R(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$  on X is called a resolvent operator of (10) if the following conditions are verified.

(i) Function  $R(\cdot) : [0, \infty) \to \mathcal{L}(X)$  is strongly continuous and R(0)x = x for all  $x \in X$ . (ii) For  $x \in D(A), R(\cdot) \in \mathcal{C}([0, +\infty); D(A)) \cap \mathcal{C}^1([0, +\infty); X)$ , and

$$\frac{dR(t)x}{dt} = AR(t)x + \int_0^t K(t-s)R(s)xds$$
$$= R(t)Ax + \int_0^t R(t-s)K(s)xds, \quad for \quad t \ge 0.$$

(iii) There exist constants M > 0,  $\beta$  such that  $||R(t)|| \le M \cdot e^{\beta t}$  for every  $t \ge 0$ .

An  $\mathcal{F}_t$ -adapted càdlàg stochastic process  $x : [0,T] \to \mathbb{H}$  is called a mild solution of (9) if for each  $u \in L_2^{\mathcal{F}}(J,U)$  and for arbitrary  $t \in [0,T], \mathbf{P}\{\omega : \int_J ||x(s)||_{\mathbb{H}}^2 ds < +\infty\} = 1$ , it satisfies the integral equation

$$\begin{split} x(t) = & R(t)[\varphi(0) - G(0,\varphi)] + G(t,x(t-\tau)) \\ &+ \int_0^t R(t-s)[F(s,x(s),x(s-\tau)) + Bu(s)]ds \\ &+ \int_0^t R(t-s)\sigma(s,x(s),x(s-\tau))dW(s) \\ &+ \sum_{0 < t_k < t} R(t-t_k)I_k(x(t_k^-)) \\ &+ \int_0^t \int_{\mathbf{Z}} R(t-s)L(s,x(s),x(s-\tau),z)\widetilde{N}(ds,dz) \end{split}$$

for any  $x_0(\cdot) = \varphi(\cdot) \in \mathcal{C}^b_{\mathcal{F}_0}([-\tau, 0]; \mathbb{H}).$ 

By implementing appropriate conditions on the functions, one can easily show that by adapting and employing the techniques used in Theorem 3.1, the stochastic control system (9) is exactly controllable on [0, T].

**Remark 3.3** We now consider the non-autonomous versions of systems (1) and (9), where the operator A is replaced by  $\{A(t) : t \in [0,T]\}$ . To proceed to prove the exact controllability results in a similar manner as employed in the above theorem, an evolution system  $\{U(t,s) : 0 \le s \le t \le T\}$  and a resolvent family  $\{R(t,s) : 0 \le s \le t \le T\}$  are guaranteed to exist. Conditions guaranteeing the existence of U(t,s) and R(t,s) can be found in [22] and [11], respectively. Therefore, the above theorem can be extended to the time-dependent case by making suitable modifications involving the use of the properties of the time-dependent evolution system and the time-dependent resolvent family in the above arguments.

#### 4 Conclusions

This paper focuses on establishing the exact controllability for impulsive neutral stochastic delay partial differential equations driven by Lévy noise in Hilbert spaces through the application of one of the most important results of the analysis and considers the main source of the metric fixed point theory known as the "Banach Contraction Principle". In the future, we aim to expand this study to the approximate controllability for impulsive neutral second-order stochastic delay partial differential equations driven by Lévy noise in Hilbert spaces.

#### References

- N. U. Ahmed. Stochastic control on Hilbert space for linear evolution equations with random operator-valued coefficients. SIAM J. Control Optim. 19 (1981) 401–430.
- [2] D. Applebaum. Lévy Processes and Stochastic Calculus. Cambridge University Press, 2004.
- [3] K.J. Astrom. Introduction to Stochastic Control Theory. Academic Press, New York, 1970.
- [4] K. Balachandran and P. Balasubramaniam. Null controllability of nonlinear perturbations of linear systems. Dyn. Syst. Appl. 2 (1993) 47–60.

#### D.D. HUAN

- [5] J. H. Bao, A. Truman and C.G. Yuan. Stability in distribution of mild solutions to stochastic partial differential delay equations with jumps. Proc. R. Soc. A 465 (2009) 2111–2134.
- [6] J. Cui, L. T. Yan and X. C. Sun. Exponential stability for neutral stochastic partial differential equations with delays and Poisson jumps. *Stat. Prob. Lett.* 81 (2011) 1970–1977.
- [7] J. M. Coron. Control and Nonlinearity. Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, Vol. 136, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2007.
- [8] G. Da Prato and J. Zabczyk. Stochastic Equations in Infinite Dimensions. Vol. 44, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 1992.
- [9] M. A. Diop and K. Ezzinbi, M. Lo. Exponential stability for some stochastic neutral partial functional integrodifferential equations with delays and Poisson jumps. *Semigroup Forum* (2013), doi: 10.1007/s00233-013-9555-y.
- [10] M. A. Diop, K. Ezzinbi and M. Lo. Asymptotic stability of impulsive stochastic partial integrodifferential equations with delays. *Stochastics* (2014), doi: 10.1080/17442508.2013.879143.
- [11] R. Grimmer and J. Pruss. On linear Volterra equations in Banach spaces. Hyperbolic partial differential equations. *Comput. Math. Appl.* 11 (1985) 189–205.
- [12] D. D. Huan. Approximate controllability of damped second-order impulsive neutral stochastic integro-differential system with state-dependent delay. *Electr. J. Math. Anal. Appl.* 5 (2) (2017) 221–238.
- [13] D. D. Huan. On the controllability of nonlocal second-order impulsive neutral stochastic integro-differential equations with infinite delay. Asian J. Control 17 (4) (2015) 1–10.
- [14] D. D. Huan and Ravi P. Agarwal. Asymptotic behavior, attracting and quasi-invariant sets for impulsive neutral SPFDE driven by Lévy noise. Stoch. Dyn. 18 (1) (2018) 1–21.
- [15] D. D. Huan and H. J. Gao. Controllability of nonlocal second order impulsive neutral stochastic functional integro-differential equations with delay and Poisson jumps. *Cogent Engineering* 2 (1) (2015) 1–16.
- [16] S. Karthikeyan and K. Balachandran. On controllability for a class of stochastic impulsive systems with delays in control. *Int. J. Syst. Sci.* 44 (1) (2013) 67–76.
- [17] V. Lakshmikantham, D. Bainov and P. S. Simeonov. Theory of Impulsive Differential Equations. Series in Modern Applied Mathematics, 6. World Scientific Publishing Co., Inc., Teaneck, NJ, 1989.
- [18] J. Luo and K. Liu. Stability of infinite dimensional stochastic evolution with memory and Markovian jumps. Stoch. Proc. Appl. 118 (2008) 864–895.
- [19] N.I. Mahmudov and A. Denker. On controllability of linear stochastic systems. Int. J. Control 73 (2000) 144–151.
- [20] X. R. Mao. Asymptotic properties of neutral stochastic differential delay equations. Stochastics and Stochastic Reports 68 (3-4) (2000) 273–295.
- [21] S. K. Ntouyas and D. ORegan. Some remarks on controllability of evolution equations in Banach spaces. *Elect. J. Diff. Equa.* 29 (2009) 1–6.
- [22] A. Pazy. Semigroup of Linear Operators and Applications to Partial Differential Equations. Springer Verlag, New York, 1983.
- [23] S. Peszat and J. Zabczyk. Stochastic Partial Differential Equations with Lévy noise. Cambridge University Press, 2007.
- [24] L. J. Shen and J. T. Sun. Approximate controllability of stochastic impulsive functional systems with infinite delay. Automatica 48 (2012) 2705–2709.

- [25] Z. X. Tai and S. X. Lun. On controllability of fractional impulsive neutral infinite delay evolution integrodifferential systems in Banach space. Appl. Math. Lett. 25 (2012) 104– 110.
- [26] V. Vijayakumar and A. Selvakumar. Controllability for a class of fractional neutral integrodifferential equations with unbounded delay. Appl. Math. Comput. 232 (2014) 303–312.
- [27] X. F. Yin and Q. C. Xiao. Controllability of stochastic evolution equations driven by Poisson random measure. *Appl. Math. Inf. Sci.* **7** (1) (2013) 239–245.
- [28] T. Yang. Impulsive Systems and Control: Theory and Applications. Springer, Berlin, 2001.
- [29] J. Zabczyk. Controllability of stochastic linear systems. Syst. Control Lett. 1 (1991) 25-31.

Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory, 23(1) (2023) 46-57



# Asymmetric Duffing Oscillator: Jump Manifold and Border Set

J. Kyzioł and A. Okniński \*

Politechnika Świętokrzyska, Al. 1000-lecia PP 7, 25-314 Kielce, Poland

Received: October 24, 2022; Revised: December 22, 2022

**Abstract:** The jump phenomenon, present in the forced asymmetric Duffing oscillator, is studied using the known steady-state asymptotic solution. The main result consists in construction of a new mathematical object – a jump manifold – encoding global information about all possible jumps. The jump manifold is computed for the forced asymmetric Duffing oscillator, and several examples of jumps are calculated, showing the advantages of the method.

Keywords: metamorphoses of amplitude-frequency curves; jump phenomenon.

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2010):** 34C05, 34C25, 34E05, 37G35, 70K30.

## 1 Introduction

In this work, we study steady-state dynamics of the forced asymmetric Duffing oscillator governed by the equation

$$\ddot{y} + 2\zeta \dot{y} + \gamma y^3 = F_0 + F \cos\left(\Omega t\right),\tag{1}$$

which has a single equilibrium position and a corresponding one-well potential [1], where  $\zeta$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $F_0$ , F are parameters and  $\Omega$  is the angular frequency of the periodic force. This dynamical system in particular and Duffing-type equations in general, which can be used to describe pendulums, vibration absorbers, beams, cables, micromechanical structures, and electrical circuits, have a long history [2]. The equation of motion (1) can describe several nonlinear phenomena such as various nonlinear resonances, symmetry breaking, chaotic dynamics, period-doubling route to chaos, multistability and fractal dependence on initial conditions, and jumps [1–6].

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author: mailto:fizao@tu.kielce.pl

<sup>© 2023</sup> InforMath Publishing Group/1562-8353 (print)/1813-7385 (online)/http://e-ndst.kiev.ua 46

Our work aims to research the jump phenomenon using the implicit function machinery. Kovacic and Brennan described and investigated jumps for the system (1) in their interesting study [1]. Recently, Kalmár-Nagy and Balachandran [6] applied a differential condition to detect vertical tangents, characteristic of the jump phenomenon.

A standard approach to nonlinear equations of the form (1) is based on asymptotic methods [7, 8]. More exactly, in the case of Eq.(1), approximate nonlinear resonances 1:1 are computed in the form

$$y(t) = A_0 + A_1 \cos\left(\Omega t + \theta\right), \qquad (2a)$$

$$f_i(A_0, A_1, \Omega; \underline{c}) = 0, \quad i = 1, 2, 3,$$
 (2b)

where  $A_0$ ,  $A_1$  and  $\Omega$  fulfill nonlinear implicit amplitude-frequency response algebraic equations (2b) and  $\underline{c} = (\gamma, \zeta, F, F_0)$  [1,5,9].

We have proposed in our earlier papers an analysis of differential properties of solutions of the implicit amplitude-frequency response equations, see [10] and references therein. It turns out that bifurcations of dynamics, such as hysteresis and jump phenomenon, are related to the appearance/disappearance of branches of solutions, as well as more complicated bifurcations such as, for example, the creation/destruction of solutions follow from the changes of differential properties of solutions of the equations (2b), induced by a change of the parameters  $\underline{c}$ . Analytical methods, permitting the prediction of metamorphoses of solutions, are of great help in numerical simulation. Our formalism applies also to several models of coupled oscillators [11, 12], see also [13].

The novelty of this work consists in defining, in the differential geometry formulation, the jump manifold encoding global information about all possible jumps. Our formalism generalizes the differential condition of Kalmár-Nagy and Balachandran [6] for an arbitrary implicit amplitude-frequency response function.

In the next section, we describe the steady-state solution (2a) [1,5,9], given by implicit equations (2b). Working in the framework developed in our earlier papers, see [10] and references therein, we compute the jump manifold in Section 3 (see Eq.(9a) and Table 2) which contains information about all possible jumps – this is the main achievement of this work. In Section 4, we compare the analytical predictions with the numerical solutions of Eq.(1). We summarize our results in the last Section 5.

## 2 The Steady-State Solution

The steady-state solution of Eq.(1) of the form (2a) was computed in Refs. [1, 5, 9] with the following implicit amplitude-frequency response equations (2b):

$$-A_1\Omega^2 + 3\gamma A_0^2 A_1 + \frac{3}{4}\gamma A_1^3 - F\cos\theta = 0, \qquad (3a)$$

$$2\zeta A_1 \Omega - F \sin \theta = 0, \qquad (3b)$$

$$\gamma A_0^3 + \frac{3}{2} \gamma A_0 A_1^2 - F_0 = 0.$$
 (3c)

Eliminating  $\theta$  from Eqs.(3a), (3b), we get two implicit equations for  $A_0$ ,  $A_1$ , and  $\Omega$ :

$$A_1^2 \left( -\Omega^2 + 3\gamma A_0^2 + \frac{3}{4}\gamma A_1^2 \right)^2 + 4\Omega^2 \zeta^2 A_1^2 = F^2,$$
(4a)

$$\gamma A_0^3 + \frac{3}{2} \gamma A_1^2 A_0 - F_0 = 0.$$
 (4b)

Computing  $A_1^2$  from Eq.(4b) and substituting into (4a), we obtain finally one implicit equation for  $A_0$ ,  $\Omega$ :

$$f(\Omega, A_0; \gamma, \zeta, F, F_0) = \sum_{k=0}^{9} c_k A_0^k = 0,$$
(5)

where the coefficients  $c_k$  are given in Table 1.

**Table 1**: Coefficients  $c_k$  of the polynomial (5).

$c_9 = 25\gamma^3$	$c_4 = 16\Omega^2 \gamma F_0$
$c_8 = 0$	$c_3 = -9\gamma F_0^2 + 6\gamma F^2$
$c_7 = -20\Omega^2 \gamma^2$	$c_2 = -4F_0\Omega^4 - 16\zeta^2\Omega^2 F_0$
$c_6 = -15\gamma^2 F_0$	$c_1 = 4\Omega^2 F_0^2$
$c_5 = -15\gamma^2 F_0$	$c_0 = -F_0^3$

We can also obtain an implicit equation for  $A_1$ ,  $\Omega$ . We solve the cubic equation (4b) for  $A_0$  computing the only one real root:

$$A_0 = -\frac{A_1^2}{2Y} + Y, \quad Y \equiv \sqrt[3]{\sqrt{\frac{1}{8}A_1^6 + \frac{1}{4\gamma^2}F_0^2}} + \frac{1}{2\gamma}F_0.$$
 (6)

Two other roots are indeed complex since the discriminant of Eq.(4b),  $D = -4p^3 - 27q^2$ ,  $p = \frac{3}{2}A_1^2, q = -\frac{F_0}{\gamma}, \gamma \neq 0$ , is negative. Then we substitute  $A_0, Y$  from Eq.(6) into Eq.(4a), obtaining finally a complicated

but useful implicit equation for  $A_1$ ,  $\Omega$ :

$$g(\Omega, A_1; \gamma, \zeta, F, F_0) = A_1^2 \left(3\gamma A_0^2 + \frac{3}{4}\gamma A_1^2 - \Omega^2\right)^2 + 4\Omega^2 \zeta^2 A_1^2 - F^2 = 0,$$
(7)

where  $A_0$  and Y are defined in (6).

#### 3 Jump Phenomenon

#### 3.1Jump conditions and jump manifold

Jump conditions in the implicit function setting read [10]

$$f(\Omega, A_0; \gamma, \zeta, F, F_0) = 0, \qquad (8a)$$

$$\frac{\partial f\left(\Omega, A_0; \gamma, \zeta, F, F_0\right)}{\partial A_0} = 0, \tag{8b}$$

where equation (8b) is the condition for a vertical tangency.

Solving equations (8), we obtain

$$J(A_0; \gamma, \zeta, F, F_0) = \sum_{k=0}^{21} a_k A_0^k = 0,$$
(9a)

$$\Omega^{2} = \frac{(-50\gamma^{4})A_{0}^{12} + 95\gamma^{3}F_{0}A_{0}^{9} + (6F^{2}\gamma^{2} - 39\gamma^{2}F_{0}^{2})A_{0}^{6} + (3F^{2}\gamma F_{0} - 7\gamma F_{0}^{3})A_{0}^{3} + F_{0}^{4}}{2A_{0}(F_{0} - 10\gamma A_{0}^{3})(F_{0} - \gamma A_{0}^{3})^{2}},$$
(9b)

the non-zero coefficients  $a_k$  of the polynomial  $J(A_0)$  are given in Table 2.

The polynomial  $J(A_0)$ , complicated as it is, encodes global information about all possible jumps. We shall thus refer to equation (9a), which defines an implicit function

$a_{21} = 4000\gamma^7 \zeta^2$	$a_9 = 3248\gamma^3\zeta^2 F_0^4 - 72F^2\gamma^3\zeta^2 F_0^2$
$a_{18} = -16000\gamma^6\zeta^2 F_0$	$a_8 = 36F^4\gamma^3 F_0 - 978F^2\gamma^3 F_0^3$
$a_{17} = 600F^2\gamma^6$	$a_6 = 528\gamma^2\zeta^2 F_0^5 - 240F^2\gamma^2\zeta^2 F_0^3$
$a_{15} = 23880\gamma^5\zeta^2 F_0^2 - 480F^2\gamma^5\zeta^2$	$a_5 = 9F^4\gamma^2 F_0^2 + 138F^2\gamma^2 F_0^4$
$a_{14} = -1920F^2\gamma^5 F_0$	$a_3 = 24F^2\gamma\zeta^2F_0^4 - 152\gamma\zeta^2F_0^6$
$a_{12} = 768F^2\gamma^4\zeta^2F_0 - 15512\gamma^4\zeta^2F_0^3$	$a_2 = -6F^2\gamma F_0^5$
$a_{11} = 36F^4\gamma^4 + 2166F^2\gamma^4F_0^2$	$a_0 = 8\zeta^2 F_0^7$

Table 2: Non-zero coefficients of polynomial (9a).

of variables  $A_0$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\zeta$ , F,  $F_0$ , as a *jump manifold equation*. Thus, the jump manifold  $\mathcal{J}(A_0, \gamma, \zeta, F, F_0)$ :

$$\mathcal{J}(A_0; \gamma, \zeta, F, F_0) = \{ (A_0, \gamma, \zeta, F, F_0) : J(A_0; \gamma, \zeta, F, F_0) = 0 \},$$
(10)

belongs to a 5D space. It is purposeful to introduce the projection of the jump manifold onto the parameter space:

$$\mathcal{J}_{\perp} = \{(\gamma, \zeta, F, F_0) : \text{there is a real } A_0 \text{ such that } J(A_0; \gamma, \zeta, F, F_0) = 0\}.$$
(11)

In other words, for any set of parameters  $\gamma, \zeta, F, F_0$  belonging to  $\mathcal{J}_{\perp}$ , there is a jump in the dynamical system (1) and all jumps occur for the parameters belonging to  $\mathcal{J}_{\perp}$ .

We shall consider 2D and 3D projections, plotting  $\mathcal{J}(A_0; \gamma_*, \zeta_*, F_*, F_0)$  and  $\mathcal{J}(A_0; \gamma_*, \zeta_*, F, F_0)$ , respectively, where the parameters  $\gamma_*, \zeta_*, F_*$  or  $\gamma_*, \zeta_*$  are fixed.

## **3.1.1** 2D projection, $J(A_0; \gamma_*, \zeta_*, F_*, F_0) = 0$

The global picture of the jump manifold  $\mathcal{J}(A_0; \gamma_*, \zeta_*, F_*, F_0)$ , where  $\gamma_* = 0.0783$ ,  $\zeta_* = 0.025$ ,  $F_* = 0.1$  and  $A_0$ ,  $F_0$  are variable, is shown in Fig.1. We have chosen the values of  $\gamma, \zeta, F$  such as in [1] for the sake of comparison.

All points lying on the blue curve (jump manifold) correspond to jumps (vertical tangents). Moreover, there are four critical points dividing Fig.1 into parts and referred to as the *border points*:  $F_0^{(1)} = 0$ ,  $F_0^{(2)} = 0.0920$ ,  $F_0^{(3)} = 0.7385$ ,  $F_0^{(4)} = 6.5321$ , where the number of jumps changes, it is defined and computed in Subsection 3.2. More precisely, these critical points are where the red dashed vertical lines are *tangent* to the blue jump manifold.

Indeed, for  $F_0 \in \left(F_0^{(1)}, F_0^{(2)}\right)$ , there are two jumps; for  $F_0 \in \left(F_0^{(2)}, F_0^{(3)}\right)$ , there are four; for  $F_0 \in \left(F_0^{(3)}, F_0^{(4)}\right)$ , there are two, and there are no jumps for  $F_0 > F_0^{(4)}$ .

For example, in Fig.2 below, the case  $F_0 = 0.4$  is shown. More exactly, the implicit function  $A_1(\Omega)$ , computed with the help of Eq.(7), is plotted for  $\gamma = 0.0783$ ,  $\zeta = 0.025$ , F = 0.1, and  $F_0 = 0.4$ . The red dots, denoting vertical tangents, correspond to the red dots in Fig.1. These points can be easily computed from Eqs.(8), (4).

Indeed, solving equations (8) for  $\gamma = 0.0783$ ,  $\zeta = 0.025$ , F = 0.1,  $F_0 = 0.4$ , we get four real solutions  $\Omega$ ,  $A_0$  shown in the first two columns in Table 3. Then, for the above values of  $\Omega$ , we solve equations (4) obtaining the same four values of  $A_0$  and the corresponding values of  $A_1$  listed in the third column of Table 3.

In Fig.3, the bifurcation diagram is shown for the set of parameters listed in Fig.2, where y is a numerical solution of Eq.(1). Note that branches a-b, c-d, e-f in Fig.3 correspond to analogous branches in Fig.2.





**Figure 1**: Jump manifold  $\mathcal{J}(A_0; \gamma_*, \zeta_*, F_*, F_0)$ ,  $\gamma_* = 0.0783$ ,  $\zeta_* = 0.025$ ,  $F_* = 0.1$  (blue) and four border points (purple dots) – points of contact between  $\mathcal{J}$  and the vertical red lines.

<b>Table 3</b> : Solutions of Eqs. $(8)$ and $(4)$ .			
Ω	$A_0$	$A_1$	
0.576 122 891	0.846633527	1.882759746	
0.643 209 846	0.755260872	2.032001367	
0.690545624	1.583776750	0.691474188	
0.711 882 658	0.425889574	2.806379023	



**Figure 2**: Amplitude-frequency response curve  $A_1(\Omega)$ ,  $\gamma = 0.0783$ ,  $\zeta = 0.025$ , F = 0.1,  $F_0 = 0.4$ . Stable branches: a-b, c-d, e-f.



Figure 3: Bifurcation diagram,  $\gamma = 0.0783$ ,  $\zeta = 0.025$ , F = 0.1,  $F_0 = 0.4$ .

## **3.1.2** 3D projection, $J(A_0; \gamma_*, \zeta_*, F, F_0) = 0$

We now fix two parameters only, for example,  $\gamma_* = 0.0783$ ,  $\delta_* = 0.025$ , and plot the jump manifold  $\mathcal{J}(A_0; \gamma_*, \zeta_*, F, F_0)$  as a 3D surface, see Fig.4.



Figure 4: Jump manifold  $\mathcal{J}(A_0; \gamma_*, \zeta_*, F, F_0), \gamma_* = 0.0783, \zeta_* = 0.025.$ 

Next, we compute one border point. For the sake of example, we choose  $F_0 = 0.5$  ( $\gamma_* = 0.0783, \delta_* = 0.025$ ) and compute the corresponding border point as F = 0.544860,  $A_0 = 1.238340$  as explained in the next subsection.

The blue vertical line,  $(0.544\,860, 0.5, A_0)$  with  $A_0$  variable, touches the upper lobe of the jump manifold exactly at the border point  $(0.544\,860, 0.5, 1.238\,340)$ .

J. KYZIOŁ AND A. OKNIŃSKI

#### 3.2 Border sets

We shall now determine the condition for the border set: the set of points in the parameter space  $(\gamma, \zeta, F_0, F)$  is such that the number of vertical tangents changes at these points. The mathematical condition for the border set is that the polynomial  $J(A_0)$  given in Eq.(9a) and Table 2 has multiple roots.

The qualitative behavior of the polynomial equation  $J(A_0)$  can be seen in Figs.1 and 4, where 2D and 3D projections of the implicit function  $J(A_0; \gamma, \zeta, F, F_0) = 0$  are shown. To find the parameter values for which the polynomial  $J(A_0; \gamma, \zeta, F, F_0)$  has multiple roots, we demand that the resultant of  $J(A_0)$  and its derivative  $J'(A_0) = \frac{d}{dA_0}J(A_0)$  is zero [15]:

$$R(J, J'; \gamma, \zeta, F, F_0) = 0.$$
(12)

The resultant of the polynomial  $J(A_0)$  and its derivative  $J'(A_0) = \sum_{k=0}^{20} b_k A_0^k$  is a determinant of the  $(m+n) \times (m+n)$  Sylvester matrix, n = 21, m = 20,

$$R(J, J'; \gamma, \zeta, F, F_0) = \det \begin{pmatrix} a_n & a_{n-1} & a_{n-2} & \dots & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & a_n & a_{n-1} & \dots & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & a_1 & a_0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & a_2 & a_1 & a_0 \\ b_m & b_{m-1} & b_{m-2} & \dots & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & b_m & b_{m-1} & \dots & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & b_1 & b_0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & b_2 & b_1 & b_0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(13)

and is an enormously complicated polynomial in variables  $\gamma$ ,  $\zeta$ , F,  $F_0$ . However, if we fix three parameters, say  $\gamma$ ,  $\zeta$ , F, then the equation  $R(J, J'; F_0) = 0$  can be solved numerically and thus the critical values of  $F_0$  can be computed.

For example, we have solved equation (12),  $R(J, J'; \gamma_*, \zeta_*, F_*, F_0) = 0$ , for  $\gamma_* = 0.0783$ ,  $\zeta_* = 0.025$ ,  $F_* = 0.1$ , obtaining the following real positive solutions:  $F_0^{(1)} = 0$ ,  $F_0^{(2)} = 0.092075$ ,  $F_0^{(3)} = 0.738510$ ,  $F_0^{(4)} = 6.532092$ . In Figs.5, the border amplitudes  $A_1(\Omega)$  are shown for  $\gamma = 0.0783$ ,  $\zeta = 0.025$ , F = 0.1 and  $F_0^{(2)}$ ,  $F_0^{(3)}$ ,  $F_0^{(4)}$ , with critical points marked with blue crosses. At these points, jumps just appear/disappear – there is a metamorphosis of the amplitude-frequency response function. For example, the function  $A_1(\Omega)$  has no jumps for  $F_0 > 6.532092$ , and two jumps appear for  $F_0 < 6.532092$ , see Fig.8.4e plotted for  $F_0 = 0.95$  in [1]. Vertical tangents at these points are also plotted with dashed lines. Blue dots denote extant points of jumps.

We have also solved equation (12),  $R(J, J'; \gamma_*, \zeta_*, F, F_{0*}) = 0$ , for  $\gamma_* = 0.0783$ ,  $\zeta_* = 0.025$ ,  $F_{0*} = 0.5$ , obtaining real positive solutions:  $F^{(1)} = 0$ ,  $F^{(2)} = 0.026\,998\,9$ ,  $F^{(3)} = 0.077\,925\,6$ ,  $F^{(4)} = 0.544\,859\,5$ . Next, for  $\gamma = 0.0783$ ,  $\zeta = 0.025$ ,  $F_0 = 0.5$ , and  $F = 0.544\,859\,5$ , we have computed from Eqs.(8) the border value  $A_0 = 1.238\,340$ , see the blue vertical line in Fig.4.

## **3.3** Number of solutions of Eq.(5) for a given value of $\Omega$

There are also other qualitative changes in the amplitudes  $A_1(\Omega)$  controlled by the parameters. For example, the number of solutions of Eq.(5) for a given value of  $\Omega$  may



Figure 5: Amplitude-frequency response curves:  $\gamma = 0.0783$ ,  $\zeta = 0.025$ , F = 0.1,  $F_0^{(2)} = 0.092$  (top left),  $F_0^{(3)} = 0.7385$  (top right),  $F_0^{(4)} = 6.532$  (bottom).

change. This happens when two vertical tangents appear at the same value of  $\Omega$ .

To find a value of  $F_0$  for which this occurs, we have to find a double root  $\Omega$  of equations (8). For example, let  $\gamma = 0.0783$ ,  $\zeta = 0.025$ , F = 0.1. Now, solving Eqs.(8) numerically for several values of  $F_0$ , we easily find that for  $F_0 = 0.301\,007$ , there is indeed a double root:  $\Omega = 0.597\,114$ ,  $A_0 = 0.679\,284$  and  $\Omega = 0.597\,114$ ,  $A_0 = 1.411\,787$ . There is another similar case: for  $F_0 = 0.429\,166$ , there is a double root:  $\Omega = 0.714\,419$ ,  $A_0 = 1.628\,271$ , see Fig.6 as well as the related Fig.9.



**Figure 6**: Amplitude-frequency response curves  $A_1(\Omega)$ :  $\gamma = 0.0783$ ,  $\zeta = 0.025$ , F = 0.1,  $F_0 = 0.301$  (left),  $F_0 = 0.429$  (right). Stable branches: a-b, c-d, e-f.

Therefore, for  $F_0 \in (0.301, 0.429)$ , equation (5) has five solutions for some values of  $\Omega$  (three stable, two unstable), see, for example, Figs.2, 3, where  $F_0 = 0.4$ .

#### J. KYZIOŁ AND A. OKNIŃSKI

## 4 Numerical Verification and Analysis of the Results

We start with the verification of our results for the border sets obtained in Section 3, comparing them with numerical computations carried out for the equation (1). Consider, for example, the top right figure in Fig.5. In Fig.7, we show magnification of this critical curve with a vertical tangency on the red curve and two curves: just before (green) and just after (blue) the formation of the vertical tangency.



Figure 7: Implicit curves  $A_1(\Omega)$ :  $\gamma = 0.0783$ ,  $\zeta = 0.025$ ,  $F_0 = 0.738510$  and F = 0.095 (green), F = 0.1 (red), F = 0.105 (blue). Critical vertical tangency on the red curve is at  $(\Omega, A_1) = (0.761, 2.558)$  (light blue-green dot).

Recall that we have solved equation (12) for  $\gamma = 0.0783$ ,  $\zeta = 0.025$ , F = 0.1, obtaining four real positive solutions:  $F_0^{(1)} = 0$ ,  $F_0^{(2)} = 0.092075$ ,  $F_0^{(3)} = 0.738510$ ,  $F_0^{(4)} = 6.532092$ . Curves in Fig.7 have been plotted for  $\gamma = 0.0783$ ,  $\zeta = 0.025$ ,  $F_0^{(3)} = 0.738510$  and F = 0.095 (green), F = 0.1 (red), F = 0.105 (blue). We have decided to plot curves  $A_1(\Omega)$  for the variable F since the shapes of these curves are very sensitive to this parameter.

When we pass from the green to the red curve, we note the formation of vertical tangency on the red curve. Stable branches on the red curve are: a-b, c-d=e, and d=e-f.

In Fig.8, we show the bifurcation diagrams computed by solving numerically Eq.(1) for the values of the parameters  $\gamma$ ,  $\zeta$ ,  $F_0$  such as in Fig.7 and F = 0.114 (green), F = 0.116 (blue), respectively.

These two bifurcation diagrams correspond qualitatively to the green and blue curves  $A_1(\Omega)$  in Fig.7. The main difference between these two plots is a discontinuity of the blue curve corresponding to the creation of the jump phenomenon at  $\Omega = 0.785$ .

Note that the discontinuity appears in the interval  $F \in (0.114, 0.116)$  while the analytically predicted value is F = 0.1. This discrepancy can be attributed to the error of the asymptotic method used to compute the solution (2a).

We now discuss the results obtained in Subsection 3.3. In Fig.9, two bifurcation diagrams are shown, corresponding to the amplitude-frequency curves shown in Fig.6. Two Figures 6 were computed for  $\gamma = 0.0783$ ,  $\zeta = 0.025$ , F = 0.1 and  $F_0 = 0.301$  and  $F_0 = 0.429$  can be set together with Figures 8.4b, 8.4c, 8.4d from Ref. [1], computed



**Figure 8**: Bifurcation diagrams: F = 0.114 (green), F = 0.116 (blue), the values of the parameters  $\gamma$ ,  $\zeta$ ,  $F_0$  are the same as in Fig.7. Discontinuity is at  $\Omega = 0.785$ .

for the same values of  $\gamma$ ,  $\zeta$ , F and for  $F_0 = 0.2$ ,  $F_0 = 0.4$ ,  $F_0 = 0.5$ , respectively. The sequence of the amplitude-frequency curves plotted for  $F_0 = 0.2$ , 0.301, 0.4, 0.429, 0.5 shows the metamorphoses of these curves.

In Figures 6, there are two different jumps for the same value of  $\Omega$ . Indeed, in the bifurcation diagrams shown in Fig.9, two different branches of the solution of Eq.(1) end or begin at the same value of  $\Omega$  (these places are denoted in Fig.6 and Fig.9 as "b" and "e").

It follows that three stable solutions of Eq.(1) are in the interval  $F_0 \in (0.284, 0.395)$ ,  $\gamma = 0.0783$ ,  $\zeta = 0.025$ , F = 0.1, while analytical prediction was  $F_0 \in (0.301, 0.429)$  (see the end of Subsection 3.3). This discrepancy is again due to the unavoidable errors of the asymptotic method.



**Figure 9**: Bifurcation diagrams:  $\gamma = 0.0783$ ,  $\zeta = 0.025$ , F = 0.1,  $F_0 = 0.284$  (top),  $F_0 = 0.395$  (bottom).

## 5 Summary

Working in the implicit function framework [10], we have computed the jump manifold, cf. (10) and Table 2, including information about all jumps in the dynamical system (1).

Our work on the asymmetric Duffing oscillator is a supplementation and amplification of the results obtained by Kovacic and Brennan [1]. The sequence of Figures 8.4 (a) –(e), computed in [1] for  $\gamma = 0.0783$ ,  $\zeta = 0.025$ , F = 0.1, and  $F_0 = 0.01$ , 0.2, 0.4, 0.5, 0.95, respectively, can be appended with Figs.5 and 6 computed for  $F_0 = 0.092$ , 0.7385, 6.532, and  $F_0 = 0.301$ , 0.429. The sequence of metamorphoses of the curve  $A_1(\Omega)$  consists of the plots computed for  $F_0 = 0.01$ , 0.092, 0.2, 0.301, 0.4, 0.429, 0.5, 0.7385, 0.95, 6.532, where the numbers highlighted in bold correspond to Figs.8.4 (a)–(e) plotted in [1].

We show in Section 4 how a jump phenomenon arises in the dynamical system (1) and how it can be predicted based on a solution of Eq.(3), see Figs.7, 8. In short, the dynamical signature of the appearance of the jump phenomenon consists in a rupture of a stable branch, see Fig.8. Jumps are created at a border set, see Eqs.(12), (13). We

have computed the values of parameter  $F_0$ , at which a change of multi-stability occurs.

## References

- I. Kovacic and M.J. Brennan. Forced harmonic vibration of an asymmetric Duffing oscillator. In: *The Duffing Equation: Nonlinear Oscillators and Their Behavior*. (Eds.: I. Kovacic, M.J. Brennan). John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, New Jersey 2011, pp. 277–322.
- [2] I. Kovacic, M.J. Brennan (Eds.). The Duffing Equation: Nonlinear Oscillators and Their Behavior. John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, New Jersey 2011.
- [3] Y. Ueda. Explosions of strange attractors exhibited by Duffing equation. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 357 (1980) 422–433.
- [4] Y. Ueda. Randomly transitional phenomena in the systems governed by Duffing's equation. J. Stat. Phys. 20 (1979) 181–196.
- [5] W. Szemplińska-Stupnicka and J. Bajkowski. The 1/2 subharmonic resonance and its transition to chaotic motion in a non-linear oscillator. Int. J. Non-Linear Mech. 21 (1986) 401–419.
- [6] T. Kalmár-Nagy and B. Balachandran. Forced harmonic vibration of a Duffing oscillator with linear viscous damping. In: *The Duffing Equation: Nonlinear Oscillators and Their Behavior*). (Eds.: I. Kovacic, M.J. Brennan). John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, New Jersey 2011, pp. 139 – 174.
- [7] A.H. Nayfeh. Introduction to Perturbation Techniques, John Wiley & Sons, 2011.
- [8] M. Wali Ullah, M. Alhaz Uddin and M. Saifur Rahman. A Modified Harmonic Balance Method for Solving Strongly Generalized Nonlinear Damped Forced Vibration Systems, *Nonlinear Dyn. Syst. Theory* **21** (2021) 544–552.
- [9] D.W. Jordan and P. Smith. Nonlinear Ordinary Differential Equations, Oxford University Press, New York, 1999.
- [10] J. Kyzioł and A. Okniński. Localizing bifurcations in nonlinear dynamical systems via analytical and numerical methods, *Processes* 10 (2022) 127, 17 pages.
- [11] Q. Bi. Dynamical analysis of two coupled parametrically excited van der Pol oscillators, Int. J. Nonlinear Mech. 39 (2004) 33–54.
- [12] Akram Khalil Cheib, V.E. Puzyrov and N.V. Savchenko. Analysis of the Dynamics of a Two-Degree-of-Freedom Nonlinear Mechanical System under Harmonic Excitation, *Nonlin*ear Dyn. Syst. Theory **20** (2020) 168–178.
- [13] J. Kyzioł, A. Okniński. Metamorphoses of resonance curves in systems of coupled oscillators: The case of degenerate singular points, Int. J. Non-Linear Mech. 95 (2017) 272–276.
- [14] C.T.C. Wall. Singular Points of Plane Curves, Cambridge University Press, New York 2004.
- [15] S. Janson. Resultant and discriminant of polynomials, Lecture notes, 2010. Available at http://www2.math.uu.se/~svante/papers/sjN5.pdf.

Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory, 23 (1) (2023) 58-68



# Generalized Bessel-Riesz Operator on Morrey Spaces with Different Measures

S. Mehmood<sup>1\*</sup>, Eridani<sup>1</sup>, Fatmawati<sup>1</sup> and Wasim Raza<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Faculty of Science and Technology, Airlangga University, Campus C, Mulyorejo, Surabaya 60115, Indonesia.

<sup>2</sup> Department of Mathematics, University of Sargodha, Pakistan.

Received: October 10, 2022; Revised: December 12, 2022

**Abstract:** This study's primary area of interest is the generalized operators, which are defined with doubling measures by generalized Bessel-Riesz kernels with various measures in Morrey spaces. In terms of Bessel decay, the kernel satisfies a few key requirements. To prove that the integral operators are bounded, we will make use of Young, Holder, and Minköwski inequalities and a doubling measure. Additionally, we look into the relationship, we discover that the norm of these operators will be similarly constrained by the relationship between the elements of the kernel and the integral operators based on the norm of each kernel, although according to several measures. Additionally, we investigate the boundedness of pointwise multiplier operators in Morrey spaces using generalized fractional integrals and the generalized Bessel-Riesz operator.

**Keywords:** generalized Bessel-Riesz operators; doubling measure; fractional integral; Morrey spaces.

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010): 45P05, 70K99, 93B28, 47A30.

## 1 Introduction

This paper extends our recent findings in paper [1] by investigating the boundedness of Bessel-Riesz operators by a generalized kernel defined with doubling measures in Morrey spaces with various measures. Some basic requirements are being met by the operator's kernel in relation to Bessel decay. We will use the Young, Holder, and Minköwski inequalities and a doubling measure to demonstrate that the integral operators are bounded.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author: mailto:saba.mehhmoodphd22@gmail.com

<sup>© 2023</sup> InforMath Publishing Group/1562-8353 (print)/1813-7385 (online)/http://e-ndst.kiev.ua 58

In Morrey spaces, we also focus on the boundedness of pointwise multiplier operators. Here,

$$||f:L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)|| := \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f(t)|^p dt\right]^{1/p}$$

is defined, as a function  $1 \leq p < \infty$ , and a group of f in a way that  $||f : L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)|| < \infty$ . The definition of the Bessel-Riesz operator is

$$I_{\alpha,\gamma}f(x) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} G_{\alpha,\gamma}(|x-y|)f(y) \, dy$$

for every  $f \in L^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and  $1 \le p < \infty$  for each instance of  $G_{\alpha,\gamma}: (0,\infty) \to (0,\infty)$ , with

$$G_{\alpha,\gamma}(t) := \frac{t^{\alpha - n}}{[1 + t]^{\gamma}}, \quad 0 < \alpha < n, \ \gamma \ge 0.$$

The  $G_{\alpha,\gamma}$ , the Bessel-Riesz kernel, is referred to in this context. Bessel-Riesz operators are derived from Schrödinger's equation. Schrödinger's equation, a partial differential linear equation, (see [2] for some results of differential equations of order  $1 < \alpha \leq 2$ , in a Banach space) is used to explain a quantum field system's wave function or state function. Schrödinger's equation is the quantum physics equivalent of Newton's law. In 1999 Kazuhiro Kurata et al. [3] conducted a research on the boundedness of integral operators with Lebesgue and generalized Morrey spaces. They then used this knowledge to estimate the Schrödinger operator  $L_2 = -\Delta + V(x) + W(x)$  with nonnegative  $V \in (RH)_{\infty}$ (reverse Hölders class) and small perturbed potentials W on Morrey spaces. Idris et al. [Theorem 6, [4]] reported the boundedness of Bessel-Riesz operators on Morrey spaces in 2016. They achieved outcomes for the boundedness of fractional integral operators that were comparable to the results by F. Chiarenza [5]. The boundedness of fractional integral operators when constructed on quasi-metric measure spaces was discussed by Eridani et al. in their study [6]. Even for Euclidean spaces, the research team's findings were novel. The boundedness of these operators for Euclidean spaces on Lebesgue and Morrey spaces was also demonstrated by Idris et al. in their paper [4], which also looked into the weighted boundedness of generalized Morrey spaces. Euclidean spaces are the most straightforward illustration of measure metric spaces. The weighted boundedness of generalized Morrey spaces has been studied by Kurata et al. [3]. We will use the Young, Holder, and Minköwski inequalities and a doubling measure to demonstrate the boundedness of these operators on Morrey spaces in Euclidean contexts. Additionally, we shall see that the generalized Bessel-Riesz operators' norm is constrained by the kernels' norm. Bessel-Riesz operators on Lebesgue spaces in measure metric spaces are bounded, which is a simple argument of the Young inequality, it was demonstrated by Saba et al. [7] using the Young inequality. Our entry into the subsequent Morrey space phenomenon is the second outcome since the generalized Bessel-Riesz operator is bounded on Lebesgue spaces [1]. The ideal constant in the Young inequality is 1, and it is used throughout the research. However, we still do not know what the optimum constant in Morrey spaces is at this point. As a result, we focus on generalized Bessel-Riesz operators in Morrey spaces in this study. We will also discuss the circumstance in which the measure meets the doubling requirement. For the relevant inequalities that were derived in [8], [9], the resulting criteria are both necessary and sufficient. When W is a scalar operator, Kurata et al. [3] have demonstrated that W.  $I_{\alpha,\gamma}$  is bounded on generalized Morrey spaces. We will also work on this operator for boundedness with the generalized operator on Morrey

spaces. See citation [3] for the examples of using the aforementioned operators in settings involving Euclidean spaces.

## 2 Doubling Conditions

We take into account  $\rho: (0,\infty) \to (0,\infty)$  and define (DC) as a collection of  $\rho$  such that

$$\frac{1}{2} \leq \frac{s}{t} \leq 2 \ \Rightarrow \ \frac{1}{C} \leq \frac{\rho(s)}{\rho(t)} \leq C$$

for some  $C \geq 1$ . If  $\rho \in (DC)$ , then we have

$$\rho(R) \sim \int_R^{2R} \frac{\rho(t)}{t} \, dt, \quad \text{or} \quad C^* \rho(R) \leq \int_R^{2R} \frac{\rho(t)}{t} \, dt \leq C^{**} \rho(R)$$

for some  $C^{**} \ge C^* > 0$ . Additionally, if  $\rho \in (DC)$ , then  $G_{\rho,\gamma} \in (DC)$ , where

$$G_{\rho,\gamma}(t) := \frac{\rho(t)}{t^n [1+t]^{\gamma}}, \quad t > 0.$$

Assume that  $\mu$  is a random measure on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . We consider a group of measures that meet the growth condition, denoted by (GC). Now, since  $B(a, R) := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : |x - a| < R\}$ in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  exists, we define  $\mu \in (GC)$  if and only if  $C_1 > 0$  such that

$$\mu(B(a,R)) \le C_1 R^r$$

exists for all open balls. See [6] for more details on a doubling measure.

Using the definitions provided above, we attempt to estimate

$$||G_{\rho,\gamma}: L^{s}(\mu)|| := \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |G_{\rho,\gamma}(|x|)|^{s} d\mu(x)\right)^{1/s}, \quad s \ge 1.$$

For  $1 \leq s < \infty$  and R > 0, we take into account the following:

$$\begin{split} &\int_{|x|< R} \frac{\rho(|x|)^s}{|x|^{sn} [1+|x|]^{s\gamma}} \, d\mu(x) = \sum_{k=-\infty}^{-1} \int_{2^k R \le |x|< 2^{k+1}R} \frac{\rho(|x|)^s}{|x|^{sn} [1+|x|]^{s\gamma}} \, d\mu(x) \\ &\leq C \sum_{k=-\infty}^{-1} \frac{\rho(2^k R)^s \mu(B(0, 2^k R))}{(2^k R)^{sn} [1+2^k R]^{s\gamma}} \le C \sum_{k=-\infty}^{-1} \frac{\rho(2^k R)^s}{(2^k R)^{(s-1)n}} \\ &\leq C \sum_{k=-\infty}^{-1} \int_{2^k R}^{2^{k+1}R} \frac{\rho(t)^s}{t^{(s-1)n+1}} \, dt = C \int_0^R \frac{\rho(t)^s}{t^{(s-1)n+1}} \, dt, \quad \text{and also} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &\int_{R \leq |x|} \frac{\rho(|x|)^s}{|x|^{sn} [1+|x|]^{s\gamma}} \, d\mu(x) = \sum_{k=1}^\infty \int_{2^k R \leq |x| < 2^{k+1}R} \frac{\rho(|x|)^s}{|x|^{sn} [1+|x|]^{s\gamma}} \, d\mu(x) \\ &\leq C \sum_{k=0}^\infty \frac{\rho(2^k R)^s \mu(B(0, 2^k R))}{(2^k R)^{sn} [1+2^k R]^{s\gamma}} \leq C \sum_{k=0}^\infty \frac{\rho(2^k R)^s}{(2^k R)^{(s-1)n+s\gamma}} \\ &\leq C \sum_{k=0}^\infty \int_{2^k R}^{2^{k+1} R} \frac{\rho(t)^s}{t^{(s-1)n+s\gamma+1}} \, dt = C \int_R^\infty \frac{\rho(t)^s}{t^{(s-1)n+s\gamma+1}} \, dt, \end{split}$$

where a constant, not necessarily the same one, is denoted by the letter C>0 at all time. At this stage, we define

$$\|G_{\rho,\gamma}: L^s(\mu)\| = \sup R > 0 \left( \int_0^R \frac{\rho(t)^s}{t^{(s-1)n+1}} \, dt + \int_R^\infty \frac{\rho(t)^s}{t^{(s-1)n+s\gamma+1}} \, dt \right)^{1/s}$$

for  $1 \leq s < \infty$ ,  $\mu \in (GC)$  and  $\rho \in (DC)$ .

## 3 Morrey Spaces with the Generalized Bessel-Riesz Operator

We begin this section with the definition that is given below. Take into account  $0 < \lambda < 1 \le p < \infty$ , B := B(a, R), and  $\mu(B(a, R)) \sim R^n$ . If and only if

$$||f: L^{p,\lambda}(\nu,\mu)|| = \sup_{B} \left(\frac{1}{\mu(B)^{\lambda}} \int_{B} |f(y)|^{p} d\nu(y)\right)^{1/p} < \infty$$

holds, then we define  $f \in L^{p,\lambda}(\nu,\mu)$ . We define

$$f = f_1 + f_2 := f\chi_{\tilde{B}} + f\chi_{\tilde{B}^{\rm C}}$$

for each  $f \in L^{p,\lambda}(\nu,\mu)$  and  $\tilde{B} := B(a,2R)$ , given that

$$||f_1: L^p(\nu)|| = \left[\int_{\tilde{B}} |f(y)|^p \, d\nu(y)\right]^{1/p} \le \mu(\tilde{B})^{\lambda/p} ||f: L^{p,\lambda}(\nu,\mu)|| < \infty.$$

For each B, we arrive at the following estimation when  $f_1 \in L^p(\nu)$ :

$$\begin{split} \left[ \int_{B} |I_{\rho,\gamma} f_{1}(y)|^{p} d\mu(y) \right]^{1/p} &\leq \|I_{\rho,\gamma} f_{1} : L^{p}(\mu)\| \\ &\leq C \|G_{\rho,\gamma} : L^{1}(\mu)\| \cdot \|f_{1} : L^{p}(\nu)\| \\ &\leq C \,\mu(B)^{\lambda/p} \|G_{\rho,\gamma} : L^{1}(\mu)\| \cdot \|f : L^{p,\lambda}(\nu,\mu)\|, \end{split}$$

and of course, we will come to the following estimation:

$$\left[\frac{1}{\mu(B)^{\lambda}} \int_{B} |I_{\rho,\gamma} f_{1}(y)|^{p} d\mu(y)\right]^{1/p} \leq C \, \|G_{\rho,\gamma} : L^{1}(\mu)\| \cdot \|f : L^{p,\lambda}(\nu,\mu)\|.$$

Contrarily, we have the estimation given below for each  $x \in B$ :

$$\begin{split} |I_{\rho,\gamma}f_{2}(x)| &\leq \int_{\tilde{B}} I_{\rho,\gamma}f_{2}(x)d\mu(x) \\ &\leq \int_{|x-y|\geq R} I_{\rho,\gamma}f_{2}(x)d\mu(x) \\ &= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \int_{2^{k}R \leq |x-y|<2^{k+1}R} I_{\rho,\gamma}f_{2}(x)d\mu(x) \\ &\leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\rho(2^{k}R)}{(2^{k}R)^{n+\gamma}} \int_{|x-y|<2^{k+1}R} |f(y)| \, d\nu(y) \\ &\leq C \, \|f: L^{p,\lambda}(\nu,\mu)\| \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\rho(2^{k}R)\nu(B(x,2^{k+1}R))^{1-1/p}}{(2^{k}R)^{n-[n\lambda/p]+\gamma}}. \end{split}$$

Considering that  $\nu \in (GC)$ ,

$$\begin{split} |I_{\rho,\gamma}f_{2}(x)| &\leq C \, \|f: L^{p,\lambda}(\nu,\mu)\| \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\rho(2^{k}R)}{(2^{k}R)^{[n/p]-[n\lambda/p]+\gamma}} \\ &\leq C \, \|f: L^{p,\lambda}(\nu,\mu)\| \int_{R}^{\infty} \frac{\rho(t)}{t^{1+\gamma+[n(1-\lambda)/p]}} \, dt \\ &\leq C \, R^{n(\lambda-1)/p} \|f: L^{p,\lambda}(\nu,\mu)\| \int_{R}^{\infty} \frac{\rho(t)}{t^{1+\gamma}} \, dt \\ &\leq C \, R^{n(\lambda-1)/p} \|f: L^{p,\lambda}(\nu,\mu)\| \cdot \|G_{\rho,\gamma}: L^{1}(\mu)\|. \end{split}$$

And ultimately, we shall have that for any open ball B, we come to

$$\begin{split} & \left[\frac{1}{\mu(B)} \int_{B} |I_{\rho,\gamma} f_{2}(x)|^{p} \, d\mu(x)\right]^{1/p} \leq C \, R^{n(\lambda-1)/p} \|f : L^{p,\lambda}(\nu,\mu)\| \cdot \|G_{\rho,\gamma} : L^{1}(\mu)\|, \\ & \text{or} \, \left[\frac{1}{\mu(B)^{\lambda}} \int_{B} |I_{\rho,\gamma} f_{2}(x)|^{p} \, d\mu(x)\right]^{1/p} \leq C \, \|f : L^{p,\lambda}(\nu,\mu)\| \cdot \|G_{\rho,\gamma} : L^{1}(\mu)\|. \end{split}$$

**Corollary 3.1** Let us say there are  $\nu \in (GC)$  and  $1 . In the case when both <math>f \in L^{p,\lambda}(\nu,\mu)$  and  $G_{\rho,\gamma} \in L^1(\mu)$  are true, one has  $I_{\rho,\gamma}f \in L^{p,\lambda}(\mu)$ . In addition, there is C > 0 such that

$$||I_{\rho,\gamma}f:L^{p,\lambda}(\mu)|| \le C ||G_{\rho,\gamma}:L^{1}(\mu)|| \cdot ||f:L^{p,\lambda}(\nu,\mu)||.$$

### 3.1 Minköwski's inequality

Before stating our key findings on the boundedness of  $I_{\rho,\gamma}$ , we take into consideration the following simple finding [10].

**Lemma 3.1** Assume we are given  $F : \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ . When considering any measure  $\nu$  and  $\mu$  on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ,

$$\left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left|\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} G(x-y) \, d\nu(y)\right|^p d\mu(x)\right]^{1/p} \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |G(x-y)|^p \, d\mu(x)\right]^{1/p} d\nu(y).$$

## 4 Main Results

**Theorem 4.1** Let  $\nu$  be any measure on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and  $\mu \in (GC)$ . If there is  $C_s > 0$  such that  $f \in L^{1,\lambda}(\nu)$  and  $G_{\rho,\gamma} \in L^s(\mu)$ , then

$$|I_{\rho,\gamma}f: L^{s,\lambda}(\mu)|| \le C_s ||G_{\rho,\gamma}: L^s(\mu)|| \cdot ||f: L^{1,\lambda}(\nu)||, \quad s \ge 1$$

**Proof.** According to Minköwski's inequality, with  $1 \leq s < \infty$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \left[\frac{1}{\mu(B)^{\lambda}} \int_{B} |I_{\rho,\gamma}f(x)|^{s} \, d\mu(x)\right]^{1/s} &= \left(\int_{B} \left|\int_{B} \frac{1}{\mu(B)^{\lambda}} G_{\rho,\gamma}(|x-y|)f(y) \, d\nu(y)\right|^{s} \, d\mu(x)\right)^{1/s} \\ &\leq \int_{B} \left(\int_{B} \frac{1}{\mu(B)^{\lambda}} |G_{\rho,\gamma}(|x-y|)f(y)|^{s} \, d\mu(x)\right)^{1/s} \, d\nu(y) \\ &\leq \int_{B} \left(\int_{B} |G_{\rho,\gamma}(|x-y|)|^{s} \, d\mu(x)\right)^{1/s} \left|\frac{1}{\mu(B)^{\lambda}} f(y)\right| \, d\nu(y) \\ &\leq C \, \|G_{\rho,\gamma} : L^{s}(\mu)\| \cdot \|f : L^{1,\lambda}(\nu)\|. \end{split}$$

 $\operatorname{So}$ 

$$\left[\frac{1}{\mu(B)^{\lambda}} \int_{B} |I_{\rho,\gamma}f(x)|^{s} d\mu(x)\right]^{1/s} \leq \sup_{x \in B} \|I_{\rho,\gamma}f(x) : L^{s,\lambda}\|$$
(1)

$$\leq C \|G_{\rho,\gamma} : L^s(\mu)\| \cdot \|f : L^{1,\lambda}(\nu)\|. \quad \blacksquare \qquad (2)$$

In accordance with the aforementioned Theorem 4.1, we additionally have the following.

**Corollary 4.1** Consider the case when  $\nu$  is any measure on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and  $\mu \in (GC)$ . There exists C > 0 such that if  $f \in L^{1,\lambda}(\nu)$  and  $G_{\rho,\gamma} \in L^1(\mu)$ , then

$$||I_{\rho,\gamma}f: L^{1,\lambda}(\mu)|| \le C ||G_{\rho,\gamma}: L^1(\mu)|| \cdot ||f: L^{1,\lambda}(\nu)||.$$

Next, we come to a particular case of Young's inequality. Suppose

$$\frac{1}{s} = \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} - 1, \quad \text{or} \quad 1 = \frac{1}{s} + 1 - \frac{1}{p} + 1 - \frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{s} + \frac{1}{p'} + \frac{1}{q'}.$$

Note that

$$p = q'\left(1 - \frac{p}{s}\right), \quad q = p'\left(1 - \frac{q}{s}\right).$$

**Theorem 4.2** Assume  $\mu, \nu \in (GC)$ . If  $f \in L^p(\nu)$  and  $G_{\rho,\gamma} \in L^q(\mu)$ , then there exists C > 0 so that

$$||I_{\rho,\gamma}f: L^{s,\lambda}(\mu)|| \le C ||G_{\rho,\gamma}: L^q(\mu)|| \cdot ||f: L^{p,\lambda}(\nu)||, \quad \frac{1}{s} = \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} - 1.$$

**Proof**. With Hölder's inequality, we start with the following:

$$\begin{split} & \left[\frac{1}{\mu(B)^{\lambda}} \int_{B} |I_{\rho,\gamma} f(x)|^{s} d\mu(x)\right]^{1/s} \\ & \leq \int_{B} \frac{1}{\mu(B)^{\lambda}} |f(y)|^{p/s+(1-p/s)} |G_{\rho,\gamma}(|x-y|)|^{q/s+(1-q/s)} d\nu(y) \\ & \leq \left[\int_{B} |G_{\rho,\gamma}(|x-y|)|^{q} |f(y)|^{p} d\nu(y)\right]^{1/s} \\ & \left[\int_{B} \frac{1}{\mu(B)^{\lambda}} |f(y)|^{q'(1-p/s)} d\nu(y)\right]^{1/q'} \\ & \times \left[\int_{B} |G_{\rho,\gamma}(|x-y|)|^{p'(1-q/s)} d\nu(y)\right]^{1/p'} \\ & = \left[\int_{B} |G_{\rho,\gamma}(|x-y|)|^{q} |f(y)|^{p} d\nu(y)\right]^{1/s} \\ & \left[\int_{B} \frac{1}{\mu(B)^{\lambda}} |f(y)|^{p} d\nu(y)\right]^{1/q'} \\ & \times \left[\int_{B} |G_{\rho,\gamma}(|x-y|)|^{q} d\nu(y)\right]^{1/p'}. \end{split}$$

The right-hand side will now be estimated for every  $f \in L^{p,\lambda}(\nu,\mu)$  and  $\tilde{B} := B(a,2R)$ , we define

$$f = f_1 + f_2 := f\chi_{\tilde{B}} + f\chi_{\tilde{B}^{\rm C}}.$$

Since 
$$||f_1: L^p(\nu)|| = \left[\int_{\tilde{B}} |f(y)|^p d\nu(y)\right]^{1/p} \le \mu(\tilde{B})^{\lambda/p} ||f: L^{p,\lambda}(\nu,\mu)|| < \infty,$$

we have  $f_1 \in L^p(\nu)$ , and for every B, we come to the following estimation:

$$\begin{split} \int_{B} |G_{\rho,\gamma}(|x-y|)|^{q} |f_{1}(y)|^{p} d\nu(y) &\leq \|G_{\rho,\gamma}(|x-y|)|^{q} f_{1}^{p} : L^{p}(\nu)\| \\ &\leq C \|G_{\rho,\gamma}(|x-y|) : L^{q}(\mu)\|^{q} \cdot \|f_{1} : L^{p}(\nu)\|^{p} \\ &\leq C \,\mu(B)^{\lambda/p} \|G_{\rho,\gamma}(|x-y|) : L^{q}(\mu)\|^{q} \cdot \|f : L^{p,\lambda}(\nu,\mu)\|^{p} \\ &\leq \|G_{\rho,\gamma}(|x-y|) : L^{q}(\mu)\|^{q} \cdot \|f : L^{p,\lambda}(\nu,\mu)\|^{p}. \end{split}$$

On the other hand, for every  $x \in B$ , we have the following estimation:

$$\begin{split} \int_{B} |G_{\rho,\gamma}(|x-y|)|^{q} |f_{2}(y)|^{p} \, d\nu(y) &\leq \int_{\tilde{B}} |G_{\rho,\gamma}(|x-y|)|^{q} |f_{2}(y)|^{p} \, d\nu(y) \\ &\leq \int_{|x-y| \geq R} |G_{\rho,\gamma}(|x-y|)|^{q} |f_{2}(y)|^{p} \, d\nu(y) \\ &= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \int_{2^{k} R \leq |x-y| < 2^{k+1}R} |G_{\rho,\gamma}(|x-y|)|^{q} |f_{2}(y)|^{p} \, d\nu(y) \\ &\leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (\frac{\rho(2^{k}R)}{(2^{k}R)^{n+\gamma}})^{q} \int_{|x-y| < 2^{k+1}R} |f(y)|^{p} \, d\nu(y) \\ &\leq C \, \|f: L^{p,\lambda}(\nu,\mu)\| \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (\frac{\rho(2^{k}R)\nu(B(x,2^{k+1}R))^{1-1/p}}{(2^{k}R)^{n-[n\lambda/p]+\gamma}})^{q}. \end{split}$$

Since  $\nu \in (GC)$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{B} |G_{\rho,\gamma}(|x-y|)|^{q} |f_{2}(y)|^{p} \, d\nu(y) &\leq C \, \|f: L^{p,\lambda}(\nu,\mu)\|^{p} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (\frac{\rho(2^{k}R)}{(2^{k}R)^{[n/p]-[n\lambda/p]+\gamma}})^{q} \\ &\leq C \, \|f: L^{p,\lambda}(\nu,\mu)\|^{p} \int_{R}^{\infty} (\frac{\rho(t)}{t^{1+\gamma+[n(1-\lambda)/p]}})^{q} \, dt \\ &\leq C \, R^{n(\lambda-1)q/p} \|f: L^{p,\lambda}(\nu,\mu)\|^{p} \int_{R}^{\infty} (\frac{\rho(t)}{t^{1+\gamma}})^{q} \, dt \\ &\leq C \, R^{n(\lambda-1)q/p} \|f: L^{p,\lambda}(\nu,\mu)\|^{p} \cdot \|G_{\rho,\gamma}: L^{q}(\mu)\|^{q} \\ &\leq C \|f: L^{p,\lambda}(\nu,\mu)\|^{p} \cdot \|G_{\rho,\gamma}: L^{q}(\mu)\|^{q}, \end{split}$$

it implies

$$\int_{B} |G_{\rho,\gamma}(|x-y|)|^{q} |f(y)|^{p} d\nu(y) \le C ||f: L^{p,\lambda}(\nu,\mu)||^{p} \cdot ||G_{\rho,\gamma}: L^{q}(\mu)||^{q}.$$
(3)

Now we want to estimate the right-hand side, especially when for  $x \in B$  and R > 0, we will have

$$\int_{B} |G_{\rho,\gamma}(|x-y|)|^{q} \, d\nu(y) = \int_{|x-y| < R} |G_{\rho,\gamma}(|x-y|)|^{q} \, d\nu(y) + \int_{|x-y| \ge R} |G_{\rho,\gamma}(|x-y|)|^{q} \, d\nu(y).$$

We start with

$$\begin{split} \int_{|x-y|$$

and also

$$\begin{split} \int_{|x-y|\geq R} |G_{\rho,\gamma}(|x-y|)|^q \, d\nu(y) &\sim C \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} G_{\rho,\gamma}(2^k R)^q \nu(B(x,2^{k+1}R)) \\ &\leq C \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\rho(2^k R)^q}{(2^k R)^{nq-n+q\gamma}} \\ &\leq C \int_R^{\infty} \frac{\rho(t)^q}{t^{n(q-1)+q\gamma+1}} \, dt \\ &\leq C \|G_{\rho,\gamma} : L^q(\mu)\|^q. \end{split}$$

Up to now, for every  $x \in B$ , we already have

$$\left[\frac{1}{\mu(B)^{\lambda}} \int_{B} |I_{\rho,\gamma}f(x)|^{s} d\mu(x)\right]^{1/s} \leq C \|G_{\rho,\gamma} : L^{q}(\mu)\|^{qs/p'} \cdot \|f : L^{p,\lambda}(\nu)\|^{sp/q'} \cdot \left[\int_{B} |G_{\rho,\gamma}(|x-y|)|^{q} |f(y)|^{p} d\nu(y)\right]^{1/s}.$$

By using (1) and (3), finally, we have

$$\begin{split} \|I_{\rho,\gamma}f(x):L^{s,\lambda}\|^{s} &\leq C \, \|G_{\rho,\gamma}:L^{q}(\mu)\|^{qs/p'} \cdot \|f:L^{p,\lambda}(\nu)\|^{sp/q'} \\ &\leq C \|f:L^{p,\lambda}(\nu,\mu)\|^{p} \cdot \|G_{\rho,\gamma}:L^{q}(\mu)\|^{q}, \\ &\leq C \, \|G_{\rho,\gamma}:L^{q}(\mu)\|^{q+qs/p'} \cdot \|f:L^{p,\lambda}(\nu)\|^{p+sp/q'}. \end{split}$$

 $\operatorname{So}$ 

$$q + \frac{qs}{p'} = s = p + \frac{sp}{q'}.$$

Consequently, we also have the following result.

**Corollary 4.2** Consider  $\mu, \nu \in (GC)$ . If  $f \in L^{s,\lambda}(\nu)$  and  $G_{\rho,\gamma} \in L^1(\mu)$ , now there is C > 0, and thus

$$||I_{\rho,\gamma}f: L^{s,\lambda}(\mu)|| \le C ||G_{\rho,\gamma}: L^1(\mu)|| \cdot ||f: L^{s,\lambda}(\nu)||, \quad s \ge 1.$$

### 5 Pointwise Multiplier Operators

Say that 1 and <math>1 = 1/p + 1/p' with  $f \in L^{p,\lambda}(\mu)$  and  $g \in L^{p',\lambda}(\mu)$ , respectively. The Hölder inequality will then result in  $||f \cdot g : L^{1,\lambda}(\mu)|| \le ||f : L^{p,\lambda}(\mu)|| \cdot ||g : L^{p',\lambda}(\mu)||$ .

We will examine a pointwise multiplier operator W by

 $W: f\mapsto W\cdot f, \quad \text{with} \quad [W\cdot f](x):=W(x)\cdot f(x), \quad x\in \mathbb{R}^n.$ 

Therefore, based on the Hölder inequality, if  $W \in L^{p',\lambda}(\mu)$ , then W is a bounded operator from  $L^{p,\lambda}(\mu)$  to  $L^{1,\lambda}(\mu)$ , with  $||W \cdot f : L^{1,\lambda}(\mu)|| \le ||W : L^{p',\lambda}(\mu)|| \cdot ||f : L^{p,\lambda}(\mu)||$ , 1 .

The following is another illustration. Assume we take a look at a fractional integral operator  $I_{\alpha}$ , and we define

$$W \cdot I_{\alpha} : f \mapsto W \cdot I_{\alpha} f$$
, with  $[W \cdot I_{\alpha} f](x) := W(x) \cdot I_{\alpha} f(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ .

Reiterating the previous point, given that  $1 and <math>1/q + \alpha/n = 1/p$  are both affected by the Hölder inequality, we get

$$\|W \cdot I_{\alpha}f : L^{p,\lambda}\| \le \|W : L^{n/\alpha,\lambda}\| \cdot \|I_{\alpha}f : L^{q,\lambda}\| \le C\|W : L^{n/\alpha,\lambda}\| \cdot \|f : L^{p,\lambda}\|.$$

In other words, if  $W \in L^{n/\alpha,\lambda}$ , then  $W \cdot I_{\alpha} : L^{p,\lambda} \to L^{p,\lambda}$  is a bounded operator. From our primary findings, we also have the following.

**Corollary 5.1** Assume  $\nu$  is any measure on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and  $\mu \in (GC)$ . If  $f \in L^{1,\lambda}(\nu)$ ,  $W \in L^{s',\lambda}(\mu)$  and  $G_{\rho,\gamma} \in L^s(\mu)$  are true, then

$$W \cdot I_{\rho,\gamma} : L^{1,\lambda}(\nu) \to L^{1,\lambda}(\mu)$$

is a bounded operator. To put it another way, for any  $s \in [1,\infty)$ , there exists  $C_s > 0$  such that

$$||W \cdot I_{\rho,\gamma}f : L^{1,\lambda}(\mu)|| \le C_s ||W : L^{s',\lambda}(\mu)|| \cdot ||G_{\rho,\gamma} : L^s(\mu)|| \cdot ||f : L^{1,\lambda}(\nu)||.$$

**Corollary 5.2** Suppose  $\mu, \nu \in (GC)$ . If  $f \in L^{s,\lambda}(\nu)$ ,  $W \in L^{s',\lambda}(\mu)$ , and  $G_{\rho,\gamma} \in L^{p',\lambda}(\mu)$ , then  $W \cdot I_{\rho,\gamma} : L^{s,\lambda}(\nu) \to L^{1,\lambda}(\mu)$ 

is a bounded operator. That is, for every  $s \in [1, \infty)$ , there exists  $C_s > 0$  such that

$$||W \cdot I_{\rho,\gamma}f : L^{1,\lambda}(\mu)|| \le C ||G_{\rho,\gamma} : L^{1}(\mu)|| \cdot ||W : L^{p',\lambda}(\mu)|| \cdot ||f : L^{s,\lambda}(\nu)||$$

The next result is our last corollary.

**Corollary 5.3** Suppose 
$$1/s + 1/q' = 1/p$$
, and  $\mu, \nu \in (GC)$ .  
If  $f \in L^{p,\lambda}(\nu)$ ,  $W \in L^{q',\lambda}(\mu)$  and  $G_{\rho,\gamma} \in L^q(\mu)$ , then  
 $W \cdot I_{\rho,\gamma} : L^{p,\lambda}(\nu) \to L^{p,\lambda}(\mu)$ 

is a bounded operator. That is, there exists C > 0 such that

$$||W \cdot I_{\rho,\gamma}f : L^{p,\lambda}(\mu)|| \le C ||G_{\rho,\gamma} : L^q(\mu)|| \cdot ||W : L^{q',\lambda}(\mu)|| \cdot ||f : L^{p,\lambda}(\nu)||.$$

## 6 Conclusions

As a result of this investigation, we have learned that generalized Bessel-Riesz operators defined with doubling measures in Morrey spaces with various measures are working toward boundedness. Regarding Bessel decay, the kernel of the operators satisfies a few essential characteristics. To prove that the integral operators are bounded, we used the Young, Hölder, and Minköwski inequalities and a doubling measure. The norm of these generalized operators is similarly bounded by the norm of their respective kernels, but with different measures, according to our investigation of the relationship between the kernel's parameters and generalized integral operators. The Bessel-Riesz kernel is used in studying the behavior of the solution of a Schrödinger type equation [3] which is related to quantum mechanics. In future we will consider it for the generalized Bessel-Riesz kernel. [11] investigated a new discrete chaotic system with rational fraction including the symmetry. Furthermore, symmetry properties of a nonlinear two-dimensional spacefractional diffusion equation with the Riesz potential of the order  $\alpha \in (0, 1)$  will be further considered.

## 7 Acknowledgment

During the second author's 2019 visit to the Faculty of Engineering Sciences at Bahria University, Islamabad, some of this work was completed. By way of the staff exchange program, Airlangga University also provided funding for the second author.

## 8 Availability Statement

While the results of the research are being commercialized, the data that were used to support the findings of this study are currently under embargo. After the publication of this article, requests for data will be taken into consideration by the corresponding author.

## References

- S. Mehmood, E. Eridani and F. Fatmawati. A Note about Young's Inequality with Different Measures. International Journal of Mathematics and Mathematical Sciences 2 (2022) 1–8.
- [2] A. Raheem and M. Kumar. Some results on controllability for a class of non-integer order differential equations with impulses, *Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory* 22 (3) (2022) 330–340.
- [3] K. Kurata, Nishigaki and S. Sugano. Boundedness of integral operators on generalized Morrey spaces and its application to Schrödinger operators. *Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society* (1999) **128** (4) 1125–1134.
- [4] M. Idris, H. Gunawan, J. Lindiarni and Eridani. The boundedness of Bessel-Riesz operators on Morrey spaces. In: AIP Conference Proceedings 1729 (1) (2016) p. 020006.
- [5] F. Chiarenza. Morrey spaces and Hardy-Littlewood maximal function. Rend. Mat. Appl. 7 (3) (1987) 273–279.
- [6] A. Eridani, V. Kokilashvili and A. Meskhi. Morrey spaces and fractional integral operators. Expositiones Mathematicae 27 (3) (2009) 227–239.
- [7] S. Mehmood, E. Eridani and F. Fatmawati. Morrey spaces and boundedness of Bessel-Riesz operators. In: AIP Conference Proceedings, AIP Publishing LLC. 2329 (2021) p. 030001.

## S. MEHMOOD, ERIDANI, FATMAWATI AND W. RAZA

- [8] V. I. Burenkov and H. V. Guliyev. Necessary and sufficient conditions for boundedness of the maximal operator in local Morrey-type spaces. *Studia Mathematica* 163 (2004) 157–176.
- [9] V.I. Burenkov, H.V. Guliyev and V.S. Guliyev. Necessary and sufficient conditions for the boundedness of fractional maximal operators in local Morrey-type spaces. *Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics* 208 (1) (2007) 280–301.
- [10] L. Grafakos. Classical Fourier analysis, vol. 2. Springer, 2008.
- [11] S. Rouar and O. Zehrour. A New Fractional-Order Three-Dimensional Chaotic Flows with Identical Eigenvalues. Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory 22 (4) (2022) 447–456.
Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory, 23 (1) (2023) 69-78



## Tsunami Wave Simulation in the Presense of a Barrier

K. Oktafianto <sup>1</sup>, A. Z. Arifin <sup>1</sup>, E. F. Kurniawati <sup>1</sup>, T. Tafrikan <sup>2</sup>, T. Herlambang <sup>3\*</sup> and F. Yudianto <sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Mathematics, University of PGRI Ronggolawe, Indonesia.

<sup>2</sup> Department of Mathematics, Universitas Islam Negeri Walisongo, Indonesia.

<sup>3</sup> Department of Information System, Universitas Nahdlatul Ulama Surabaya, Indonesia.

Received: November 20, 2021; Revised: January 9, 2023

**Abstract:** A tsunami is a series of waves that are generally caused by a vertical change in the seabed due to an earthquake beneath or on the seabed. Tsunamis usually strike coastal areas and result in damage to the shoreline, it can destroy buildings and roads and even take the lives of those who are in the area. One way to reduce the impact of a tsunami is to know the dangers of a tsunami, including natural signs. So, in this paper, it is shown by numerical simulation using the finite difference method, namely, by adding a barrier to the shallow water wave equation. The simulation results obtained in the presence of a barrier, show that the Tsunami waves are split due to hitting the barrier and experience a reduction in wave strength.

Keywords: tsunami; shallow water equation; finite difference method.

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010): 65L12, 76M20.

#### 1 Introduction

Indonesia as a country that is located between three world plates, namely, the Eurasian, Indoaustralian and Pacific plates, has a high potential for natural disasters [1,2]. These plates have a high seismic activity, which causes the emergence of many natural disasters [3,4], one of which is the occurrence of earthquakes as a primary impact of seismic activity and tsunamis as a secondary impact [2].

Tsunamis are one of the most dangerous natural disasters and damage the area around the coast [5]. Tsunamis arise as a result of displacement of large volumes of water due to earthquakes, volcanic eruptions, landslides or other phenomena that occur above or below the seabed [6]. The sea waves are not dangerous if their height does not exceed

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author: mailto:teguh@unusa.ac.id

<sup>© 2023</sup> InforMath Publishing Group/1562-8353 (print)/1813-7385 (online)/http://e-ndst.kiev.ua 69

#### K. OKTAFIANTO, et al

1 meter. However, it becomes disastrous when the wave energy is concentrated and the wavelength is greater than the depth of the sea. When the wave enters the shallow water zone, the wave velocity at the foreshore decreases sharply and the wave height increases tenfold [5].

The impact of the tsunami waves causes huge losses to humans, both in terms of the large number of casualties and the large losses in the economic field. Coastal areas affected by tsunami waves require a long time and expensive economic resources to restore [7]. Recorded in the last two decades, there have been 12 tsunamis out of 252 earthquakes with a total loss of 79.5 trillion rupiah [8]. Based on this, to minimize losses that will occur, disaster mitigation is needed.

Based on Law of the Republic of Indonesia Number 24 of 2007 concerning disaster management, mitigation is defined as a series of efforts to reduce disaster risk, both through physical development and awareness and increased capacity to face disaster threats. The embodiment of examples of mitigation activities is spatial planning, development arrangements, arrangements for infrastructure development and building layout, as well as the provision of education, counseling and training, both conventional and modern. In Indonesia, orientation in minimizing disaster risk is more towards emergency or curative handling and has not yet led to preventive aspects [9]. Therefore, it is necessary to improve the understanding of physical, engineering and social factors related to disaster mitigation implementation.

According to the initial joint rapid assessment report by the Central BMKG, BNPB, National Media, regional PUSDALOPS and community responses in the evaluation of the tsunami early warning system in the event of the Aceh earthquake and tsunami on April 11, 2012, no one really knew when the tsunami hit an area and how big was the strength of the tsunami until the time was so critical, it quickly passed and the earthquake was felt until the impact of the first wave [11]. The danger from tsunami waves is so unpredictable, sudden and extraordinary, it is almost impossible to avoid it [5]. However, other countries experiencing similar disasters have carried out several related studies in minimizing disaster risk by constructing tsunami barriers using analytical research methods and numerical modeling approaches [5].

The shallow water equation is commonly used in describing fluid problems that are based on physical conservation. With increased computation capabilities and refinement of the numerical aspects related to boundary conditions, it is possible to overcome the inherent limitations of the classical depth mean model. Shallow water equation models have been widely applied in atmospheric flows, storms, water flows around the pier, tsunami prediction, and so on.

Research on fluid computing has been widely studied, including the Airway Pressure Valve [12], Solitary Wave [13], Navier-Stokes Equation [14], Shallow Water Equation [15], [16]. The shallow water equations can be solved using the finite difference method. The method used to solve partial differential equations is the finite difference method [17,18].

In this paper, the concept of a tsunami barrier as an obstacle is presented as an attempt to deal with a complex breakwater configuration. The breakwater is studied to identify the hydrodynamic induced tsunami.

#### 2 Research Method

## 2.1 Finite difference method

The Finite Difference Method is a method used in solving Partial Differential Equations (PDP) which can be used to approach the Taylor series [19]. The differential equation is an estimate of the value  $\delta$  at the calculation points  $U_{1,1}, U_{1,2}, \ldots, U_{i,j}, \ldots$  for the estimation it can be done by substituting the derivative of the partial differential equation using the difference estimate up to [20].

The first derivative can be calculated using the forward difference approach with  $\frac{\partial u}{\partial x} \frac{\partial u}{\partial y}$  and  $\frac{\partial u}{\partial t}$  of a differential equation based on the Taylor series which can be written as below:

$$\frac{\partial u(x,y,t)}{\partial x} = \frac{1}{\Delta x} \left( u(x + \Delta x, y, t) \right) - u(x,y,t), \tag{1}$$

$$\frac{\partial u(x,y,t)}{\partial y} = \frac{1}{\Delta y} \left( u(x,y+\Delta y,t) \right) - u(x,y,t), \tag{2}$$

$$\frac{\partial u(x,y,t)}{\partial t} = \frac{1}{\Delta t} \left( u(x,y,t+\Delta t) \right) - u(x,y,t).$$
(3)

If the approach is backwards, the first derivatives of  $\frac{\partial u}{\partial x} \frac{\partial u}{\partial y}$  and  $\frac{\partial u}{\partial t}$  can be written as below:

$$\frac{\partial u(x,y,t)}{\partial x} = \frac{1}{\Delta x} \left( u(x + \Delta x, y, t) \right) - u(x - \Delta x, y, t), \tag{4}$$

$$\frac{\partial u(x,y,t)}{\partial y} = \frac{1}{\Delta y} \left( u(x + \Delta x, y, t) \right) - u(x, y - \Delta y, t), \tag{5}$$

$$\frac{\partial u(x,y,t)}{\partial t} = \frac{1}{\Delta t} \left( u(x + \Delta x, y, t) \right) - u(x,y,t - \Delta t).$$
(6)

Second order center order is obtained:

~ ?

$$\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x^2} = \frac{1}{\Delta x^2} \left( u(x + \Delta x, y, t) - 2u(x, y, t) - u(x - \Delta x, y, t) \right), \tag{7}$$

$$\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial y^2} = \frac{1}{\Delta y^2} \left( u(x, y + \Delta y, t) - 2u(x, y, t) - u(x, y - \Delta y, t) \right), \tag{8}$$

$$\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial t^2} = \frac{1}{\Delta t^2} \left( u(x, y, t + \Delta t) - 2u(x, y, t) - u(x, y, t - \Delta t) \right).$$
(9)

When using the subscript index i which is used to express the discrete point x, as well as the subscript index j which is used in expressing the discrete point y, and also the subscript index n used in expressing the discrete point t, it can be written as the equation below:

$$\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x^2} = \frac{\bigcup_{i+1,j}^n - 2 \bigcup_{i,j}^n + \bigcup_{i-1,j}^n}{\partial x^2}, \tag{10}$$

$$\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial y^2} = \frac{\bigcup_{i,j+1}^n - 2 \bigcup_{i,j}^n + \bigcup_{i=1,j}^n}{\partial y^2}, \tag{11}$$

$$\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial t^2} = \frac{\bigcup_{i,j}^{n+1} - 2 \bigcup_{i,j}^n + \bigcup_{i=1,j}^{n-1}}{\partial t^2}.$$
(12)

#### K. OKTAFIANTO, et al

## 2.2 Shallow water equation

The shallow water equation is generally used to model a surface wave of water that is influenced by gravity, for example, a wave flow on the surface of the seashore, lake, river, or on a smaller domain such as the water surface in a bathtub [16].



Figure 1: Shallow Water System Illustration [20].

The shallow water equation will take effect when the wavelength is greater than the depth. For a one-dimensional problem, the shallow water equation is stated as follows:

$$h_t + (uh)_x = 0, (13)$$

$$(hu)_t + \left(hu^2 + \frac{1}{2}gh^2\right)_x = 0.$$
 (14)

Meanwhile, for a two-dimensional problem, the shallow water equation is stated as follows:

$$h_t + (hu)_x + (hv)_y = 0, (15)$$

$$(hu)_t + \left(hu^2 + \frac{1}{2}gh^2\right)_x + (huv)_y = 0,$$
(16)

$$(hu)_t + (huv)_x + \left(hu^2 + \frac{1}{2}gh^2\right)_y = 0, \qquad (17)$$

where g is the Earth's gravitational constant, h is the height of the sea surface, (u, v) is the vector of the velocity of the water flow, and hu and hv are the momentum in two directions [16].

## 3 Result and Discussion

## 3.1 Tsunami wave analysis

In this study, the model used is a model of the shallow water equation to simulate the movement of a tsunami wave that has resistance by using the finite difference method. The shallow water equation comes from the mass conservation equation and the conservation of linear momentum (Navier-Stokes equation).

The mass equation in volume is defined as follows:

$$\frac{\partial m}{\partial t} = \rho u(x)h(x) - \rho u(x+dx)h(x+dx)$$
$$= -\rho \frac{\partial (uh)}{\partial x} dx,$$

assuming  $m = \rho h \, dx$ , we obtain

$$\frac{\partial m}{\partial t} = -\rho \frac{\partial(uh)}{\partial x} dx,$$

$$\frac{\partial \rho h}{\partial t} dx = -\rho \frac{\partial(uh)}{\partial x} dx,$$

$$\frac{\partial h}{\partial t} = -\frac{\partial(uh)}{\partial x},$$

$$\frac{\partial h}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial(uh)}{\partial x} = 0,$$

$$h_t + (uh)_x = 0.$$
(18)

Based on Newton's laws of motion applied to volume, we define

$$F = m\frac{du}{dt} = -\rho gh\frac{\partial h}{\partial x}dx$$

by applying  $m = \rho h dx$ , we then obtain

en obtain  

$$m\frac{du}{dt} = -\rho gh\frac{\partial h}{\partial x}dx,$$

$$\rho hdx\frac{du}{dt} = -\rho gh\frac{\partial h}{\partial x}dx,$$

$$\frac{du}{dt} = -g\frac{\partial h}{\partial x}.$$

Then the chain rule is applied to  $\frac{d}{dt}$ , we obtain

$$\frac{du}{dt} = \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} + \frac{dx}{dt}\frac{\partial u}{\partial x};$$
$$= \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} + u\frac{\partial u}{\partial x}.$$

So the equation is expressed by

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} + u \frac{\partial u}{\partial x} = -g \frac{\partial h}{\partial x},$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} + u \frac{\partial u}{\partial x} \end{pmatrix} dx = \left( -g \frac{\partial h}{\partial x} \right) dx,$$

$$h \left( \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} + u \frac{\partial u}{\partial x} \right) = -\frac{1}{2}gh \frac{\partial h}{\partial x},$$

$$h \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} + hu \frac{\partial u}{\partial x} = -\frac{1}{2}gh \frac{\partial h}{\partial x},$$

$$h \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} + hu \frac{\partial u}{\partial x} = 0,$$

$$(hu)_t + \left( hu^2 + \frac{1}{2}gh^2 \right)_x = 0.$$
(19)

## K. OKTAFIANTO, et al

For the problems adopted in this study, the shallow water equation does not have a Coriolis force. Thus, equation (15) is based on equation (18), while equation (16) and equation (17) are based on equation (19).

## 3.2 Discretization of tsunami wave time

Based on the shallow water equation which is approached by the finite difference method, equations 4, 5 and 6 are substituted in equations 16 and 17 in order to obtain

$$\begin{split} u(i,j,n+1) &= \frac{(u(i+1,j,n)+u(i-1,j,n)+u(i,j+1,n)+u(i,j-1,n))}{4} \\ &-\frac{1}{2}\frac{dt}{dx}\left(\frac{u(i+1,j,n)^2}{2}-\frac{u(i-1,j,n)2}{2}\right) \\ &-\frac{1}{2}\frac{dt}{dy}v(i,j,n)\left(u(i,j+1,n)-u(i,j-1,n)\right) \\ &-\frac{1}{2}g\frac{dt}{dx}\left(h(i+1,j,n)-h(i-1,j,n)\right), \\ v(i,j,n+1) &= \frac{(v(i+1,j,n)+v(i-1,j,n)+v(i,j+1,n)+v(i,j-1,n))}{4} \\ &-\frac{1}{2}\frac{dt}{dy}\left(\frac{v(i,j+1,n)^2}{2}-\frac{v(i,j+1,n)2}{2}\right) \\ &-\frac{1}{2}g\frac{dt}{dy}\left(h(i,j,n)\left(v(i+1,j,n)-v(i-1,j,n)\right) \\ &-\frac{1}{2}g\frac{dt}{dy}\left(h(i,j+1,n)-h(i,j-1,n)\right), \end{split} \right. \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} h(i,j,n+1) &= \frac{(h(i+1,j,n)+h(i-1,j,n)+h(i,j+1,n)+h(i,j-1,n))}{4} \\ &-\frac{1}{2}\frac{dt}{dx}u(i,j,n)\left(h(i+1,j,n)-b(i+1,j)\right) \\ &-(h(i-1,j,n)-b(i-1,j)) \\ &-\frac{1}{2}\frac{dt}{dy}v(i,j,n)\left(h(i,j+1,n)-b(i,j+1)\right) \\ &-(h(i,j-1,n)-b(i,j-1)) \\ &-\frac{1}{2}\frac{dt}{dx}\left(h(i,j,n)-b(i,j)\right)\left(u(i+1,j,n)-u(i-1,j,n)\right) \\ &-\frac{1}{2}\frac{dt}{dy}\left(h(i,j,n)-b(i,j)\right)\left(v(i,j+1,n)-v(i,j-1,n)\right) \end{split}$$

with the following boundary conditions:

$$\begin{split} u(1,i,n+1) &= \frac{10}{4}u(2,i,n+1) - 2u(3,i,n+1) + \frac{1}{2}u(4,i,n+1), \\ v(1,i,n+1) &= \frac{10}{4}v(2,i,n+1) - 2v(3,i,n+1) + \frac{1}{2}v(4,i,n+1), \\ h(1,i,n+1) &= \frac{10}{4}h(2,i,n+1) - 2h(3,i,n+1) + \frac{1}{2}h(4,i,n+1). \end{split}$$

The initial simulation of the formation of a wave (t = 1) is shown in Figure 2. At t = 1, it is assumed to be the time when the tsunami first appearance on the surface after a shift in the earth's plate under the sea. So its first appears on the surface is very large at the starting point of its appearance, then it travels towards the mainland.



Figure 2: Tsunami Wave Simulation at t = 1.

Figure 2 shows simulation of a tsunami wave that appears to have a height that exceeds the height of the barrier by a height of 8 meters above sea level. Then, at the next time, the tsunami waves will move around, one of which being towards the shallow water where a barrier has been built. Based on the simulation, the tsunami wave will experience a collision with the barrier in 35 seconds since the initial appearance of the tsunami.



Figure 3: Tsunami Wave Simulation at t = 40.

The collision of the wave with the barrier is shown in Figure 3. As a result of the collision with the tsunami wave barrier, it breaks and can be suppressed. The damping

by the barrier means that the area behind the barrier is not directly affected by the tsunami. The tsunami waves hit the area behind the barrier due to the impact of the tsunami from the area that is not protected by the barrier. The impact is not as high as that of a tsunami wave without a barrier.



Figure 4: Tsunami Wave Simulation at t = 65.



Figure 5: Tsunami Wave Simulation at t = 100.

Figure 4 shows the condition of the tsunami waves behind the damping barrier. The damping process is carried out continuously by the barrier that has been formed, until the waves calm down again. This condition is shown in Figure 5.

#### 4 Conclusion

Numerical solutions and simulations have been carried out for the shallow water equation to represent a tsunami wave with the construction of a barrier. It is known that the construction of an obstacle can break up tsunami waves and can reduce the strength of the waves. Thus, if it is realized, it can really be an effort to reduce the impact of the tsunami disaster.

#### Acknowledgment

We gratefully acknowledge the support from LPPM - Universitas Nahdlatul Ulama Surabaya (UNUSA).

#### References

- R. P. Yanti, S. Suharsono, I. R. Palupi and W. Hidayat. Preventive Toward Earthquake's Disaster in West Sumatera Based on Geophysic Analysis. *Jurnal Dialog Penanggulangan Bencana* 8 (1) (2017) 13–20.
- [2] T. W. Wibowo, D. Mardiatno and S. Sunarto. Pemetaan Risiko Tsunami terhadap Bangunan secara Kuantitatif. *Majalah Geografi Indonesia*. **31** (2) (2017) 68–78.
- [3] E. Krausmann and A. M. Cruz. Impact of the 11 March, 2011 Great East Japan Eartquake and Tsunami on the Chemical Industry. *National Hazards.* 67 (2) (2013) 811–828.
- [4] L. Hamzah, N.T. Puspito and F. Imamura. Tsunami Catalog and Zones in Indonesia. Journal of Natural Disaster Science. 22 (1) (2000) 25–43.
- [5] B. V. Boshenyatov and K. N. Zhiltsov. Simulation of the Interaction of Tsunami Waves with Underwater Barriers. In: International Conference on the Methods of Aerophysical Research (ICMAR 2016). AIP Conf. Proc. 1770, 030088-1.030088-9.
- [6] A. Tan, A. K. Chilvery, M. Dokhanian and S. H. Crutcher. Tsunami Propagation Models Based on First Principles. *InTech.* (2012) 107–140.
- [7] M. D. Jesus, J. L. Lara and I. J. Losada. Numerical Modeling of Tsunami Waves Interaction with Porous and Impermeable Vertical Barriers. *Journal of Applied Mathematics* 2012 1– 27.
- [8] S. Gerintya. Gempa dan Tsunami: Mitigasi Buruk, Kerugian Tinggi. Tirto.Id, 2018.
- [9] R. Djalante, M. Garschagen, F. Thomalla and R. Shaw. Disaster Risk Reduction in Indonesia: Progress, Challenges and Issues. Springer International Publishing 2017 1–17.
- [10] K. Nourse. Tsunami Evacuation Drill Guidebook: How to Plan a Community-Wide Tsunami Evacuation Drill. Salem, Oregon Office of Emergency Management, 2017.
- [11] J. Murjaya. Tsunami Early Warning Service Guidebook for InaTEWS II. Badan Meteorologi Klimatologi dan Geofisika, Jakarta Pusat, 2012.
- [12] S. Bentouati, M. I. Soualhi, A. A. E. Hadj and H. Yeklef. Design and Analysis of Continuous Positive Airway Pressure Valve Using a 3D Printing and Computational Fluid Dynamic. *Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory* **21** (3) **2021** 229–237.
- [13] M. Alquran, A. Jarrah and E.V. Krishnan. Solitary Wave Solutions of the Phi-Four Equation and the Breaking Soliton System by Means of Jacobi Elliptic Sine-Cosine Expansion Method. Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory 18 (3) 2021 233-240.
- [14] K. Hu, C. G. Mingham, and D. M. Causon. Numerical Simulation of Wave Overtopping of Coastal Structures Using the Non-Linear Shallow Water Equations. *Coast. Eng.* 41 (4) 2000 433–465.

#### K. OKTAFIANTO, et al

- [15] D. Muliyati, D. Ambarwulan, W. Sinarno, D. Sumardani, F. Bakri, H. Permana, and A. S. T. Putri. Simulation of Ocean Waves in Coastal Areas Using the Shallow-Water Equation. Journal of Physics: Conference Series 1402 (7) (2019) 077025.
- [16] A.Z. Arifin. Simulasi Dampak Penghalang pada Gelombang Tsunami Menggunakan Persamaan Air Dangkal dengan Metode Beda Hingga. Jambura Journal Of Mathematics 3 (2) 2021 93–102.
- [17] O. M. Stanzhytskyi, S. G. Karakenova and R. E. Uteshova. Averaging Method and Boundary Value Problems for Systems of Fredholm Integro-Differential Equations. *Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory* **21** (1) **2021** 100–114.
- [18] K. Al-Khaled. Existence and Approximation of Solutions for Systems of First Order Differential Equations. Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory 18 (4) 2021 319–330.
- [19] A. Kaushik. Numerical Methods for Engineers (with programs in MATLAB). Rajinde Kumar Jain, Nai Sarak, Delhi. 2018.
- [20] E. Kreyszig. Advanced Engineering Mathemathics. United States of America, Luarie Rosatone, 2011.

Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory, 23(1) (2023) 79-94



## Analysis of Dengue Disease Transmission Model with General Incidence Functions

Harouna Ouedraogo $^{1\ast}$  and Aboudramane Guiro $^2$ 

 <sup>1</sup> Department of Mathematics, Joseph Ki-Zerbo University, 03 bp 7021 Ouagadougou 03 Burkina Faso.
 <sup>2</sup> Department of Mathematics, Nazi Boni University, 01 bp 1091 Bobo-Dioulasso 01 Burkina Faso.

Received: March 11, 2022; Revised: January 9, 2023

**Abstract:** In this work, we propose a non-linear system of differential equations that models the dynamics of transmission of dengue fever. Then, we perform a stability analysis of this model. In particular, we prove that when the threshold of the model called the basic reproduction ratio is less than unity, the disease-free equilibrium is globally asymptotically stable. Furthermore, when this value is greater than unity, under suitable conditions, the endemic equilibrium is globally asymptotically stable. Some numerical simulations are provided to illustrate the obtained theoretical results. We also propose a global sensitivity analysis of the basic reproduction ratio.

**Keywords:** dengue; general incidence function; mathematical analysis; basic reproduction number; Lyapunov function; stability analysis; sensitivity.

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010): 70K75, 93C15, 34D23.

#### 1 Introduction

Mathematical modelling and numerical simulation are important decision tools that can be used to study and control human and animal diseases [1, 2]. However, to tackle real situations, the resulting models need to be adapted to each specific disease and its biological characteristics [3].

From a general point of view, mathematical models are used to predict the behaviour of a disease in a particular population [4,5]. In particular, they help to determine if the disease under consideration will be endemic (i.e., it remains active in the population)

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author: mailto:oharounao@gmail.com

<sup>© 2023</sup> InforMath Publishing Group/1562-8353 (print)/1813-7385 (online)/http://e-ndst.kiev.ua 79

#### HAROUNA OUEDRAOGO AND ABOUDRAMANE GUIRO

or not (i.e., it disappears). In this work, we introduce and study a particular mathematical model to estimate the dynamic of the so-called dengue fever disease in a human population.

Dengue disease is a common arboviral disease in tropical regions and the mediterranean. It is transmitted to humans by the bite of *Aedes mosquitoes*. Four serotypes have been recognized, they are denoted by DEN-I, DEN-II, DEN-III, and DEN-IV. These viruses are carried by two kinds of mosquitoes referred to as *Aedes aegypti* and *Aedes albopictus* which spread the disease through their bite. However, *Aedes aegypti* has been the principal vector of dengue virus transmission. Another interesting fact is the shift of patients phenomena when dengue fever previously attacked children of primary school age, but now everybody is vulnerable to the fever [6]. Dengue viruses can infect only a restricted number of vertebrates but it is an essentially human disease. Infection for any dengue serotype produces permanent immunity to it, but apparently only temporary cross immunity to other serotypes. Therefore, individuals that live in dengue endemic areas can have more than one infection of dengue disease. It is considered that human population growth and the dramatic redistribution of the human population in the urban centers of developing countries have contributed to the introduction and enhancement of dengue fever [7].

Mathematical models and methods of non-linear dynamic are used in comparing, planning, implementing, evaluating and optimizing various detection, prevention, therapy and control programmes [8, 9]. Thus, mathematical models are a useful tool to better understand the mechanisms that allow the spread of a dengue epidemic and then to increase the efficiency of the vector control strategy. There are a number of mathematical expert models for dengue fever which involve differential equations. In general, they use compartmental dynamic such as susceptible, infected, removed (SIR) and susceptible, exposed, infected, removed (SEIR). In [10], the authors formulated stochastic models for dengue in the presence of Wolbachia. This research aims to measure the effectiveness of the Wolbachia intervention to reduce dengue transmission. It determines the proportion of reduction in the basic reproduction number and also the probability of extinction. Putri et al. (see [11]) proposed the study where the aim is to forecast and analyze the spread of COVID-19 outbreak in Indonesia by applying machine learning and hybrid approaches. Abdelhamid Zaghdani (see [9]) formulated a modified SEIR mathematical model for the coronavirus infected disease-2019 (COVID-19). The author computed the basic reproduction number  $(\mathcal{R}_0)$  and proposed a qualitative analysis of the local and global stability of the equilibrium points.

In this paper, our aim is to study the dengue epidemic model presented and studied in [5] by J. J. Tewa *et al.* with the law of mass action as the incidence functions. The similar model was presented and studied in [12]. It appears that the incidence function form is determinative in the study of the model system. Then, changing the form of the incidence function can potentially change the behaviour of the system. In this work, we study a coupling model (Humans and Vectors) with two general incidence functions given by f, g. From the analysis of the global stability of the equilibrium points, we used the same technique as in Guiro *et al.* [13]. We find conditions on the incidence function to get the stability of the model.

This paper is organized as follows. In Section 2, we describe the mathematical model which is studied in the paper. In Section 3, we give the equilibrium points, the basic reproduction number, we define also a positive invariant and attractive set, which will be used in the studies of the stability of equilibrium points. In Section 4, we study the stability of equilibrium points. Section 6 contains the numerical result and comments. Section 7 is devoted to the analysis of global sensitivity of the parameters in the basic reproduction number  $\mathcal{R}_0$ . We end by the conclusion.

## 2 Description of the Model

In this section, we recall the model studied in [5] by J. J. Tewa *et al.*, which is given with a particular incidence function as follows:

$$\begin{cases} \dot{S}_{H} = \mu_{H}N_{H} - \frac{\beta_{H}b}{N_{H} + m}S_{H}I_{V} - \mu_{H}S_{H}, \\ \dot{I}_{H} = \frac{\beta_{H}b}{N_{H} + m}S_{H}I_{V} - (\mu_{H} + \gamma_{H})I_{H}, \\ \dot{R}_{H} = \gamma_{H}I_{H} - \mu_{H}R_{H}, \\ \dot{S}_{V} = A - \frac{\beta_{V}b}{N_{H} + m}S_{V}I_{H} - \mu_{V}S_{V}, \\ \dot{I}_{V} = \frac{\beta_{V}b}{N_{H} + m}S_{V}I_{H} - \mu_{V}I_{V}. \end{cases}$$
(1)

The model above is described as follows: the human and vector populations are divided into classes or states containing susceptible, infective and immune individuals. At time t, there are the susceptible humans  $(S_H)$  and the infectious humans  $(I_H)$ , we assume that the infectious humans recover (or get treated) at a constant rate  $\gamma_H$ ,  $\mu_H + \gamma_H$ is the total exit of the infectious humans,  $R_H$  are the immune humans,  $S_V$  are the susceptible mosquitoes and  $I_V$  are the infectious mosquitoes. The mosquito population does not have an immune class since their infectious period ends with their death. Let  $N_H = S_H + I_H + R_H$  and  $N_V = S_V + I_V$  be, respectively, the total human and vector population at time t. Total death in the mosquito population occurs at a rate  $\mu_V N_V$ , where  $\mu_V$  is the per capita mortality rate of mosquitoes. In this model, it is assumed that the human population has constant size with the birth and death rate constant number equal to  $\mu_H$ . Also, for the mosquito population, it is assumed a constant recruitment rate A, independent of the actual number of adult mosquitoes. It is admitted that the flow from the susceptible to the infectious class, for each species, depends on the biting rate of the mosquitoes, the transmission probabilities, as well as the number of infectious and susceptible of each species.

Let b denote the biting rate of mosquitoes, which is the average number of bites per mosquito per day. m denotes the number of alternative hosts available as blood sources, then the probability that a mosquito chooses a human individual as a host is given by  $\frac{N_H}{N_H + m}$ . Thus, it is admitted that a human receives  $b \frac{N_V}{N_H} \frac{N_H}{N_H + m}$  bites per unit of time, and a mosquito takes  $\frac{bN_H}{N_H + m}$  human blood meals per unit of time. Then, the infection rates per susceptible human and susceptible vector are given by

$$\beta_H b \frac{N_V}{N_H} \frac{N_H}{N_H + m} \frac{I_V}{N_V} = \frac{\beta_H b}{N_H + m} I_V,$$
$$\beta_V b \frac{N_H}{N_H + m} \frac{I_H}{N_H} = \frac{\beta_V b}{N_H + m} I_H,$$

#### HAROUNA OUEDRAOGO AND ABOUDRAMANE GUIRO

respectively. Here  $\beta_H$  is the transmission probability from a vector to a human and  $\beta_V$  is the transmission probability from a human to a vector.

The aim of our work is to generalize the model (1) with the incidence function as the general incidence functions f and g. The interaction between the human population and the vector population is given by the following diagram, see Figure 1:



Figure 1: Transfer diagram for the mathematical model of dengue.

Then, according to Figure 1, we have the following system of five differential equations:  $\tilde{}$ 

$$\begin{cases} \dot{S}_{H} = \dot{\Lambda} - f(S_{H}, I_{V}) - \mu_{H}S_{H}, \\ \dot{I}_{H} = f(S_{H}, I_{V}) - (\mu_{H} + \gamma_{H})I_{H}, \\ \dot{R}_{H} = \gamma_{H}I_{H} - \mu_{H}R_{H}, \\ \dot{S}_{V} = A - g(S_{V}, I_{H}) - \mu_{V}S_{V}, \\ \dot{I}_{V} = g(S_{V}, I_{H}) - \mu_{V}I_{V}. \end{cases}$$
(2)

In the system (2), we use the same constant and the same subdivision of the human population and the vector population as described in the system (1).

Since  $R_H$  does not appear in the first and second equations of system (2), it is sufficient to analyse the behavior of solutions of the following system:

$$\begin{cases} \dot{S}_{H} = \tilde{\Lambda} - f(S_{H}, I_{V}) - \mu_{H}S_{H}, \\ \dot{I}_{H} = f(S_{H}, I_{V}) - (\mu_{H} + \gamma_{H})I_{H}, \\ \dot{S}_{V} = A - g(S_{V}, I_{H}) - \mu_{V}S_{V}, \\ \dot{I}_{V} = g(S_{V}, I_{H}) - \mu_{V}I_{V}. \end{cases}$$
(3)

We assume that the functions f and g satisfy the following hypotheses:

**H1** f and g are non-negative  $C^1$  functions in the non-negative orthant.

**H2** For all  $(S_H, I_H, R_H, S_V, I_V) \in \mathbb{R}^5_+$ , f(S, 0) = f(0, I) = 0 and g(S, 0) = g(0, I) = 0. Also, we denote by  $f_1, g_1$  and  $f_2, g_2$  the partial derivative of f and g with respect to S and I.

82

**Remark 2.1** f and g are two incidence functions which explain the contact between two species. Therefore, **H2** is a natural assumption which means that if there is no infected in the human and vector populations, then the incidence functions are equal to zero. The incidence functions are also equal to zero when there is no susceptible in the human and vector populations.

## 3 Basic Properties and Basic Reproduction number

In this section, we study the basic properties of the solution of system (3) and also, we compute the basic reproduction number associated to the system (3).

**Proposition 3.1** The positive orthant

$$\{(S_H, I_H, S_V, I_V) \in \mathbb{R}^4, S_H \ge 0, I_H \ge 0, S_V \ge 0, I_V \ge 0\}$$

is positively invariant for system (3).

To prove Proposition 3.1, we need the following lemma.

**Lemma 3.1** [14]: Let  $L : \mathbb{R}^n \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  be a differentiable function, and let  $a \in \mathbb{R}$ . Let X(x) be the vector field, and let G be the closed set  $G = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : L(x) \le a\}$  such that  $\nabla L(x) \ne 0$  for all  $x \in L^{-1}(a) = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n, L(x) = a\}$ . If  $\langle X(x), \nabla L(x) \rangle \le 0$  for all  $x \in L^{-1}(a)$ , then the set G is positively invariant.

**Proof of Proposition 3.1** Let  $x = (S_H, I_H, S_V, I_V)$ . Now, we have to prove that  $\{S_H \ge 0\}$  is positively invariant.

Let  $L(x) = -S_H$ . L is differentiable and  $\nabla L(x) = (-1, 0, 0, 0) \neq 0_{\mathbb{R}^5}$  for all  $x \in L(x)^{-1}(0) = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^4 / L(x) = 0\}$ . The vector field on  $\{S_H = 0\}$  is

$$X(x) = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\Lambda} \\ -(\mu_H + \gamma_H)I_H \\ A - g(S_V, I_H) - \mu_V S_V \\ g(S_V, I_H) - \mu_V I_V \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then  $\langle X(x), \nabla L(x) \rangle = -\tilde{\Lambda} \langle 0$ . This proves that  $\{S_H \ge 0\}$  is positively invariant. Similarly, we prove that  $\{I_H \ge 0\}, \{R_H \ge 0\}, \{S_V \ge 0\}, \{I_V \ge 0\}$  are positively invariant. Then  $\{(S_H, I_H, S_V, I_V) \in \mathbb{R}^5, S_H \ge 0, I_H \ge 0, S_V \ge 0, I_V \ge 0\}$  is positively invariant for system (3).

Therefore, the model is mathematically well posed and epidemiologically reasonable since all the variables remain non-negative for all t > 0.

**Proposition 3.2** Let  $(S_H, I_H, S_V, I_V)$  be the solution of system (3) with the initial condition  $(S_{0H}, I_{0H}, S_{0V}, I_{0V})$  and the compact set

$$\mathcal{D} = \left\{ (S_H, I_H, S_V, I_V) \in \mathbb{R}^4_+, W_1 \le N_H + \epsilon, W_2 \le \frac{A}{\mu_V} + \epsilon, \text{for } \epsilon > 0 \right\}$$
(4)

with  $W_1 = S_H + I_H$  and  $W_2 = S_V + I_V$ . Then, under the flow described by (3),  $\mathcal{D}$  is a positively invariant set that attracts all solutions in  $\mathbb{R}^4_+$ .

**Proof.** By adding the first two equations of system (3), we have

$$\frac{dS_H}{dt} + \frac{dI_H}{dt} = \tilde{\Lambda} - \mu_H S_H - (\mu_H + \gamma_H) I_H,$$

$$\frac{d(S_H + I_H)}{dt} \leq \tilde{\Lambda} - \mu_H (S_H + I_H),$$

$$\frac{dW_1}{dt} \leq \tilde{\Lambda} - \mu_H W_1,$$

$$\frac{dW_1}{dt} + \mu_H W_1 \leq \tilde{\Lambda} + \epsilon.$$
(5)

According to [15], from inequation (5), we have

$$W_1(t) \le \frac{\tilde{\Lambda}}{\mu_H} + \frac{\epsilon}{\mu_H} + (W_1(0) - \frac{\tilde{\Lambda}}{\mu_H} - \frac{\epsilon}{\mu_H})e^{-\mu_H t},\tag{6}$$

where  $W_1(0) = S_{0H} + I_{0H}$ . Thus, when  $t \longrightarrow +\infty$ ,  $W_1(t) \le \frac{\tilde{\Lambda}}{\mu_H} + \frac{\epsilon}{\mu_H}$ . Similarly, we prove that  $W_2(t) \le \frac{A}{\mu_V} + \frac{\epsilon}{\mu_V}$ , where  $W_1(0)$  and  $W_2(0)$  are, respectively, the initial conditions of  $W_1(t)$  and  $W_2(t)$ . Thus, as  $t \longrightarrow \infty$ ,  $0 \le (W_1(t), W_2(t)) \le (N_H + \frac{\epsilon}{\mu_H}, \frac{A}{\mu_V} + \frac{\epsilon}{\mu_V})$  and one can conclude that  $\mathcal{D}$  is an attractive set.

Let  $E = (S_H, I_H, S_V, I_V)$  be an equilibrium point of (3). Thus, we have

$$\begin{cases} \Lambda - f(S_H, I_V) - \mu_H S_H = 0, \\ f(S_H, I_V) - (\mu_H + \gamma_H) I_H = 0, \\ \Lambda - g(S_V, I_H) - \mu_V S_V = 0, \\ g(S_V, I_H) - \mu_V I_V = 0. \end{cases}$$
(7)

By adding the first two and the last two equations (7), we get

$$S_H = \frac{\tilde{\Lambda} - (\mu_H + \gamma_H)I_H}{\mu_H}, \ S_V = \frac{A - \mu_V I_V}{\mu_V},$$

and

$$E = \left(\frac{\tilde{\Lambda} - (\mu_H + \gamma_H)I_H}{\mu_H}, I_H, \frac{A - \mu_V I_V}{\mu_V}, I_V\right).$$

Hence, the disease-free equilibrium and the endemic equilibrium of (3) are given by

$$E_0 = (S_H^0, I_H^0, S_V^0, I_V^0) = (\frac{\tilde{\Lambda}}{\mu_H}, 0, \frac{A}{\mu_V}, 0)$$

and

$$E^* = (S_H^*, I_H^*, S_V^*, I_V^*) = \left(\frac{\tilde{\Lambda} - (\mu_H + \gamma_H)I_H^*}{\mu_H}, I_H^*, \frac{A - \mu_V I_V^*}{\mu_V}, I_V^*\right)$$

Here,  $I_H^*$  and  $I_V^*$  are the design infected human and infected mosquito at endemic period.

The reproduction number of model (3) is obtained by creating the next generation matrix and funding the maximum eigenvalues of that matrix [16]. The reproduction number of that model is given by

$$\mathcal{R}_0 = \sqrt{\frac{f_2(S_H^0, 0)g_2(S_V^0, 0)}{\mu_V(\mu_H + \gamma_H)}}$$

84

**Theorem 3.1** If  $\mathcal{R}_0 > 1$ , then the model (3) has only a unique endemic equilibrium  $E^*$ .

**Proof.** Let us define the function  $\psi(I_H, I_V) = (\psi_1(I_H, I_V); \psi_2(I_H, I_V))$ , where

$$\psi_1(I_H, I_V) = f(S_H^0 - I_H, I_V) - (\mu_H + \gamma_H)I_H$$

and

$$\psi_2(I_H, I_V) = g(S_V^0 - I_V, I_H) - \mu_V I_V.$$

Hence, it follows that any solution of the equation  $\psi = 0$  in the set  $(0, S_H^0) \times (0, S_V^0)$ corresponds to an equilibrium, with  $S_H, I_H, S_V, I_V > 0$ . Since **H2** holds, one has  $\psi(0,0) = 0$  and  $\psi(S_H^0, S_V^0) \leq 0$ . Then the sufficient condition for the equation  $\psi = 0$ to have a solution in  $(0, S_H^0) \times (0, S_V^0)$  is that  $\psi$  is increasing at 0. This implies that an endemic equilibrium exits if

$$\nabla \psi(0,0) > 0, \tag{8}$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} \nabla\psi(0,0) &= (\nabla\psi_1(0,0), \nabla\psi_2(0,0)) \\ &= (-f_1(H^0_s,0) - \mu_H + \gamma_H + f_2(S^0_H,0), -g_1(S^0_V,0) - \mu_V + g_2(S^0_s,0)). \end{aligned}$$

Note that  $f_1(S_H^0, 0) = g_1(S_V^0, 0) = 0$ . Then inequality (8) is equivalent to

$$f_2(S_H^0, 0) > \mu_H + \gamma_H$$
, and  $g_2(S_V^0, 0) > \mu_V$ ,

which give

$$\alpha \gamma f_2(S_H^0, 0) g_2(S_V^0, 0) > (\mu_H + \gamma_H) \mu_V$$

That is,

$$\mathcal{R}_0 = \frac{f_2(S_H^0, 0)g_2(S_V^0, 0)}{(\mu_H + \gamma_H)\mu_V} > 1.$$

Then system (3) has a unique endemic equilibrium given by  $E^* = \left(\frac{\tilde{\Lambda} - (\mu_H + \gamma_H)I_H^*}{\mu_H}, I_H^*, \frac{A - \mu_V I_V^*}{\mu_V}, I_V^*\right).$  The proof is completed.

#### 4 Stability of Equilibrium

In this section, we analyze the stability of the diseases-free equilibrium  $E_0$  and the endemic equilibrium  $E^*$ . **H3** For all  $(S_H, I_H, S_V, I_V) \in \mathbb{R}^4_+$ ,

$$f(S_H, I_V) \leq f_2(S_H^0, 0) I_V$$
 and  $g(S_V, I_H) \leq g_2(S_V^0, 0) I_H$ .

 $\mathbf{H4} \ 1 < \frac{f_2(S_H^0,0)}{\mu_H + \gamma_H} \ \text{and} \ 1 < \frac{g_2(S_V^0,0)}{\mu_V}.$ 

**Remark 4.1** The assumptions H3 and H4 are the technical assumptions which are also used to have the global stability of the diseases-free equilibrium  $E_0$ . Biologically, the assumption H3 allows for the control of the infection speed.

**Theorem 4.1** Assume that H3 and H4 hold, then if  $\mathcal{R}_0 \leq 1$ , the diseases-free equilibrium  $E_0$  is globally asymptotically stable on  $\mathcal{D}$ .

**Proof.** Let us consider the candidate Lyapunov function

$$V = \mu_V I_H + (\mu_H + \gamma_H) I_V.$$

By differentiating V with respect to time, we have

$$\dot{V} = \mu_V \dot{I}_H + (\mu_H + \gamma_H) \dot{I}_V 
= \mu_V f(S_H, I_V) - \mu_V (\mu_H + \gamma_H) I_H + (\mu_H + \gamma_H) g(S_V, I_H) - \mu_V (\mu_H + \gamma_H) I_V 
= \mu_V f(S_H, I_V) + (\mu_H + \gamma_H) g(S_V, I_H) - \mu_V (\mu_H + \gamma_H) (I_H + I_V).$$

By using the assumption H3, we get

$$\dot{V} \leq f_2(S_H^0, 0)\mu_V I_V + g_2(S_V^0, 0)(\mu_H + \gamma_H)I_H - \mu_V(\mu_H + \gamma_H)(I_H + I_V).$$

By adding and subtracting  $f_2(S_H^0, 0)g_2(S_V^0, 0)(I_H + I_V)$  in the inequality above, we have

$$\dot{V} \leq f_2(S_H^0, 0)g_2(S_V^0, 0)(I_H + I_V) + f_2(S_H^0, 0)I_V[\mu_V - g_2(S_V^0, 0)] + g_2(S_V^0, 0)I_H[(\mu_H + \gamma_H) - f_2(S_H^0, 0)] - \mu_V(\mu_H + \gamma_H)(I_H + I_V).$$

By using the assumption **H4**, we obtain

$$\dot{V} \leq \mu_V(\mu_H + \gamma)(I_H + I_V) \left( \frac{f_2(S_H^0, 0)g_2(S_V^0, 0)}{\mu_V(\mu_H + \gamma)} - 1 \right) \\
\leq \mu_V(\mu_H + \gamma_H)(I_H + I_V)(\mathcal{R}_0^2 - 1).$$

Since  $\mathcal{R}_0 \leq 1$ , we have  $\dot{V} \leq 0$ , with equality only if  $I_H = 0$  and  $I_V = 0$ . According to LaSalle's extension to Lyapunov method's [17], the limit set of each solution is contained in the largest invariant set, for which  $I_H = 0$  and  $I_V = 0$ , which is the singleton  $\{E_0\}$ . Thus, the unique disease-free equilibrium  $E_0$  is globally asymptotically stable on  $\mathcal{D}$ .  $\Box$ 

We assume that the functions f and g satisfy the following assumptions: **H5** For all  $(S_H, I_H, S_V, I_V) \in \mathbb{R}^4_+$ ,  $1 \leq \frac{f(S_H, I_V)}{f(S_H, I_V^*)} \leq \frac{I_V}{I_V^*}$  and  $1 \leq \frac{g(S_V, I_H)}{g(S_V, I_H^*)} \leq \frac{I_H}{I_H^*}$ . **H6** For all  $(S_H, S_V) \in \mathbb{R}^2_+$ ,  $Sign(S_H - S_H^*) = Sign(f(S_H, I_V^*) - f(S_H^*, I_V^*))$ and  $Sign(S_V - S_V^*) = Sign(g(S_V, I_H^*) - g(S_V^*, I_H^*))$ .

**Remark 4.2** The assumptions **H5** and **H6** are the technical assumptions which are used in the proof of the global stability of the endemic equilibrium.

**Theorem 4.2** When  $\mathcal{R}_0 > 1$ , then the endemic equilibrium  $E^*$  of system (3) exists and is globally asymptotically stable on  $\mathcal{D}$ .

**Proof.** At the endemic equilibrium  $E^*$  and from the system (3), we have

$$\begin{cases} \Lambda = f(S_{H}^{*}, I_{V}^{*}) + \mu_{H}S_{H}^{*}, \\ f(S_{H}^{*}, I_{V}^{*}) = (\mu_{H} + \gamma_{H})I_{H}^{*}, \\ A = g(S_{V}^{*}, I_{H}^{*}) + \mu_{V}S_{V}^{*}, \\ g(S_{V}^{*}, I_{H}^{*}) = \mu_{V}I_{V}^{*}. \end{cases}$$
(9)

86

Let us define the function h on  $\mathbb{R}_+$  by  $h(x) = x - 1 - \ln x$ . The function h is non-negative for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}_+$ . Let us consider the candidate Lyapunov function U defined by

$$U(t) = U_H(t) + U_V(t)$$
 where  $U_H(t) = U_{S_H}(t) + U_{I_H}(t)$  and  $U_V(t) = U_{S_V}(t) + U_{I_V}(t)$ 

with

$$U_{S_{H}} = S_{H} - S_{H}^{*} - \int_{S_{H}^{*}}^{S_{H}} \frac{f(S_{H}^{*}, I_{V}^{*})}{f(\chi, I_{V}^{*})} d\chi, \quad U_{I_{H}} = I_{H}^{*}h\left(\frac{I_{H}}{I_{H}^{*}}\right),$$
  
$$U_{S_{V}} = S_{V} - S_{V}^{*} - \int_{S_{V}^{*}}^{S_{V}} \frac{g(S_{V}^{*}, I_{H}^{*})}{g(\chi, I_{H}^{*})} d\chi, \quad U_{I_{V}} = I_{V}^{*}h\left(\frac{I_{V}}{I_{V}^{*}}\right).$$

Now, we have to differentiate the function U with respect to time.

$$\dot{U}_{S_H} = \left( 1 - \frac{f(S_H^*, I_V^*)}{f(S_H, I_V^*)} \right) \dot{S}_H = \left( 1 - \frac{f(S_H^*, I_V^*)}{f(S_H, I_V^*)} \right) (\tilde{\Lambda} - f(S_H, I_V) - \mu_H S_H).$$

By using the first equation of system (9), we have

$$\dot{U}_{S_H} = -\mu_H (S_H - S_H^*) \left( 1 - \frac{f(S_H^*, I_V^*)}{f(S_H, I_V^*)} \right) + f(S_H^*, I_V^*) \left[ 1 - \frac{f(S_H, I_V)}{f(S_H^*, I_V^*)} - \frac{f(S_H^*, I_V^*)}{f(S_H, I_V^*)} + \frac{f(S_H, I_V)}{f(S_H, I_V^*)} \right].$$

Let us calculate  $\dot{U}_{I_H}$ :

$$\dot{U}_{I_{H}} = \left(1 - \frac{I_{H}^{*}}{I_{H}}\right) \dot{I}_{H}$$

$$= \left(1 - \frac{I_{H}^{*}}{I_{H}}\right) (f(S_{H}, I_{V}) - (\mu_{H} + \gamma_{H}) I_{H}^{*} \frac{I_{H}}{I_{H}^{*}}).$$

By using the second equation of system (9), we get

$$\begin{split} \dot{U}_{I_{H}} &= \left(1 - \frac{I_{H}^{*}}{I_{H}}\right) (f(S_{H}, I_{V}) - f(S_{H}^{*}, I_{V}^{*}) \frac{I_{H}}{I_{H}^{*}}) \\ &= f(S_{H}^{*}, I_{V}^{*}) \left(1 - \frac{I_{H}^{*}}{I_{H}}\right) \left(\frac{f(S_{H}, I_{V})}{f(S_{H}^{*}, I_{V}^{*})} - \frac{I_{H}}{I_{H}^{*}}\right) \\ &= f(S_{H}^{*}, I_{V}^{*}) \left(\frac{f(S_{H}, I_{V})}{f(S_{H}^{*}, I_{V}^{*})} - \frac{I_{H}}{I_{H}^{*}} - \frac{I_{H}^{*}}{I_{H}} \frac{f(S_{H}, I_{V})}{f(S_{H}^{*}, I_{V}^{*})} + 1\right) \end{split}$$

Let us now evaluate  $\dot{U}_H$ :

$$\dot{U}_H = \dot{U}_{S_H} + \dot{U}_{I_H} = -\mu_H (S_H - S_H^*) \left( 1 - \frac{f(S_H^*, I_V^*)}{f(S_H, I_V^*)} \right) + f(S_H^*, I_V^*) Q(S_H, I_V),$$

HAROUNA OUEDRAOGO AND ABOUDRAMANE GUIRO

where  $Q(S_H, I_V) = 2 - \frac{f(S_H^*, I_V^*)}{f(S_H, I_V^*)} + \frac{f(S_H, I_V)}{f(S_H, I_V^*)} - \frac{I_H}{I_H^*} - \frac{I_H^*}{I_H} \frac{f(S_H, I_V)}{f(S_H^*, I_V^*)}.$ By adding and subtracting  $1 + \ln \frac{f(S_H^*, I_V^*)}{f(S_H, I_V^*)} + \ln \frac{f(S_H, I_V)}{f(S_H, I_V^*)} + \ln \frac{I_H}{I_H^*}$  to and from  $Q(S_H, I_V)$ , we get

$$Q(S_{H}, I_{V}) = \left( -\frac{f(S_{H}^{*}, I_{V}^{*})}{f(S_{H}, I_{V}^{*})} + 1 + \ln \frac{f(S_{H}^{*}, I_{V}^{*})}{f(S_{H}, I_{V}^{*})} \right) + \left( -\frac{I_{H}}{I_{H}^{*}} + 1 + \ln \frac{I_{H}}{I_{H}^{*}} \right) \\ + \left( \frac{f(S_{H}, I_{V})}{f(S_{H}, I_{V}^{*})} - 1 - \ln \frac{f(S_{H}, I_{V})}{f(S_{H}, I_{V}^{*})} \right) \left( -\frac{I_{H}^{*}}{I_{H}} \frac{f(S_{H}, I_{V})}{f(S_{H}^{*}, I_{V}^{*})} + 1 + \ln \frac{I_{H}^{*}}{I_{H}} \frac{f(S_{H}, I_{V})}{f(S_{H}^{*}, I_{V}^{*})} \right) \\ = -h \left( \frac{f(S_{H}^{*}, I_{V}^{*})}{f(S_{H}, I_{V}^{*})} \right) - h \left( \frac{I_{H}}{I_{H}} \right) + h \left( \frac{f(S_{H}, I_{V})}{f(S_{H}, I_{V}^{*})} \right) - h \left( \frac{I_{H}^{*}}{I_{H}} \frac{f(S_{H}, I_{V})}{f(S_{H}^{*}, I_{V}^{*})} \right).$$

Let us calculate  $\dot{U}_{S_V}$ :

$$\begin{aligned} \dot{U}_{S_V} &= \left(1 - \frac{g(S_V^*, I_H^*)}{g(S_V, I_H^*)}\right) \dot{S}_V \\ &= \left(1 - \frac{g(S_V^*, I_H^*)}{g(S_V, I_H^*)}\right) (A - g(S_V, I_H) - \mu_V S_V). \end{aligned}$$

By using the third equation of system (9), we obtain

$$\dot{U}_{S_V} = -\mu_V (S_V - S_V^*) \left( 1 - \frac{g(S_V^*, I_H^*)}{g(S_V, I_H^*)} \right) + g(S_V^*, I_H^*) \left( 1 - \frac{g(S_V, I_H)}{g(S_V^*, I_H^*)} - \frac{g(S_V^*, I_H^*)}{g(S_V, I_H)} + \frac{g(S_V, I_H)}{g(S_V, I_H^*)} \right).$$

Let us calculate  $\dot{U}_{I_V}$ :

$$\dot{U}_{I_V} = \left(1 - \frac{I_V^*}{I_V}\right) \dot{I}_V$$

$$= g(S_V^*, I_H^*) \left(1 + \frac{g(S_V, I_H)}{g(S_V^*, I_H^*)} - \frac{I_V}{I_V^*} - \frac{I_V^*}{I_V} \frac{g(S_V, I_H)}{g(S_V^*, I_H^*)}\right)$$

Let us now evaluate  $\dot{U}_V$ :

$$\dot{U}_V = \dot{U}_{S_V} + \dot{U}_{I_V} = -\mu_V (S_V - S_V^*) \left( 1 - \frac{g(S_V^*, I_H^*)}{g(S_V, I_H^*)} \right) + g(S_V^*, I_H^*) \Psi(S_V, I_H),$$

where  $\Psi(S_V, I_H) = 2 - \frac{g(S_V^*, I_H^*)}{g(S_V, I_H^*)} + \frac{g(S_V, I_H)}{g(S_V, I_H^*)} - \frac{I_V}{I_V} - \frac{I_V^*}{I_V} \frac{g(S_V, I_H)}{g(S_V^*, I_H^*)}.$ By adding and subtracting  $1 + \ln \frac{g(S_V^*, I_H^*)}{g(S_V, I_H^*)} + \ln \frac{g(S_V, I_H)}{g(S_V, I_H^*)} + \ln \frac{I_V}{I_V^*}$  to and from  $\Psi(S_V, I_H)$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \Psi(S_V, I_H) &= \left( -\frac{g(S_V^*, I_H^*)}{g(S_V, I_H^*)} + 1 + \ln \frac{g(S_V^*, I_H^*)}{g(S_V, I_H^*)} \right) + \left( -\frac{I_V}{I_V^*} + 1 + \ln \frac{I_V}{I_V^*} \right) \\ &+ \left( \frac{g(S_V, I_H)}{g(S_V, I_H^*)} - 1 - \ln \frac{g(S_V, I_H)}{g(S_V, I_H^*)} \right) \\ &+ \left( -\frac{I_V^*}{I_V} \frac{g(S_V, I_H)}{g(S_V, I_H^*)} + 1 + \ln \frac{I_V^*}{I_V} \frac{g(S_V, I_H)}{g(S_V, I_H^*)} \right) \\ &= -h \left( \frac{g(S_V^*, I_H^*)}{g(S_V, I_H^*)} \right) - h \left( \frac{I_V}{I_V^*} \right) + h \left( \frac{g(S_V, I_H)}{g(S_V, I_H^*)} \right) - h \left( \frac{I_V}{I_V} \frac{g(S_V, I_H)}{g(S_V, I_H^*)} \right) \end{split}$$

Let  $\zeta = \max\{f(S_H^*, I_V^*); g(S_V^*, I_H^*)\},\$ 

$$\dot{U} \leq -\mu_H (S_H - S_H^*) \left( 1 - \frac{f(S_H^*, I_V^*)}{f(S_H, I_V^*)} \right) - \mu_V (S_V - S_V^*) \left( 1 - \frac{g(S_V^*, I_H^*)}{g(S_V, I_H^*)} \right) \\
+ \zeta (Q(S_H, I_V) + \Psi(S_V, I_H)).$$

By using the assumption **H5**, we have

$$h\bigg(\frac{f(S_H, I_V)}{f(S_H, I_V^*)}\bigg) \le h\bigg(\frac{I_V}{I_V^*}\bigg) \text{ and } h\bigg(\frac{g(S_V, I_H)}{g(S_V, I_H^*)}\bigg) \le h\bigg(\frac{I_H}{I_H^*}\bigg),$$

thus, from the assumption **H6**, we can see that  $\dot{U} \leq 0$ . In addition, we can see that U > 0 for all  $S_H, I_H, S_V, I_V \in \mathbb{R}_+$  and U = 0 for  $S_H = S_H^*$ ,  $I_H = I_H^*$ ,  $S_V = S_V^*$  and  $I_V = I_V^*$ . Then the equilibrium state  $E^*$  is the only positively invariant set of the system (3) contained in  $\{(S_H, I_H, S_V, I_V) \in \mathbb{R}^4_+; S_H = S_H^*, I_H = I_H^*, S_V = S_V^* \text{ and } I_V = I_V^*\}$  and hence, by the asymptotic stability theorem [17], the unique endemic equilibrium state  $E^*$  is globally asymptotically stable on  $\mathcal{D}$ .

#### 5 Examples of Incidence Functions

In this section, we give the examples of incidence functions for which the required hypotheses are satisfied.

- 1. Mass action incidence. These incidence functions are defined by  $f(S_H, I_V) = \alpha_1 S_H I_V$  and  $g(S_V, I_H) = \alpha_2 S_V I_H$ , where  $\alpha_1$  is the positive contact rate between a susceptible human and an infectious mosquito and  $\alpha_2$  designs the positive contact rate between a susceptible mosquito and an infectious human. Then hypotheses  $(\mathbf{H1}) (\mathbf{H6})$  are satisfied and so the global dynamics are determined by the magnitude of the basic reproduction number  $\mathcal{R}_0$ .
- 2. Saturating incidence. Let  $f(S_H, I_V) = S_H \frac{I_V}{1 + c_1 I_V}$  and  $g(S_V, I_H) = S_V \frac{I_H}{1 + c_2 I_H}$ , where  $c_1$  and  $c_2$  are non-negative constant. Then hypotheses  $(\mathbf{H1}) (\mathbf{H6})$  are satisfied and so the global dynamics are determined by the value of  $\mathcal{R}_0$ .
- 3. Standard incidence. These functions are given by  $f(S_H, I_V) = \frac{S_H I_V}{S_H + I_H}$  and  $g(S_V, I_H) = \frac{S_V I_H}{S_V + I_V}$ . Then the assumptions (H1) (H6) are satisfied and so the global dynamics are given by the value of the basic reproduction number  $\mathcal{R}_0$ .

In the following paragraph, we carry out the numerical simulation taking the mass action law as the incidence function. But we specify that the dynamics remains the same as with the other incidence functions.

## 6 Simulation and Comments

In this section, we carry out the computation work that supports our study. In our simulation, we used the mass action as the incidence functions which are defined by  $f(S_H, I_V) = \alpha_1 S_H I_V$  and  $g(S_V, I_H) = \alpha_2 S_V I_H$ , where  $\alpha_1$  and  $\alpha_2$  are positives constants. We present the graphics which illustrate the evolution of the different classes in two cases: when  $\mathcal{R}_0 \leq 1$  and  $\mathcal{R}_0 > 1$ . The parameter values used in our simulation are:  $\tilde{\Lambda} = 200$ ;  $\mu_H = 0.3$ ;  $\mu_V = 0.2$ ;  $\gamma_H = 0.4$ ;  $\alpha_1 = 0.0005$ ;  $\alpha_2 = 0.0021$ ; A = 100. From these values, we have  $\mathcal{R}_0 = 0.87$ . When we change the values of  $\alpha_1$  and  $\alpha_2$  to  $\alpha_1 = 0.001$  and  $\alpha_2 = 0.21$ , we get  $\mathcal{R}_0 = 12.25$ . The software used for the simulation is *scilab*.



**Figure 2**: Dynamics of the human population for different magnitudes of  $\mathcal{R}_0$ . Figure 2a give the dynamic of susceptible, infectious and remove, in model (2). These curves also indicate that the disease tends to disappear. Figure 2b presents the dynamic of the same classes, these curves show us that the disease persists in the population.

## 7 Global Sensitivity Analysis for $\mathcal{R}_0$

In this paragraph, we use the notion of sensitivity analysis to show the importance of different parameters in the basic reproduction number  $\mathcal{R}_0$ . In Subsection 7.1, we define the notion of sensitivity of some parameter p of the model (2). Subsection 7.2 is devoted to the calculations of the analytical expressions of the sensitivity indices of different parameters in the basic reproduction number. In Subsection 7.3, we give a numerical representation and comments for different sensitivity indice.



**Figure 3**: Dynamics of the vector population for different values of  $\mathcal{R}_0$ . Figure 3a designs the dynamic of susceptible and infectious mosquitoes, in model (2). The graphs together also show that the disease tends to disappear. Figure 3b shows the dynamic of the vector population, these curves indicate that the disease will persist in the population.

## 7.1 Definition

Let p be a parameter of the mathematical model (2). The parameter p is said to be sensitive if any small alteration of p causes a significant change in the solution. It is worthy to note that the parameter p is termed to be locally sensitive if the change in the value of the parameter p influences the output of the model. In the same way, global sensitivity takes into account the overall change in the model output as a result of the change in all parameter values within their respective range [18].

In computing the normalized sensitivity index  $(\wp_p^{\mathcal{R}_0})$  for the basic reproduction number  $\mathcal{R}_0$  for each parameter p, we use the relation given by

$$\wp_p^{\mathcal{R}_0} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{R}_0}{\partial p} \times \frac{p}{\mathcal{R}_0}.$$
 (10)

## 7.2 Analytic representation of the elasticity

We use the law of mass action as an incidence function. The general incidence functions f and g are defined by the relations  $f(S_H, I_V) = \tilde{\beta}S_H I_V$  and  $g(S_V, I_H) = \epsilon S_V I_H$ . In this case, the expression of the basic reproduction number  $\mathcal{R}_0$  is given by the relation

$$\mathcal{R}_0 = \sqrt{rac{ ilde{eta}\epsilon ilde{\Lambda}A}{\mu_H\mu_V^2(\mu_H+\gamma_H)}}.$$

The sensitivity indices of different parameters are given as follows. Using the principle given by (10), we obtain

$$\wp_{\tilde{\beta}}^{\mathcal{R}_0} = \frac{1}{2}, \ \ \wp_{\epsilon}^{\mathcal{R}_0} = \frac{1}{2}, \ \wp_{\tilde{\Lambda}}^{\mathcal{R}_0} = \frac{1}{2}, \ \wp_{A}^{\mathcal{R}_0} = \frac{1}{2},$$

$$\wp_{\gamma_H}^{\mathcal{R}_0} = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{\gamma_H}{\mu_H + \gamma_H}, \ \wp_{\mu_V}^{\mathcal{R}_0} = -1, \ \wp_{\mu_H}^{\mathcal{R}_0} = -\frac{2\mu_H + \gamma_H}{2}.$$

Parameter	Description	Elasticity index
$\tilde{\Lambda}$	Humans recruitment rate	0.5
$\tilde{\beta}$	Positive contact rate between $I_V$ and $S_H$	0.5
$\epsilon$	Positive contact rate between $I_H$ and $S_V$	0.5
A	Mosquito recruitment rate	0.5
$\gamma_H$	Infectious humans who pass in $R_H$	-0.28
$\mu_V$	Natural death of mosquito	-1
$\mu_H$	Natural death of humans	-0.5

 Table 1: Parameter description and elasticity value.

## 7.3 Numerical representation and comments

In this subsection, we give some numerical representation and comments for different sensitivity indices while the analytical expressions and values are obtained in Subsection 7.2. For the numerical representation, we use the R software and the graph is given in Figure 4.



Figure 4: Global sensitivity plot.

Parameters with a positive sensitivity index indicate an increase in the transmission of dengue in the population for an increase in these values. On the other hand, parameters with a negative sensitivity index mean that an increase in these values leads to a decrease in the transmission of dengue in the population. For example, the sensitivity index of  $\tilde{\Lambda}$  in  $\mathcal{R}_0$  is 0.5. This implies that an increase of 1% in the value of  $\tilde{\Lambda}$  leads to an increase of 0.5% in the value of  $\mathcal{R}_0$ . The sensitivity indices of  $\tilde{\Lambda}$ ,  $\tilde{\beta}$ ,  $\epsilon$  and A are the same, which means that these parameters have the same impact on the secondary infection rate. In the same way, the elasticity of  $\mu_V$  in  $\mathcal{R}_0$  is -1 meaning that the increase of 1% in the value of  $\mathcal{R}_0$ . The fact that  $\wp_{\mu_H}^{\mathcal{R}_0} = -0.28$  means that 1% increase in  $\mu_V$  will produce 0.28% decrease in  $\mathcal{R}_0$ . Also,

the fact that  $\wp_{\gamma_H}^{\mathcal{R}_0} = -0.5$  implies that 1% increase in  $\gamma_H$  will produce 0.5% decrease in the value of the basic reproduction number.

Thus, we find that the parameter  $\mu_V$ , which denotes the mosquito mortality rate, is a good parameter for controlling the dynamics of dengue transmission. As it increases, the basic reproduction number  $\mathcal{R}_0$  decreases more rapidly. However, it is not the only parameter whose growth leads to a decrease in the basic reproduction number.

#### 8 Conclusion

In this paper, we have studied the dengue disease transmission model, which includes the human and vector populations with general admission incidence functions. We proved the existence of the equilibrium and its stability. When the value of the basic reproduction number  $\mathcal{R}_0$  is less than unity, the disease-free equilibrium is globally asymptotically stable, in this case the disease will disappear. When  $\mathcal{R}_0 > 1$ , the endemic equilibrium exists and it is globally asymptotically stable, in this case the disease will disappear. When  $\mathcal{R}_0 > 1$ , the endemic equilibrium exists and it is globally asymptotically stable, in this case the disease will persist in the population. We used the Lyapunov function to study the stability of our equilibrium points. We have also presented the numerical simulations, and the evolution of our curves corroborate with the theoretical results. We carried out a sensitivity study of the parameters in order to determine the influence of different parameters on the transmission of the disease. We notice that the parameter  $\mu_V$ , which denotes the mortality rate of the mosquitoes, allows to better control the dynamics of dengue disease transmission. In our future work we will integrate the spatial distribution of the disease.

### Acknowledgment

The authors want to thank the anonymous referee for his valuable comments on the paper.

## References

- [1] R. Anderson and R. May. Helminth infections of humans: mathematical models, population dynamics and control. *Adv. Parasitol.* **24** (1985) 1–101.
- [2] M. Crespo, B. Ivorra, A. M. Ramos and A. Rapaport. Shape optimization of spatial chemostat models. *Electronic Journal of Differential Equations* **2019** (84) (2019) 1–26.
- [3] F. Brauer. Mathematical epidemiology: Pasr, present and future. Infectious Disease Modelling 2 (2) (2017) 113–127.
- [4] O. Diekmann, J. Heesterbeek and J. Metz. On the definition and the computation of the basic reproduction ratio in the models for infectious diseases in heterogeneous populations. *Journal of Mathematical Biology* 28 (1990) 365–382.
- [5] J. J. Tewa, J. L. Dimi and S. Bowong. Lyapunov functions for a dengue disease transmission model. *Chaos, Solitons and Fractals* **39** (2009) 936–941.
- [6] WHO(2017). Fact sheets: dengue and dengue haemorrhagic fever.[online] http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs117/en/.
- [7] T. P. Monath. Dengue: The risk to developed and developing countries. In: Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 91 (1994) 2395–2400.

#### HAROUNA OUEDRAOGO AND ABOUDRAMANE GUIRO

- [8] A. Guiro, D. Ouedraogo and H. Ouedraogo. Stability Analysis for a Discrete SIR Epidemic Model with Delay and General Nonlinear Incidence Function. *Applied Mathematics* 9 (2018) 1039–1054.
- [9] A. Zaghdani. Mathematical Study of a Modified SEIR Model for the Novel SARS-Cov-2 Coronavirus. Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory 21 (3) (2021) 326–336.
- [10] M. Z. Ndii and A. K. Supriatna. Stochastic Dengue Mathematical Model in the Presence of Wolbachia: Exploring the Disease Extinction. *Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory* 20 (2) (2020) 214–227.
- [11] E. R. M. Putri, M. Iqbal, M. L. Shahab, H. N. Fadhilah, I. Mukhlash, D. K. Arif, E. Apriliani and H. Susanto. COVID-19 Outbreak Prediction in Indonesia Based on Machine Learning and SIRD-Based Hybrid Methods. *Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory* 21 (5) (2021) 494–509.
- [12] L. Esteva and C. Vargas. Analysis of a dengue disease transmission model. *Mathematical Biosciences* 150 (1998) 131–151.
- [13] A. Guiro, S. Ouaro and A. Traore. Stability analysis of a schistosomiasis model with delays. Advances in Difference Equation 2013 303:2013 1–15.
- [14] J.M. Bony. Principe du maximum, inégalite de Harnacket unicité du problème de Cauchy pour les opérateurs elliptiques dégénérés. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 19 (1) (1969) 277–304.
- [15] G. Birkhoff and G.C. Rota. Ordinary Differential Equations. Ginn, Boston, 1982.
- [16] P. Van den Driesche and J. Watmough. Reproduction numbers and subthreshold endemic equilibria for the compartmental models of disease transmission. *Math. Biosci.* 180 (2002) 29–48.
- [17] J. P. Lasalle. The stability of Dynamical Systems. SIAM, Philadelphia, 1976.
- [18] M. Martcheva. An Introduction to Mathematical Epidemiology. Texts in Applied Mathematics, 61, Springer, 2015.

Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory, 23(1) (2023) 95-106



# Denumerably Many Positive Radial Solutions to Iterative System of Nonlinear Elliptic Equations on the Exterior of a Ball

Mahammad Khuddush<sup>1\*</sup>, K. R. Prasad<sup>2</sup> and B. Bharathi<sup>2,3</sup>

 <sup>1</sup>Department of Mathematics, Dr. Lankapalli Bullayya College of Engineering, Resapuvanipalem, Visakhapatnam, 530013, Andhra Pradesh, India.
 <sup>2</sup>Department of Applied Mathematics, College of Science and Technology, Andhra University, Visakhapatnam, 530013, India.
 <sup>3</sup>Department of Mathematics, Gayatri Vidya Parishad College of Engineering for Women, Madhurawada, Visakhapatnam, 530048, India.

Received: August 2, 2020; Revised: December 31, 2022

**Abstract:** In this paper, by an application of Krasnoselskii's fixed point theorem, we establish the existence of denumerably many positive radial solutions to the iterative system of nonlinear elliptic equations of the form

$$\begin{split} \Delta \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{j}} + \mathbf{P}(|\mathbf{x}|) \mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{j}}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{j}+1}) &= 0 \quad \text{in} \quad \mathbb{R}^{N} \backslash \mathscr{B}_{r_{0}}, \\ \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{j}} &= 0 \quad \text{on} \quad |\mathbf{x}| = r_{0}, \\ \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{j}} &\to 0 \quad \text{as} \quad |\mathbf{x}| \to +\infty, \end{split}$$

where  $\mathbf{j} \in \{1, 2, 3, \dots, \ell\}$ ,  $\mathbf{u}_1 = \mathbf{u}_{\ell+1}$ ,  $\Delta \mathbf{u} = \operatorname{div}(\nabla \mathbf{u})$ , N > 2,  $r_0 > 0$ ,  $\mathscr{B}_{r_0} = \{\mathbf{u} \in \mathbb{R}^N | |\mathbf{u}| < r_0\}$ ,  $\mathbf{P} = \prod_{i=1}^n \mathbf{P}_i$ , each  $\mathbf{P}_i : (r_0, +\infty) \to (0, +\infty)$  is continuous,  $r^{N-1}\mathbf{P}$  is integrable and may have singularities, and  $\mathbf{g}_i : [0, +\infty) \to \mathbb{R}$  is continuous.

**Keywords:** nonlinear elliptic systems; exterior of a ball; positive radial solution; Krasnoselskii's fixed point theorem.

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010): 35J66, 35J60, 34B18, 47H10.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author: mailto:khuddush89@gmail.com

<sup>© 2023</sup> InforMath Publishing Group/1562-8353 (print)/1813-7385 (online)/http://e-ndst.kiev.ua 95

#### 1 Introduction

The study of nonlinear elliptic system of equations

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{j}} + \mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{j}}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{j}+1}) &= 0 \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega, \\ \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{j}} &= 0 \quad \text{on} \quad \partial \Omega, \end{aligned}$$
 (1)

where  $\mathbf{j} \in \{1, 2, 3, \dots, \ell\}$ ,  $\mathbf{u}_1 = \mathbf{u}_{\ell+1}$ , and  $\Omega$  is a bounded domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , has an important applications in population dynamics, combustion theory and chemical reactor theory. For the recent literature on the existence, multiplicity and uniqueness of positive solutions for (1), see [3-5, 8, 9, 11, 12] and references therein.

In [2], Akdim, Rhoudaf and Salmani established the existence of entropy solutions for anisotropic elliptic equations of the form

$$\mathbf{A}\mathbf{u} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{g}_i(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{u}, \nabla \mathbf{u}) = f,$$

where Au is a Leray-Lions anisotropic operator. In [1], Aberqi, Bennouna and Elmassoudi established the existence results for the following nonlinear elliptic equations with some measure data in Musielak-Orlicz spaces:

$$Au + K(x, u, \nabla u) = \mu.$$

In [6], Dong and Wei established the existence of radial solutions for the following nonlinear elliptic equations with gradient terms in annular domains:

$$\begin{split} -\Delta \mathbf{u} &= \mathsf{g}\big(|\mathbf{x}|, \mathbf{u}, \frac{\mathbf{x}}{|\mathbf{x}|} \cdot \nabla \mathbf{u}\big) \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega_a^b, \\ \mathbf{u} &= 0 \quad \text{on} \quad \partial \Omega_a^b, \end{split}$$

by using Schauder's fixed point theorem and the contraction mapping theorem. In [10], R. Kajikiya and E. Ko established the existence of positive radial solutions for a semipositone elliptic equation of the form

$$\begin{aligned} -\Delta \mathbf{u} &= \lambda \mathbf{g}(\mathbf{u}) \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega, \\ \mathbf{u} &= 0 \quad \text{on} \quad \partial \Omega, \end{aligned}$$

where  $\Omega$  is a ball or an annulus in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . Recently, Son and Wang [13] have studied positive radial solutions for the nonlinear elliptic systems of the form

$$\begin{split} \Delta \mathbf{u}_{j} + \lambda \mathbf{K}_{j}(|\mathbf{x}|) \mathbf{g}_{j}(\mathbf{u}_{j+1}) &= 0 \text{ in } \Omega_{\mathsf{E}} \\ \mathbf{u}_{j} &= 0 \text{ on } |\mathbf{x}| = r_{0}, \\ \mathbf{u}_{i} &\rightarrow 0 \text{ as } |\mathbf{x}| \rightarrow +\infty, \end{split}$$

where  $j \in \{1, 2, 3, \dots, \ell\}$ ,  $u_1 = u_{\ell+1}$ ,  $\lambda > 0$ , N > 2,  $r_0 > 0$ , and  $\Omega_E$  is an exterior of a ball, and established existence, multiplicity and uniqueness results for various nonlinearities in  $g_j$ . Inspired by the aforementioned works, in this paper, we apply Krasnoselskii's fixed point theorem to derive necessary conditions for the existence of denumerably many positive radial solutions of the following iterative system of nonlinear elliptic equations in the exterior of a ball:

$$\Delta \mathbf{u}_{j} + \mathbf{P}(|\mathbf{x}|)\mathbf{g}_{j}(\mathbf{u}_{j+1}) = 0 \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^{N} \setminus \mathscr{B}_{r_{0}}, \\ \mathbf{u}_{j} = 0 \text{ on } |\mathbf{x}| = r_{0}, \\ \mathbf{u}_{j} \to 0 \text{ as } |\mathbf{x}| \to +\infty, \end{cases}$$

$$(2)$$

where  $\mathbf{j} \in \{1, 2, 3, \dots, \ell\}$ ,  $\mathbf{u}_1 = \mathbf{u}_{\ell+1}$ ,  $\Delta \mathbf{u} = \operatorname{div}(\nabla \mathbf{u})$ , N > 2,  $r_0 > 0$ ,  $\mathscr{B}_{r_0} = \{\mathbf{u} \in \mathbb{R}^N | |\mathbf{u}| < r_0\}$ ,  $\mathbf{P} = \prod_{i=1}^n \mathbf{P}_i$ , each  $\mathbf{P}_i : (r_0, +\infty) \to (0, +\infty)$  is continuous,  $r^{N-1}\mathbf{P}$  is integrable and may have singularities, and  $\mathbf{g}_j : [0, +\infty) \to \mathbb{R}$  is continuous.

The study of positive radial solutions to (2) reduces to the study of positive solutions to the following iterative system of two-point boundary value problems:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{u}_{j}''(\tau) + \mathbf{Q}(\tau) \mathbf{g}_{j} \left( \mathbf{u}_{j+1}(\tau) \right) &= 0, \ \tau \in (0,1), \\ \mathbf{u}_{j}(0) &= 0, \ u_{j}(1) = 0, \end{aligned}$$
 (3)

where  $\mathbf{j} \in \{1, 2, 3, \dots, \ell\}$ ,  $\mathbf{u}_1 = \mathbf{u}_{\ell+1}$ , and  $\mathbf{Q}(\tau) = \frac{r_0^2}{(N-2)^2} \tau^{\frac{2(N-1)}{2-N}} \prod_{i=1}^n \mathbf{Q}_i(\tau)$ ,  $\mathbf{Q}_i(\tau) = \mathbf{P}_i(r_0 \tau^{\frac{1}{2-N}})$  by a Kelvin type transformation through the change of variables  $r = |\mathbf{x}|$  and  $\tau = \left(\frac{r}{r_0}\right)^{2-N}$ . Here,  $\mathbf{Q}_i$  may have singularities on [0, 1]. Thus, for each  $i \in \{1, 2, 3, \dots, n\}$ , we assume that the following conditions hold throughout the paper:

 $(\mathcal{H}_1) \ \mathsf{Q}_i \in L^{\mathbf{p}_i}[0,1], (\mathbf{p}_i \ge 1)$  and may have denumerably many singularities on (0,1/2).

 $(\mathcal{H}_2)$  There exists a sequence  $\{\tau_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  such that  $0 < \tau_{k+1} < \tau_k < \frac{1}{2}, k \in \mathbb{N},$ 

$$\lim_{k\to\infty}\tau_k=\tau^*<\frac{1}{2},\ \ \lim_{\tau\to\tau_k}\mathtt{Q}_i(\tau)=+\infty,\ k\in\mathbb{N},\ i=1,2,3,\cdots,n,$$

and each  $Q_i(\tau)$  does not vanish identically on any subinterval of [0, 1]. Moreover, there exists  $Q_i^* > 0$  such that

$$\mathbf{Q}_i^* < \mathbf{Q}_i(\tau) < \infty$$
 a.e. on  $[0,1]$ .

The rest of the paper is organized in the following fashion. In Section 2, we convert the boundary value problem (3) into the equivalent integral equation which involves the kernel. Also, we estimate bounds for the kernel which are useful in our main results. In Section 3, we develop a criteria for the existence of denumerably many positive radial solutions for (2) by applying Krasnoselskii's cone fixed point theorem in a Banach space. Finally, as an application, an example is given to demonstrate our results.

## 2 Kernel and Its Bounds

In this section, we constructed a kernel to the homogeneous boundary value problem corresponding to (3) and established certain lemmas for the bounds of the kernel.

**Lemma 2.1** Let  $y \in C[0,1]$ . Then the boundary value problem

$$\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{u}_{1}^{\prime\prime}(\tau) + \mathbf{Q}(\tau)y(\tau) = 0, \ \tau \in (0,1), \\ \mathbf{u}_{1}(0) = 0, \ u_{1}(1) = 0, \end{array} \right\}$$
(4)

has a unique solution

$$\mathbf{u}_1(\tau) = \int_0^1 \aleph(\tau, s) \mathbf{Q}(s) y(s) ds, \tag{5}$$

where

$$\aleph(\tau, s) = \begin{cases} s(1-\tau), & 0 \le s \le \tau \le 1, \\ \tau(1-s), & 0 \le \tau \le s \le 1. \end{cases}$$

**Lemma 2.2** The kernel  $\aleph(\tau, s)$  has the following properties:

- (i)  $\aleph(\tau, s)$  is nonnegative and continuous on  $[0, 1] \times [0, 1]$ ,
- (*ii*)  $\aleph(\tau, s) \leq \aleph(s, s)$  for  $t, \tau \in [0, 1]$ ,
- (iii) there exists  $\beta \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$  such that  $\beta \aleph(s, s) \leq \aleph(\tau, s)$  for  $\tau \in [\beta, 1 \beta], s \in [0, 1]$ .

**Proof.** From the definition of kernel  $\aleph(\tau, s)$ , it is clear that (i) and (ii) hold. To prove (iii), let  $\tau \in [\beta, 1 - \beta]$  and  $s \leq \tau$ , then

$$\frac{\aleph(\tau,s)}{\aleph(s,s)} = \frac{s(1-\tau)}{s(1-s)} \ge 1-\tau \ge \beta,$$

and for  $\tau \leq s$ , we have

$$\frac{\aleph(\tau,s)}{\aleph(s,s)} = \frac{\tau(1-s)}{s(1-s)} \geq \tau \geq \beta.$$

This completes the proof.

From Lemma 2.1, we note that an  $\ell$ -tuple  $(u_1, u_2, \dots, u_\ell)$  is a solution of the boundary value problem (3) if and only if

$$\mathbf{u}_{1}(\tau) = \int_{0}^{1} \aleph(\tau, s_{1}) \mathbf{Q}(s_{1}) \mathbf{g}_{1} \left[ \int_{0}^{1} \aleph(s_{1}, s_{2}) \mathbf{Q}(s_{2}) \mathbf{g}_{2} \left[ \int_{0}^{1} \aleph(s_{2}, s_{3}) \mathbf{Q}(s_{3}) \mathbf{g}_{4} \cdots \right] \mathbf{g}_{\ell-1} \left[ \int_{0}^{1} \aleph(s_{\ell-1}, s_{\ell}) \mathbf{Q}(s_{\ell}) \mathbf{g}_{\ell} \left( \mathbf{u}_{1}(s_{\ell}) \right) ds_{\ell} \right] \cdots \right] ds_{3} ds_{2} ds_{1}$$

In general,

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{j}}(\tau) &= \int_{0}^{1} \aleph(\tau, s) \mathbf{Q}(s) \mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{j}} \big( \mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{j}+1}(s) \big) ds, \ \mathbf{j} = 1, 2, 3, \cdots, \ell, \\ \mathbf{u}_{1}(\tau) &= \mathbf{u}_{\ell+1}(\tau). \end{split}$$

We denote the Banach space  $\mathcal{C}([0,1],\mathbb{R})$  by  $\mathscr{B}$  with the norm  $\|\mathbf{u}\| = \max_{\tau \in [0,1]} |\mathbf{u}(\tau)|$ . For  $\beta \in (0, 1/2)$ , the cone  $\mathcal{P}_{\beta} \subset \mathscr{B}$  is defined by

$$\mathcal{P}_{\beta} = \Big\{ u \in \mathscr{B} : u(\tau) \ge 0, \min_{\tau \in [\beta, 1-\beta]} u(\tau) \ge \beta \|u\| \Big\}.$$

For any  $u_1 \in \mathcal{P}_{\beta}$ , define an operator  $\Omega : \mathcal{P}_{\beta} \to \mathscr{B}$  by

$$(\Omega \mathbf{u}_1)(\mathbf{\tau}) = \int_0^1 \aleph(\mathbf{\tau}, s_1) \mathbf{Q}(s_1) \mathbf{g}_1 \left[ \int_0^1 \aleph(s_1, s_2) \mathbf{Q}(s_2) \mathbf{g}_2 \left[ \int_0^1 \aleph(s_2, s_3) \mathbf{Q}(s_3) \mathbf{g}_4 \cdots \mathbf{g}_{\ell-1} \left[ \int_0^1 \aleph(s_{\ell-1}, s_\ell) \mathbf{Q}(s_\ell) \mathbf{g}_\ell (\mathbf{u}_1(s_\ell)) ds_\ell \right] \cdots \right] ds_3 ds_2 ds_1.$$

**Lemma 2.3** For each  $\beta \in (0, 1/2)$ ,  $\Omega(\mathcal{P}_{\beta}) \subset \mathcal{P}_{\beta}$  and  $\Omega : \mathcal{P}_{\beta} \to \mathcal{P}_{\beta}$  is completely continuous.

**Proof.** Let  $\beta \in (0, 1/2)$ . Since  $g_j(u_{j+1}(\tau))$  is nonnegative for  $\tau \in [0, 1]$ ,  $u_1 \in \mathcal{P}_{\beta}$ . Since  $\aleph(\tau, s)$  is nonnegative for all  $\tau, s \in [0, 1]$ , it follows that  $\Omega(u_1(\tau)) \geq 0$  for all  $\tau \in [0, 1]$ ,  $u_1 \in \mathcal{P}_{\beta}$ . Now, by Lemmas 2.1 and 2.2, we have

$$\begin{split} \min_{\boldsymbol{\tau}\in[\beta,1-\beta]} &(\Omega \mathbf{u}_{1})(\boldsymbol{\tau}) \\ = \min_{\boldsymbol{\tau}\in[\beta,1-\beta]} \left\{ \int_{0}^{1} \aleph(\boldsymbol{\tau},s_{1}) \mathbb{Q}(s_{1}) \mathbf{g}_{1} \left[ \int_{0}^{1} \aleph(s_{1},s_{2}) \mathbb{Q}(s_{2}) \mathbf{g}_{2} \left[ \int_{0}^{1} \aleph(s_{2},s_{3}) \mathbb{Q}(s_{3}) \mathbf{g}_{4} \cdots \right] \\ & \mathbf{g}_{\ell-1} \left[ \int_{0}^{1} \aleph(s_{\ell-1},s_{\ell}) \mathbb{Q}(s_{\ell}) \mathbf{g}_{\ell} \left( \mathbf{u}_{1}(s_{\ell}) \right) ds_{\ell} \right] \cdots \right] ds_{3} ds_{2} ds_{1} \right\} \\ \geq \beta \int_{0}^{1} \aleph(s_{1},s_{1}) \mathbb{Q}(s_{1}) \mathbf{g}_{1} \left[ \int_{0}^{1} \aleph(s_{1},s_{2}) \mathbb{Q}(s_{2}) \mathbf{g}_{2} \left[ \int_{0}^{1} \aleph(s_{2},s_{3}) \mathbb{Q}(s_{3}) \mathbf{g}_{4} \cdots \right] \\ & \mathbf{g}_{\ell-1} \left[ \int_{0}^{1} \aleph(s_{\ell-1},s_{\ell}) \mathbb{Q}(s_{\ell}) \mathbf{g}_{\ell} \left( \mathbf{u}_{1}(s_{\ell}) \right) ds_{\ell} \right] \cdots \right] ds_{3} ds_{2} ds_{1} \\ \geq \beta \left\{ \int_{0}^{1} \aleph(\boldsymbol{\tau},s_{1}) \mathbb{Q}(s_{1}) \mathbf{g}_{1} \left[ \int_{0}^{1} \aleph(s_{1},s_{2}) \mathbb{Q}(s_{2}) \mathbb{g}_{2} \left[ \int_{0}^{1} \aleph(s_{2},s_{3}) \mathbb{Q}(s_{3}) \mathbf{g}_{4} \cdots \right] \\ & \mathbf{g}_{\ell-1} \left[ \int_{0}^{1} \aleph(s_{\ell-1},s_{\ell}) \mathbb{Q}(s_{\ell}) \mathbf{g}_{\ell} \left( \mathbf{u}_{1}(s_{\ell}) \right) ds_{\ell} \right] \cdots \right] ds_{3} ds_{2} ds_{1} \right\} \\ \geq \beta \max_{\boldsymbol{\tau}\in[0,1]} |\Omega \mathbf{u}_{1}(\boldsymbol{\tau})|. \end{split}$$

Thus  $\Omega(\mathcal{P}_{\beta}) \subset \mathcal{P}_{\beta}$ . Therefore, the operator  $\Omega$  is completely continuous by standard methods and by the Arzela-Ascoli theorem.

## 3 Denumerably Many Positive Radial Solutions

In this section, we establish the existence of denumerably many positive radial solutions for the system (2) by utilizing the following theorems.

**Theorem 3.1** [7] Let  $\mathcal{E}$  be a cone in a Banach space  $\mathcal{X}$  and  $\Lambda_1$ ,  $\Lambda_2$  be open sets with  $0 \in \Lambda_1, \overline{\Lambda}_1 \subset \Lambda_2$ . Let  $\mathcal{T} : \mathcal{E} \cap (\overline{\Lambda}_2 \setminus \Lambda_1) \to \mathcal{E}$  be a completely continuous operator such that

- (a)  $\|\mathcal{T}\mathbf{u}\| \leq \|\mathbf{u}\|, \, \mathbf{u} \in \mathcal{E} \cap \partial \Lambda_1, \text{ and } \|\mathcal{T}\mathbf{u}\| \geq \|\mathbf{u}\|, \, \mathbf{u} \in \mathcal{E} \cap \partial \Lambda_2, \text{ or }$
- (b)  $\|\mathcal{T}\mathbf{u}\| \geq \|\mathbf{u}\|, \mathbf{u} \in \mathcal{E} \cap \partial \Lambda_1$ , and  $\|\mathcal{T}\mathbf{u}\| \leq \|\mathbf{u}\|, \mathbf{u} \in \mathcal{E} \cap \partial \Lambda_2$ .

Then  $\mathcal{T}$  has a fixed point in  $\mathcal{E} \cap (\overline{\Lambda}_2 \setminus \Lambda_1)$ .

**Theorem 3.2** (Hölder's) Let  $f \in L^{\mathbf{p}_i}[0,1]$  with  $\mathbf{p}_i > 1$ , for  $i = 1, 2, \dots, n$  and  $\sum_{i=1}^n \frac{1}{\mathbf{p}_i} = 1$ . Then  $\prod_{i=1}^n f_i \in L^1[0,1]$  and  $\|\prod_{i=1}^n f_i\|_1 \leq \prod_{i=1}^n \|f_i\|_{\mathbf{p}_i}$ . Further, if  $f \in L^1[0,1]$  and  $g \in L^{\infty}[0,1]$ , then  $fg \in L^1[0,1]$  and  $\|fg\|_1 \leq \|f\|_1 \|g\|_{\infty}$ .

Consider the following three possible cases for  $P_j \in L^{p_i}[0,1]$ :

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{p_i} < 1, \ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{p_i} = 1, \ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{p_i} > 1.$$

#### M. KHUDDUSH, K. R. PRASAD AND B. BHARATHI

Firstly, we seek denumerably many positive radial solutions for the case  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{p_i} < 1$ .

**Theorem 3.3** Suppose  $(\mathcal{H}_1) - (\mathcal{H}_2)$  hold, let  $\{\beta_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  be a sequence with  $\tau_{k+1} < \beta_k < \tau_k$ . Let  $\{R_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  and  $\{S_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  be such that

$$\mathbf{R}_{k+1} < \mathbf{\beta}_k \mathbf{S}_k < \mathbf{S}_k < \mathbf{M} \mathbf{S}_k < \mathbf{R}_k, \ k \in \mathbb{N}_k$$

where

$$\mathfrak{N} = \max\left\{ \left[ \beta_1 \frac{r_0^2}{(N-2)^2} \prod_{i=1}^n \mathbf{Q}_i^* \int_{\beta_1}^{1-\beta_1} \aleph(s,s) s^{\frac{2(N-1)}{2-N}} ds \right]^{-1}, \ 1 \right\}.$$

Further, assume that  $g_j$  satisfies

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathcal{A}_1) \ & \operatorname{g}_{\mathbf{j}}(\mathbf{u}(\tau)) \leq \operatorname{M}_1 \mathbf{R}_k \ for \ all \ \tau \in [0,1], \ 0 \leq \mathbf{u} \leq \mathbf{R}_k, \\ & where \\ & \operatorname{M}_1 < \left[ \frac{r_0^2}{(N-2)^2} \|\aleph\|_q \prod_{i=1}^n \|\mathbf{Q}_i\|_{p_i} \right]^{-1}, \quad \aleph(s) = \aleph(s,s) s^{\frac{2(N-1)}{2-N}} \end{aligned}$$

 $(\mathcal{A}_2) \ \mathsf{g}_{\mathtt{j}}(\mathtt{u}(\tau)) \geq \mathfrak{N} \mathtt{S}_k \text{ for all } \tau \in [\beta_k, 1 - \beta_k], \ \beta_k \mathtt{S}_k \leq \mathtt{u} \leq \mathtt{S}_k.$ 

The iterative system (2) has denumerably many radial solutions  $\{(\mathbf{u}_1^{[k]}, \mathbf{u}_2^{[k]}, \dots, \mathbf{u}_{\ell}^{[k]})\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ such that  $\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{j}}^{[k]}(\tau) \geq 0$  on (0, 1),  $\mathbf{j} = 1, 2, \dots, \ell$  and  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ .

**Proof.** Consider the sequences  $\{\Lambda_{1,k}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  and  $\{\Lambda_{2,k}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  of the open subsets of  $\mathscr{B}$  defined by

$$\Lambda_{1,k} = \{ \mathbf{u} \in \mathscr{B} : \|\mathbf{u}\| < \mathbf{R}_k \}, \ \Lambda_{2,k} = \{ \mathbf{u} \in \mathscr{B} : \|\mathbf{u}\| < \mathbf{S}_k \}.$$

Let  $\{\beta_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  be as in the hypothesis and note that  $\tau^* < \tau_{k+1} < \beta_k < \tau_k < \frac{1}{2}$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . For each  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , define the cone  $\mathcal{P}_{\beta_k}$  by

$$\mathcal{P}_{\beta_k} = \left\{ \mathbf{u} \in \mathscr{B} : \mathbf{u}(\tau) \ge 0 \text{ and } \min_{\tau \in [\beta_k, 1-\beta_k]} \mathbf{u}(t) \ge \beta_k \| \mathbf{u}(\tau) \| \right\}$$

Let  $\mathbf{u}_1 \in \mathcal{P}_{\beta_k} \cap \partial \Lambda_{1,k}$ . Then  $\mathbf{u}_1(s) \leq \mathbf{R}_k = \|\mathbf{u}_1\|$  for all  $s \in [0, 1]$ . By  $(\mathcal{A}_1)$  and  $0 < s_{\ell-1} < 1$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \int_0^1 \aleph(s_{\ell-1}, s_\ell) \mathbb{Q}(s_\ell) g_\ell \big( \mathbb{u}_1(s_\ell) \big) ds_\ell &\leq \int_0^1 \aleph(s_\ell, s_\ell) \mathbb{Q}(s_\ell) g_\ell \big( \mathbb{u}_1(s_\ell) \big) ds_\ell \\ &\leq \mathbb{M}_1 \mathbb{R}_k \int_0^1 \aleph(s_\ell, s_\ell) \mathbb{Q}(s_\ell) ds_\ell \\ &\leq \mathbb{M}_1 \mathbb{R}_k \frac{r_0^2}{(N-2)^2} \int_0^1 \aleph(s_\ell, s_\ell) s_\ell^{\frac{2(N-1)}{2-N}} \prod_{i=1}^n \mathbb{Q}_i(s_\ell) ds_\ell. \end{split}$$

There exists a q > 1 such that  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{p_i} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$ . By the first part of Theorem 3.2, we have

$$\begin{split} \int_0^1 \aleph(s_{\ell-1}, s_\ell) \mathsf{Q}(s_\ell) \mathsf{g}_\ell \big( \mathsf{u}_1(s_\ell) \big) ds_\ell &\leq \mathsf{M}_1 \mathsf{R}_k \frac{r_0^2}{(N-2)^2} \|\aleph\|_q \prod_{i=1}^n \|\mathsf{Q}_i\|_{p_i} \\ &\leq \mathsf{R}_k. \end{split}$$

100

It follows, in a similar manner, for  $0 < s_{\ell-2} < 1$ ,

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{1} \aleph(s_{\ell-2}, s_{\ell-1}) \mathsf{Q}(s_{\ell-1}) \mathsf{g}_{\ell-1} \Bigg[ \int_{0}^{1} \aleph(s_{\ell-1}, s_{\ell}) \mathsf{Q}(s_{\ell}) \mathsf{g}_{\ell} \big( \mathsf{u}_{1}(s_{\ell}) \big) ds_{\ell} \Bigg] ds_{\ell-1} \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{1} \aleph(s_{\ell-1}, s_{\ell-1}) \mathsf{Q}(s_{\ell-1}) \mathsf{g}_{\ell-1}(\mathsf{R}_{k}) ds_{\ell-1} \\ &\leq \mathsf{M}_{1} \mathsf{R}_{k} \int_{0}^{1} \aleph(s_{\ell-1}, s_{\ell-1}) \mathsf{Q}(s_{\ell-1}) ds_{\ell-1} \\ &\leq \mathsf{M}_{1} \mathsf{R}_{k} \frac{r_{0}^{2}}{(N-2)^{2}} \|\aleph\|_{q} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \|\mathsf{Q}_{i}\|_{p_{i}} \\ &\leq \mathsf{R}_{k}. \end{split}$$

Continuing with this bootstrapping argument, we get

$$(\Omega \mathbf{u}_1)(t) = \int_0^1 \aleph(\tau, s_1) \mathbf{Q}(s_1) \mathbf{g}_1 \left[ \int_0^1 \aleph(s_1, s_2) \mathbf{Q}(s_2) \mathbf{g}_2 \left[ \int_0^1 \aleph(s_2, s_3) \mathbf{Q}(s_3) \mathbf{g}_4 \cdots \mathbf{g}_{\ell-1} \left[ \int_0^1 \aleph(s_{\ell-1}, s_\ell) \mathbf{Q}(s_\ell) \mathbf{g}_\ell (\mathbf{u}_1(s_\ell)) ds_\ell \right] \cdots \right] ds_3 \right] ds_2 \right] ds_1$$
  
$$\leq R_k.$$

Since  $\mathbf{R}_k = \|\mathbf{u}_1\|$  for  $\mathbf{u}_1 \in \mathcal{P}_{\beta_k} \cap \partial \Lambda_{1,k}$ , we get

$$\|\Omega \mathbf{u}_1\| \le \|\mathbf{u}_1\|. \tag{6}$$

Let  $\tau \in [\beta_k, 1 - \beta_k]$ . Then  $\mathbf{S}_k = \|\mathbf{u}_1\| \ge \mathbf{u}_1(t) \ge \min_{\tau \in [\beta_k, 1 - \beta_k]} \mathbf{u}_1(t) \ge \beta_k \|\mathbf{u}_1\| \ge \beta_k \mathbf{S}_k$ . By  $(\mathcal{A}_2)$  and for  $s_{\ell-1} \in [\beta_k, 1 - \beta_k]$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{1} \aleph(s_{\ell-1}, s_{\ell}) \mathbb{Q}(s_{\ell}) \mathbf{g}_{\ell} \big( \mathbf{u}_{1}(s_{\ell}) \big) ds_{\ell} &\geq \int_{\beta_{k}}^{1-\beta_{k}} \aleph(s_{\ell-1}, s_{\ell}) \mathbb{Q}(s_{\ell}) \mathbf{g}_{\ell} \big( \mathbf{u}_{1}(s_{\ell}) \big) ds_{\ell} \\ &\geq \mathfrak{N} \mathbf{S}_{k} \int_{\beta_{k}}^{1-\beta_{k}} \aleph(s_{\ell-1}, s_{\ell}) \mathbb{Q}(s_{\ell}) ds_{\ell} \\ &\geq \mathfrak{N} \mathbf{S}_{k} \beta_{1} \int_{\beta_{1}}^{1-\beta_{1}} \aleph(s_{\ell}, s_{\ell}) \mathbb{Q}(s_{\ell}) ds_{\ell} \\ &\geq \mathfrak{N} \mathbf{S}_{k} \beta_{1} \frac{r_{0}^{2}}{(N-2)^{2}} \int_{\beta_{1}}^{1-\beta_{1}} \aleph(s_{\ell}, s_{\ell}) s_{\ell}^{\frac{2(N-1)}{2-N}} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{Q}_{i}(s_{\ell}) ds_{\ell} \\ &\geq \mathfrak{N} \mathbf{S}_{k} \beta_{1} \frac{r_{0}^{2}}{(N-2)^{2}} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{Q}_{i}^{*} \int_{\beta_{1}}^{1-\beta_{1}} \aleph(s_{\ell}, s_{\ell}) s_{\ell}^{\frac{2(N-1)}{2-N}} ds_{\ell} \\ &\geq \mathbf{S}_{k}. \end{split}$$

Continuing with the bootstrapping argument, we get

$$(\Omega \mathbf{u}_1)(\mathbf{\tau}) = \int_0^1 \aleph(\mathbf{\tau}, s_1) \mathbf{Q}(s_1) \mathbf{g}_1 \left[ \int_0^1 \aleph(s_1, s_2) \mathbf{Q}(s_2) \mathbf{g}_2 \left[ \int_0^1 \aleph(s_2, s_3) \mathbf{Q}(s_3) \mathbf{g}_4 \cdots \mathbf{g}_{\ell-1} \left[ \int_0^1 \aleph(s_{\ell-1}, s_\ell) \mathbf{Q}(s_\ell) \mathbf{g}_\ell \left( \mathbf{u}_1(s_\ell) \right) ds_\ell \right] \cdots \right] ds_3 \right] ds_2 \right] ds_1$$

$$\geq \mathbf{S}_{\ell}.$$

Thus, if  $\mathbf{u}_1 \in \mathcal{P}_{\beta_k} \cap \partial \Lambda_{2,k}$ , then

$$\|\Omega \mathbf{u}_1\| \ge \|\mathbf{u}_1\|. \tag{7}$$

It is evident that  $0 \in \Lambda_{2,k} \subset \overline{\Lambda}_{2,k} \subset \Lambda_{1,k}$ . From (6),(7), it follows from Theorem 3.1 that the operator  $\Omega$  has a fixed point  $\mathbf{u}_1^{[k]} \in \mathcal{P}_{\beta_k} \cap (\overline{\Lambda}_{1,k} \setminus \Lambda_{2,k})$  such that  $\mathbf{u}_1^{[k]}(t) \geq 0$  on (0,1), and  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . Next, setting  $\mathbf{u}_{\ell+1} = \mathbf{u}_1$ , we obtain denumerably many positive solutions  $\{(\mathbf{u}_1^{[k]}, \mathbf{u}_2^{[k]}, \cdots, \mathbf{u}_{\ell}^{[k]})\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  of (3) given iteratively by

$$\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{j}}(\mathbf{\tau}) = \int_0^1 \aleph(\mathbf{\tau}, s) \mathbf{Q}(s) \mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{j}}(\mathbf{u}_{\mathbf{j}+1}(s)) ds, \ \mathbf{j} = 1, 2, \cdots, \ell - 1, \ell$$
$$\mathbf{u}_{\ell+1}(\mathbf{\tau}) = \mathbf{u}_1(\mathbf{\tau}).$$

The proof is completed.

For  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{p}_i = 1$ , we have the following theorem.

**Theorem 3.4** Suppose  $(\mathcal{H}_1) - (\mathcal{H}_2)$  hold, let  $\{\beta_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  be a sequence with  $\tau_{k+1} < \beta_k < \tau_k$ . Let  $\{R_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  and  $\{S_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  be such that

$$\mathtt{R}_{k+1} < eta_k \mathtt{S}_k < \mathtt{S}_k < \mathfrak{N} \mathtt{S}_k < \mathtt{R}_k, \ k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Further, assume that  $g_j$  satisfies  $(\mathcal{A}_2)$  and  $(\mathcal{A}_3) \ g_\iota(u(\tau)) \leq M_2 R_k$  for all  $0 \leq u(\tau) \leq R_k, \tau \in [0,1]$ , where

$$\mathtt{M}_2 < \min \Bigg\{ \Bigg[ \frac{r_0^2}{(N-2)^2} \| \aleph \|_{\infty} \prod_{i=1}^n \| \mathtt{Q}_i \|_{\mathtt{p}_i} \Bigg]^{-1}, \ \mathfrak{N} \Bigg\}.$$

The iterative system (2) has denumerably many radial solutions  $\{(\mathbf{u}_1^{[k]}, \mathbf{u}_2^{[k]}, \cdots, \mathbf{u}_{\ell}^{[k]})\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  such that  $\mathbf{u}_j^{[k]}(\tau) \geq 0$  on (0,1),  $\mathbf{j} = 1, 2, \cdots, \ell$  and  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ .

**Proof.** Let  $\Lambda_{1,k}$  be as in the proof of Theorem 3.3 and let  $\mathbf{u}_1 \in \mathcal{P}_{\beta_k} \cap \partial \Lambda_{2,k}$ . Again,  $\mathbf{u}_1(\tau) \leq \mathbf{R}_k = \|\mathbf{u}_1\|$  for all  $\tau_1 \in [0, 1]$ . By  $(\mathcal{A}_3)$  and  $0 < \tau_{\ell-1} < 1$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{1} \aleph(s_{\ell-1}, s_{\ell}) \mathtt{Q}(s_{\ell}) \mathtt{g}_{\ell} \big( \mathtt{u}_{1}(s_{\ell}) \big) ds_{\ell} &\leq \int_{0}^{1} \aleph(s_{\ell}, s_{\ell}) \mathtt{Q}(s_{\ell}) \mathtt{g}_{\ell} \big( \mathtt{u}_{1}(s_{\ell}) \big) ds_{\ell} \\ &\leq \mathtt{M}_{1} \mathtt{R}_{k} \int_{0}^{1} \aleph(s_{\ell}, s_{\ell}) \mathtt{Q}(s_{\ell}) ds_{\ell} \\ &\leq \mathtt{M}_{1} \mathtt{R}_{k} \frac{r_{0}^{2}}{(N-2)^{2}} \int_{0}^{1} \aleph(s_{\ell}, s_{\ell}) s_{\ell}^{\frac{2(N-1)}{2-N}} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \mathtt{Q}_{i}(s_{\ell}) ds_{\ell} \\ &\leq \mathtt{M}_{1} \mathtt{R}_{k} \frac{r_{0}^{2}}{(N-2)^{2}} \| \aleph \|_{\infty} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \| \mathtt{Q}_{i} \|_{\mathtt{P}_{i}} \\ &\leq \mathtt{R}_{k}. \end{split}$$

102

Continuing with this bootstrapping argument, we get

$$(\Omega \mathbf{u}_1)(t) = \int_0^1 \aleph(\tau, s_1) \mathbb{Q}(s_1) \mathbf{g}_1 \left[ \int_0^1 \aleph(s_1, s_2) \mathbb{Q}(s_2) \mathbf{g}_2 \left[ \int_0^1 \aleph(s_2, s_3) \mathbb{Q}(s_3) \mathbf{g}_4 \cdots \mathbf{g}_{\ell-1} \left[ \int_0^1 \aleph(s_{\ell-1}, s_\ell) \mathbb{Q}(s_\ell) \mathbf{g}_\ell (\mathbf{u}_1(s_\ell)) ds_\ell \right] \cdots \right] ds_3 ds_2 ds_1$$
  
$$\leq R_k.$$

Thus,  $\|\Omega u_1\| \leq \|u_1\|$  for  $u_1 \in \mathcal{P}_{\beta_k} \cap \partial \Lambda_{1,k}$ . Now define  $\Lambda_{2,k} = \{u \in \mathscr{B} : \|u\| < S_k\}$ . Let  $u_1 \in \mathcal{P}_{\Omega_k} \cap \partial \Lambda_{2,k}$  and let  $s_{\ell-1} \in [\beta_k, 1 - \beta_k]$ . Then the argument leading to (7) can be applied to the present case. Hence, the theorem is proved.

Finally, we deal with the case  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i > 1$ .

**Theorem 3.5** Suppose  $(\mathcal{H}_1) - (\mathcal{H}_2)$  hold, let  $\{\beta_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  be a sequence with  $\tau_{k+1} < \beta_k < \tau_k$ . Let  $\{R_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  and  $\{S_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  be such that

$$\mathbf{R}_{k+1} < \beta_k \mathbf{S}_k < \mathbf{S}_k < \mathfrak{N}\mathbf{S}_k < \mathbf{R}_k, \ k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Further, assume that  $g_j$  satisfies  $(\mathcal{A}_2)$  and  $(\mathcal{A}_4) \quad g_\iota(u(\tau)) \leq M_3 R_k$  for all  $0 \leq u(\tau) \leq R_k$ ,  $\tau \in [0,1]$ , where

$$M_3 < \min\left\{\left[\frac{r_0^2}{(N-2)^2}\|\aleph\|_{\infty}\prod_{i=1}^n\|\mathbf{Q}_i\|_1\right]^{-1}, \ \mathfrak{N}\right\}.$$

The iterative system (2) has denumerably many radial solutions  $\{(\mathbf{u}_1^{[k]}, \mathbf{u}_2^{[k]}, \cdots, \mathbf{u}_{\ell}^{[k]})\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  such that  $\mathbf{u}_j^{[k]}(\tau) \ge 0$  on (0, 1),  $\mathbf{j} = 1, 2, \cdots, \ell$  and  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ .

**Proof.** The proof is similar to the proof of Theorem 3.3.

## 4 Applications

**Example 4.1** Consider the following fractional order boundary value problem:

$$\Delta \mathbf{u}_{j} + \mathbf{P}(|\mathbf{x}|)\mathbf{g}_{j}(\mathbf{u}_{j+1}) = 0 \ in \ \mathbb{R}^{3} \backslash \mathscr{B}_{1},$$

$$\mathbf{u}_{j} = 0 \ on \ |\mathbf{x}| = 1,$$

$$\mathbf{u}_{j} \rightarrow 0 \ as \ |\mathbf{x}| \rightarrow +\infty,$$

$$\left. \right\}$$

$$(8)$$

where  $\mathbf{j} \in \{1, 2\}$ ,  $\mathbf{u}_3 = \mathbf{u}_1$ ,  $\mathbf{Q}(\mathbf{\tau}) = \frac{1}{\tau^4} \prod_{i=1}^2 \mathbf{Q}_i(\mathbf{\tau})$ ,  $\mathbf{Q}_i(\mathbf{\tau}) = \mathbf{P}_i(\frac{1}{\tau})$ , in which

$$P_1(t) = \frac{1}{|t-4|^{\frac{1}{2}}}$$
 and  $P_2(t) = \frac{1}{|t-3|^{\frac{1}{2}}},$ 

$$\mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{j}}(\mathbf{u}) = \begin{cases} 5 \times 10^{-14}, & \mathbf{u} \in (10^{-4}, +\infty), \\ \frac{30 \times 10^{-(4k+2)} - 5 \times 10^{-4k-10}}{10^{-(4k+2)} - 10^{-4k}} (\mathbf{u} - 10^{-4k}) + 5 \times 10^{-4k-10}, \\ \mathbf{u} \in \left[ 10^{-(4k+2)}, 10^{-4k} \right], \\ 30 \times 10^{-(4k+2)}, & \mathbf{u} \in \left( \frac{1}{5} \times 10^{-(4k+2)}, 10^{-(4k+2)} \right), \\ \frac{30 \times 10^{-(4k+2)} - 5 \times 10^{-(4k+14)}}{\frac{1}{5} \times 10^{-(4k+2)} - 10^{-(4k+4)}} (\mathbf{u} - 10^{-(4k+4)}) + 5 \times 10^{-(4k+14)}, \\ \mathbf{u} \in \left( 10^{-(4k+4)}, \frac{1}{5} \times 10^{-(4k+2)} \right], \end{cases}$$

j = 1, 2. Let

$$\tau_k = \frac{31}{64} - \sum_{r=1}^k \frac{1}{4(r+1)^4}, \ \beta_k = \frac{1}{2}(\tau_k + \tau_{k+1}), \ k = 1, 2, 3, \cdots,$$

then

$$\beta_1 = \frac{15}{32} - \frac{1}{648} < \frac{15}{32}$$

and

$$\tau_{k+1} < \beta_k < \tau_k, \ \beta_k > \frac{1}{5}.$$

It is easy to see

$$\tau_1 = \frac{15}{32} < \frac{1}{2}, \ \tau_k - \tau_{k+1} = \frac{1}{4(k+2)^4}, \ k = 1, 2, 3, \cdots$$

Since  $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k^4} = \frac{\pi^4}{90}$  and  $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k^2} = \frac{\pi^2}{6}$ , it follows that  $=\frac{31}{24} - \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{4(i+1)^4} = \frac{47}{64} - \frac{\pi^4}{360} > \frac{1}{5}.$ 

$$\tau^* = \lim_{k \to \infty} \tau_k = \frac{31}{64} - \sum_{i=1}^{1} \frac{1}{4(i+1)^4} = \frac{47}{64} - \frac{\pi}{360}$$

Also,

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{P}_{1}, \mathbf{P}_{2} \in L^{\mathbf{p}}[0,1] \quad \text{ and } \quad \prod_{i=1}^{2} \mathbf{Q}_{i}^{*} &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{12}}, \\ \int_{\beta_{1}}^{1-\beta_{1}} \aleph(s,s) s^{\frac{2(N-1)}{2-N}} ds &= 0.2657555992, \\ \beta_{1} \frac{r_{0}^{2}}{(N-2)^{2}} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{Q}_{i}^{*} \int_{\beta_{1}}^{1-\beta_{1}} \aleph(s,s) s^{\frac{2(N-1)}{2-N}} ds &= 0.03584271890, \\ \mathfrak{N} &= \max \left\{ \left[ \beta_{1} \frac{r_{0}^{2}}{(N-2)^{2}} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{Q}_{i}^{*} \int_{\beta_{1}}^{1-\beta_{1}} \aleph(s,s) s^{\frac{2(N-1)}{2-N}} ds \right]^{-1}, \ 1 \right\} \approx 27.89966918. \end{split}$$
Let  $q = 2, p_1 = p_2 = 1/4$ , then

$$\mathbf{M}_1 < \left[\frac{r_0^2}{(N-2)^2} \|\mathbf{\aleph}\|_{\mathbf{q}} \prod_{i=1}^n \|\mathbf{Q}_i\|_{p_i}\right]^{-1} \approx 5.95134 \times 10^{-10}.$$

So, let  $M_1 = 5.5 \times 10^{-10}$ . In addition, if we take

$$\mathbf{R}_k = 10^{-4k}, \, \mathbf{S}_k = 10^{-(4k+2)},$$

then

$$\mathbf{R}_{k+1} = 10^{-(4k+4)} < \frac{1}{5} \times 10^{-(4k+2)} < \beta \mathbf{S}_k < \mathbf{S}_k = 10^{-(4k+2)} < \mathbf{R}_k = 10^{-4k},$$

and  $g_1, g_2$  satisfy the following growth conditions:

$$\begin{split} & \mathsf{g}_{j}(\mathsf{u}) \leq \mathsf{M}_{1}\mathsf{R}_{k} = 5.5 \times 10^{-4k-10}, \ \mathsf{u} \in \left[0, 10^{-4k}\right], \\ & \mathsf{g}_{j}(\mathsf{u}) \geq \mathfrak{N}\mathsf{S}_{k} = 27.89966918 \times 10^{-(4k+2)}, \ \mathsf{u} \in \left[\frac{1}{5} \times 10^{-(4k+2)}, 10^{-(4k+2)}\right]. \end{split}$$

Then all the conditions of Theorem 3.3 are satisfied. Therefore, by Theorem 3.3, the boundary value problem (8) has denumerably many positive solutions  $\{(\mathbf{u}_1^{[k]}, \mathbf{u}_2^{[k]})\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  such that  $10^{-(4k+2)} \leq \|\mathbf{u}_j^{[k]}\| \leq 10^{-4k}$  for each  $k = 1, 2, 3, \cdots$ , and  $\mathbf{j} = 1, 2$ .

## 5 Conclusion

This paper focuses on establishing the existence of denumerably many positive radial solutions to the iterative system of nonlinear elliptic equations through the application of one of the most important fixed point theorems known as "Krasnoselskii's fixed point theorem". These ease the proof of the existence of the positive solution attached to the system under study.

In the future, we aim to expand this study by adapting some techniques used to other ideas and extracting new results that show the effectiveness of this study and its effect in the midst of scientific research. The closest result we would like to prove is the establishment of the multiple and sign-changing solutions for the iterative system of nonlinear elliptic equations with critical potential and critical parameters.

#### Acknowledgment

The authors would like to thank the referees for their valuable suggestions and comments for the improvement of the paper. First author Mahammad Khuddush is thankful to Dr. Lankapalli Bullayya College of Engineering for its support during the writing of this paper.

#### References

 A. Aberqi, J. Bennouna and M. Elmassoudi. Nonlinear elliptic equations with some measure data in Musielak-Orlicz spaces. *Nonlinear Dyn. Syst. Theory* 19 (2) (2019) 227–242.

#### M. KHUDDUSH, K. R. PRASAD AND B. BHARATHI

- [2] Y. Akdim, M. Rhoudaf and A. Salmani, Existence of solution for nonlinear anisotropic degenerated elliptic unilateral problems. *Nonlinear Dyn. Syst. Theory* 18 (3) (2018) 213– 224.
- [3] J. Ali, K. Brown and R. Shivaji. Positive solutions for n×n elliptic systems with combined nonlinear effects. *Differ. Integral Equ.* 24 (3-4) (2011) 307–324.
- [4] J. Ali, R. Shivaji and M. Ramaswamy. Multiple positive solutions for classes of elliptic systems with combined nonlinear effects. *Differ. Integral Equ.* 19 (6) (2006) 669–680.
- [5] R. Dalmasso. Existence and uniqueness of positive solutions of semilinear elliptic systems. Nonlinear Anal. 39 (5) (2000) 559–568.
- [6] X. Dong and Y. Wei. Existence of radial solutions for nonlinear elliptic equations with gradient terms in annular domains. *Nonlinear Anal.* 187 (2019) 93–109.
- [7] D. Guo and V. Lakshmikantham. Nonlinear Problems in Abstract Cones. Academic Press, San Diego, 1988. [English]
- [8] D. D. Hai. Uniqueness of positive solutions for semilinear elliptic systems. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 313 (2) (2006) 761–767.
- [9] D. D. Hai and R. Shivaji, An existence result on positive solutions for a class of semilinear elliptic systems. Proc. R. Soc. Edinb. Sect. A 134 (1) (2004) 137–141.
- [10] R. Kajikiya, E. Ko. Existence of positive radial solutions for a semipositone elliptic equation. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 484 (2020) 123735.
- [11] M. Khuddush and K. R. Prasad. Positive Solutions for an Iterative System of Nonlinear Elliptic Equations. Bull. Malays. Math. Sci. Soc. 45 (2022) 245–272.
- [12] M. Khuddush, K. R. Prasad and B. Bharathi. Global existence and blow-up of solutions for a p-Kirchhoff type parabolic equation with logarithmic nonlinearity. J. Elliptic Parabol. Equ. 8 (2022) 919–938.
- [13] B. Son and P. Wang. Positive radial solutions to classes of nonlinear elliptic systems on the exterior of a ball. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 488 (2020) 124069.

Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory, 23 (1) (2023) 107-118



# Existence of Weak Solutions for a Class of (p(b(u)), q(b(u)))-Laplacian Problems

S. Ait Temghart<sup>\*</sup>, H. El Hammar, C. Allalou and K. Hilal

Laboratory LMACS, FST of Beni Mellal, Sultan Moulay Slimane University, Morocco

Received: September 15, 2021; Revised: January 1, 2023

**Abstract:** In this paper, we consider the existence of weak solutions for some parabolic (p(b(u)), q(b(u)))-Laplacian problem when (p, q) is a nonlocal quantity. The novelty of this work is the study of some problems involving the (p, q)-Laplacian operator in the nonlocal case. The motivation to study these nonlocal problems relies in the fact that in reality, the measurements of some physical quantities are not made pointwise but through some local averages.

**Keywords:** (p(b(u)), q(b(u)))-Laplacian; weak solutions; parabolic problem, generalised Sobolev spaces.

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010): 35J60, 35J05, 35-XX, 35Kxx.

# 1 Introduction

The study of partial differential equations involving the (p, q)-Laplacian generalized several types of problems not only in physics, but also in biophysics, plasma physics, and in the study of chemical reactions. These problems appear, for example, in a general reaction-diffusion system

$$u_t = -\operatorname{div}\left[\left(a_p|\nabla u|^{p-2} + b_q|\nabla u|^{q-2}\right)\nabla u\right] + f(x, u),$$

where  $a_p, b_q \in \mathbb{R}^+$  are some positive constants, the function u generally describes the concentration, the term div  $[(a_p |\nabla u|^{p-2} + b_q |\nabla u|^{q-2}) \nabla u]$  corresponds to the diffusion with coefficient  $D(u) = a_p |\nabla u|^{p-2} + b_q |\nabla u|^{q-2}$ , and f(x, u) is the reaction term related to the source and loss processes. In general, the reaction term f(x, u) has a polynomial form with respect to the concentration u.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author: mailto:saidotmghart@gmail.com

<sup>© 2023</sup> InforMath Publishing Group/1562-8353 (print)/1813-7385 (online)/http://e-ndst.kiev.ua107

#### S. AIT TEMGHART, H. EL HAMMAR, C. ALLALOU AND K. HILAL

Because of the importance of this kind of problems, many authors have investigated the existence and uniqueness of different types of their solutions [5, 7, 14].

Our main interest in this work is to extend these results to the case when p, q may depend on the space variable x and the unknown solution u. We consider the case where the dependency of p, q on u is a nonlocal quantity. Namely, we study the following parabolic problem:

$$\begin{cases} u_t - \operatorname{div}(|\nabla u|^{p(b(u))-2}\nabla u) - \operatorname{div}(|\nabla u|^{q(b(u))-2}\nabla u) = f \text{ in } \Omega_T = \Omega \times (0,T), \\ u = 0 \quad \text{on } \Gamma = \partial\Omega \times (0,T), \\ u(x,0) = u_0(x) \quad \text{in } \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(1)

where  $\Omega$  is a bounded domain of  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $N \ge 2$ , T > 0, f,  $u_0$  are given data,  $p : \mathbb{R} \to [1, +\infty)$ and  $q : \mathbb{R} \to [1, +\infty)$  are real functions such that

$$p, q$$
 are continuous and  $1 < \alpha \le q < p \le \beta < \infty$  (2)

for some constants  $\alpha, \beta$ . We denote by b a mapping from  $W_0^{1,\alpha}(\Omega)$  into  $\mathbb{R}$  such that

$$b$$
 is continuous and bounded, (3)

i.e., b sends the bounded sets of  $W_0^{1,\alpha}(\Omega)$  into the bounded sets of  $\mathbb{R}$ . In this case, suitable examples for the mapping b in (3) can be chosen as

$$b(u) = \|\nabla u\|_{L^{\alpha}(\Omega)}.$$

This kind of problems was first introduced by Chipot and de Oliveira in [9]. The elliptic version of the problem (1) with local quantities p, q was studied by L. Yanru in [15], he obtained the existence of weak solutions by means of a singular perturbation technique and the Schauder fixed point theorem. We were inspired by the work of C. Zhang and X. Zhang (see [16]), where the authors proved the existence of weak solutions to the following parabolic p(u)-Laplacian problem:

$$\begin{cases} u_t - \operatorname{div} \left( |\nabla u|^{p(b(u))-2} \nabla u \right) = f & \text{in } \Omega_T = \Omega \times (0,T), \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \Gamma = \partial \Omega \times (0,T), \\ u(x,0) = u_0(x) & \text{in } \Omega. \end{cases}$$

The fact that in reality, the physical measurements of certain quantities are not made in a pointwise way but through local averages, is always the motivation to study non-local problems. The main difficulty in the analysis of these p(u)-problems relies in the fact that their weak formulations cannot be written as equalities in terms of duality in fixed Banach spaces. For more interesting features and results, we refer to [6, 9, 13, 15] and references therein.

This paper is organized as follows. In Section 2, we introduce the basic assumptions and we recall some definitions, basic properties of generalised Sobolev spaces that we will use later. Section 3 is devoted to showing the existence of weak solutions to the problem (1).

108

# 2 Preliminaries

Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded domain of  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $N \geq 2$ , with the Lipschitz-continuous boundary  $\partial \Omega$ . Given a measurable function  $h : \Omega \to [1, \infty)$ , we introduce the variable exponent Lebesgue space by

$$L^{h(\cdot)}(\Omega) = \{ u : \Omega \to \mathbb{R} / \rho_{h(\cdot)}(u) := \int_{\Omega} |u(x)|^{h(x)} dx < \infty \}.$$

$$\tag{4}$$

Equipped with the Luxembourg norm

$$||u||_{h(\cdot)} := \inf\left\{\lambda > 0 : \rho_{h(\cdot)}\left(\frac{u}{\lambda}\right) \le 1\right\},\tag{5}$$

 $L^{h(\cdot)}(\Omega)$  becomes a Banach space. If

$$1 < h_{-} \le h_{+} < \infty, \tag{6}$$

then  $L^{h(\cdot)}(\Omega)$  is separable and reflexive. The dual space of  $L^{h(\cdot)}(\Omega)$  is  $L^{h'(\cdot)}(\Omega)$ , where h'(x) is the generalised Hölder conjugate of h(x),

$$\frac{1}{h(x)}+\frac{1}{h'(x)}=1.$$

From the definitions of the modular  $\rho_{h(\cdot)}(u)$  and the norm (5), it can be proved that if (6) holds, then

$$\min\left\{ \|u\|_{h(\cdot)}^{h_{-}}, \ \|u\|_{h(\cdot)}^{h_{+}} \right\} \le \rho_{h(\cdot)}(u) \le \max\left\{ \|u\|_{h(\cdot)}^{h_{-}}, \ \|u\|_{h(\cdot)}^{h_{+}} \right\}.$$
(7)

One very useful consequence of (7) is

$$\|u\|_{h(\cdot)}^{h_{-}} - 1 \le \rho_{h(\cdot)}(u) \le \|u\|_{h(\cdot)}^{h_{+}} + 1.$$
(8)

For any functions  $u \in L^{h(\cdot)}(\Omega)$  and  $v \in L^{h'(\cdot)}(\Omega)$ , the generalized Hölder inequality holds:

$$\int_{\Omega} uvdx \le \left(\frac{1}{h_{-}} + \frac{1}{h_{-}'}\right) \|u\|_{h(\cdot)} \|v\|_{h'(\cdot)} \le 2\|u\|_{h(\cdot)} \|v\|_{h'(\cdot)}.$$
(9)

We define also the generalised Sobolev space by

$$W^{1,h(\cdot)}(\Omega) := \{ u \in L^{h(\cdot)}(\Omega) : \nabla u \in L^{h(\cdot)}(\Omega) \},\$$

which is a Banach space for the norm

$$\|u\|_{1,h(\cdot)} := \|u\|_{h(\cdot)} + \|\nabla u\|_{h(\cdot)}.$$
(10)

Now, we introduce the following function space:

$$W_0^{1,h(\cdot)}(\Omega) := \{ u \in \mathbf{W}_0^{1,1}(\Omega) : \nabla u \in L^{h(\cdot)}(\Omega) \},\$$

which we endow with the norm

$$\|u\|_{W_0^{1,h(\cdot)}(\Omega)} := \|u\|_1 + \|\nabla u\|_{h(\cdot)}.$$
(11)

If  $h \in C(\overline{\Omega})$ , then the norm in  $W_0^{1,h(\cdot)}(\Omega)$  is equivalent to  $\|\nabla u\|_{h(\cdot)}$ . If h is log-Hölder continuous, then  $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  is dense in  $W_0^{1,h(\cdot)}(\Omega)$ . Let h be a measurable function in  $\Omega$  satisfying  $1 \leq h_- \leq h_+ < d$  and being log-Hölder continuous, then

$$\|u\|_{h^*(\cdot)} \le C \|\nabla u\|_{h(\cdot)} \quad \forall u \in W_0^{1,h(\cdot)}(\Omega),$$

for some positive constant C, where

$$h^*(x) := \begin{cases} \frac{Nh(x)}{N-h(x)} & \text{if } h(x) < N, \\ \infty & \text{if } h(x) \ge N. \end{cases}$$

On the other hand, if  $h_- > N$ , then

$$||u||_{\infty} \le C ||\nabla u||_{h(\cdot)} \quad \forall u \in W_0^{1,h(\cdot)}(\Omega) ,$$

where C is another positive constant.

Lemma 2.1 [9] Assume that

 $1 < \alpha \le q_n(x) \le \beta < \infty \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{N},$ 

for a.e.  $x \in \Omega$ , for some constants  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ , (12)

$$q_n \to q \quad a.e. \text{ in } \Omega, \text{ as } n \to \infty,$$
 (13)

$$\nabla u_n \to \nabla u \text{ in } L^1(\Omega)^d, \text{ as } n \to \infty,$$
 (14)

 $\||\nabla u_n|^{q_n(x)}\|_1 \leq C$ , for some positive constant C not depending on n. (15) Then  $\nabla u \in L^{q(\cdot)}(\Omega)^d$  and

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_n|^{q_n(x)} dx \ge \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^{q(x)} dx.$$
(16)

## 3 Main Results

In this section, we will give a reasonable definition for weak solutions and prove the existence of weak solutions to problem (1). We introduce the functional space

$$\begin{split} X\left(\Omega_{T}\right) &:= \left\{ u \in L^{\infty}\left(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega)\right) : \left|\nabla u\right| \in L^{p(b(u))}\left(\Omega_{T}\right), u(\cdot,t) \in V_{t}(\Omega) \text{ a.e. } t \in (0,T) \right\}, \\ \text{where} \\ V_{t}(\Omega) &:= \left\{ u \in L^{2}(\Omega) \cap W_{0}^{1,\alpha}(\Omega) : \left|\nabla u\right| \in L^{p(b(u(\cdot,t)))}(\Omega) \right\}. \end{split}$$

In the same way, we define 
$$Y(\Omega_T)$$
 associated with the nonlinear exponent function  $q(b(u))$ . We denote their dual spaces by  $X(\Omega_T)^*$  and  $Y(\Omega_T)^*$ , respectively.

Now, we give a definition of weak solutions for the parabolic problem (1).

**Definition 3.1** A function  $u \in X(\Omega_T) \cap Y(\Omega_T) \cap C([0,T]; L^2(\Omega))$  is said to be a weak solution to problem (1) if for any  $\varphi \in C^1(\overline{\Omega}_T)$  with  $\varphi(\cdot, T) = 0$ , we have

$$-\int_{\Omega} u_0(x)\varphi(x,0)dx + \int_0^T \int_{\Omega} -u\varphi_t dxdt + \int_0^T \int_{\Omega} \left( |\nabla u|^{p(b(u))-2} \nabla u + |\nabla u|^{q(b(u))-2} \nabla u \right) \cdot \nabla \varphi dxdt = \int_0^T \int_{\Omega} f\varphi dxdt.$$
<sup>(17)</sup>

**Theorem 3.1** Assume that (2) and (3) hold together with  $\alpha > 2N/(N+2)$ ,  $u_0 \in L^2(\Omega)$  and  $f \in L^{\alpha'}(\Omega_T)$ . Then there exists at least one weak solution to problem (1) in the sense of Definition 3.1.

**Proof.** We denote  $h = T/N_0$ , where  $N_0$  is a positive integer. We consider the following time-discrete problem:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{u_{k}-u_{k-1}}{h} - \operatorname{div}\left(\left|\nabla u_{k}\right|^{p(b(u_{k}))-2} \nabla u_{k}\right) \\ -\operatorname{div}\left(\left|\nabla u_{k}\right|^{q(b(u_{k}))-2} \nabla u_{k}\right) = [f]_{h}\left((k-1)h\right)\right), \quad x \in \Omega, \\ u_{k}|_{\partial\Omega} = 0, \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, N_{0}, \end{cases}$$
(18)

where the Steklov average  $[f]_h$  of f is defined as

$$[f]_h(x,t) = \frac{1}{h} \int_t^{t+h} f(x,\tau) d\tau \in L^{\alpha'}(\Omega).$$

For k = 1, we consider the problem

$$\begin{pmatrix}
\frac{u-u_0}{h} - \operatorname{div}\left(|\nabla u|^{p(b(u))-2}\nabla u\right) - \operatorname{div}\left(|\nabla u|^{q(b(u))-2}\nabla u\right) = [f]_h(0), \quad x \in \Omega, \\
u|_{\partial\Omega} = 0.
\end{cases}$$
(19)

 $\operatorname{Set}$ 

$$W = W_0^{1,p(b(u))}(\Omega) \cap W_0^{1,q(b(u))}(\Omega) \cap L^2(\Omega).$$

First, we show that the problem (19) has a weak solution  $u_1 \in W$ .

# Step 1: Approximation

For each  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we consider the auxiliary problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{u-u_0}{h} - \operatorname{div}\left(|\nabla u|^{p(b(u))-2}\nabla u\right) - \operatorname{div}\left(|\nabla u|^{q(b(u))-2}\nabla u\right) \\ -\varepsilon \operatorname{div}\left(|\nabla u|^{\beta-2}\nabla u\right) = [f]_h(0), \quad x \in \Omega, \qquad (20) \\ u|_{\partial\Omega} = 0, \end{cases}$$

where

$$\frac{2N}{N+2} < \alpha < q(b(u)) \leqslant p(b(u)) \leqslant \beta < \infty \quad \forall u \in \mathbb{R}.$$

**Lemma 3.1** For each  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there exists a weak solution  $u_{\varepsilon}$  to the problem (20). **Proof.** Let  $\omega \in L^2(\Omega)$  be given. We have

$$\frac{2N}{N+2} < \alpha < q(b(w)) \leqslant p(b(w)) \leqslant \beta < \infty \quad \text{ for a.e. } x \in \Omega.$$

Observing that  $[f]_h(0) \in L^{\alpha'}(\Omega) \subset W^{-1,\alpha'}(\Omega) \subset W^{-1,\beta'}(\Omega)$ , by the usual theory of monotone operators, there exists a unique solution  $u_w \in W_0^{1,\beta}(\Omega)$  such that

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{u_w - u_0}{h} v dx + \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_w|^{p(b(w)) - 2} \nabla u_w \cdot \nabla v dx$$
$$+ \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_w|^{q(b(w)) - 2} \nabla u_w \cdot \nabla v dx + \varepsilon \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_w|^{\beta - 2} \nabla u_w \cdot \nabla v dx = \int_{\Omega} [f]_h(0) v dx \quad (21)$$

for all  $v \in W_0^{1,\beta}(\Omega)$ . By taking  $v = u_w$  in (21), we get

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{2h} \int_{\Omega} u_w^2 dx + \int_{\Omega} \left| \nabla u_w \right|^{p(b(w))} dx + \int_{\Omega} \left| \nabla u_w \right|^{q(b(w))} dx \\ &+ \varepsilon \int_{\Omega} \left| \nabla u_w \right|^{\beta} dx \leqslant \frac{1}{2h} \int_{\Omega} u_0^2 dx + C \left\| \nabla u_w \right\|_{L^{\beta}(\Omega)} \end{split}$$

for some positive constant  $C = C(\alpha, \beta, \Omega, [f]_h(0))$ . Then, using Young's inequality, we obtain

$$\|u_w\|_{L^2(\Omega)} + \|\nabla u_w\|_{L^\beta(\Omega)} \leqslant C \tag{22}$$

for some positive constant  $C = C(\alpha, \beta, \Omega, [f]_h(0), \varepsilon, h, N)$ . Hence

$$\|u_w\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \leqslant C.$$

Let us now consider the mapping

$$T \ni w \to u_w \in T$$
,

where  $T := \{v \in L^2(\Omega) : \|v\|_2 \leq C\}$ . Firstly, we prove that this mapping is continuous, then by Schauder's fixed point theorem, it will have a fixed point. We suppose that  $w_n$ is a sequence in  $L^2(\Omega)$  such that

$$w_n \to w \quad \text{in} \quad L^2(\Omega) \quad \text{as} \quad n \to \infty.$$
 (23)

For every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , let  $u_n$  be the solution to the problem (20) associated to  $w = w_n$ . From (22), we have

$$\|\nabla u_n\|_{\beta} \leq C$$

for some positive constant C which does not depend on n. It follows that

$$u_n \rightharpoonup u \quad \text{in} \quad W_0^{1,\beta}(\Omega), \quad \text{as} \quad n \to \infty,$$
 (24)

$$u_n \to u \quad \text{in} \quad L^2(\Omega), \quad \text{as} \quad n \to \infty.$$
 (25)

From (21), one has

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{u_n - u_0}{h} v dx + \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_n|^{p(b(w_n)) - 2} \nabla u_n \cdot \nabla v dx + \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_n|^{q(b(w_n)) - 2} \nabla u_n \cdot \nabla v dx + \varepsilon \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_n|^{\beta - 2} \nabla u_n \cdot \nabla v dx = \int_{\Omega} [f]_h(0) v dx, \ \forall v \in W_0^{1,\beta}(\Omega).$$
(26)

Using the monotonicity, one also has

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{\left(u_{n}-v\right)^{2}}{h} dx + \int_{\Omega} \left(\left|\nabla u_{n}\right|^{p\left(b\left(w_{n}\right)\right)-2} \nabla u_{n} + \left|\nabla u_{n}\right|^{q\left(b\left(w_{n}\right)\right)-2} \nabla u_{n} + \varepsilon \left|\nabla u_{n}\right|^{\beta-2} \nabla u_{n}\right) \nabla \left(u_{n}-v\right) dx - \int_{\Omega} \left(\left|\nabla v\right|^{p\left(b\left(w_{n}\right)\right)-2} \nabla v + \left|\nabla v\right|^{q\left(b\left(w_{n}\right)\right)-2} \nabla v + \varepsilon \left|\nabla v\right|^{\beta-2} \nabla v\right) \nabla \left(u_{n}-v\right) dx \ge 0 \quad (27)$$

for all  $v \in W_0^{1,\beta}(\Omega)$ . Taking  $u_n - v$  as a test function in (26) and using (27), we get

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{u_0 - v}{h} (u_n - v) dx + \int_{\Omega} [f]_h(0) (u_n - v) dx$$
$$- \int_{\Omega} \left( |\nabla v|^{p(b(w_n)) - 2} \nabla v + |\nabla v|^{q(b(w_n)) - 2} \nabla v + \varepsilon |\nabla v|^{\beta - 2} \nabla v \right) \cdot \nabla (u_n - v) dx \ge 0 \quad (28)$$

for all  $v \in W_0^{1,\beta}(\Omega)$ . From (23), we may assume that for some subsequence

 $w_n \to w$  a.e. in  $\Omega$ , as  $n \to \infty$ .

According to the assumptions of  $p,\,q$  and Lebesgue's theorem, we know that for any  $v\in W^{1,\beta}_0(\Omega),$ 

$$|\nabla v|^{p(b(w_n))-2}\nabla v \to |\nabla v|^{p(b(w))-2}\nabla v \quad \text{strongly in} \quad L^{\beta'}(\Omega)^d, \quad \text{as} \quad n \to \infty,$$
  
$$|\nabla v|^{q(b(w_n))-2}\nabla v \to |\nabla v|^{q(b(w))-2}\nabla v \quad \text{strongly in} \quad L^{\beta'}(\Omega)^d, \quad \text{as} \quad n \to \infty.$$
(29)

Using (25), (28) and (29), we obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{u_0 - v}{h} (u - v) dx + \int_{\Omega} [f]_h(0) (u - v) dx$$
$$- \int_{\Omega} \left( |\nabla v|^{p(b(w)) - 2} \nabla v + |\nabla v|^{q(b(w)) - 2} \nabla v + \varepsilon |\nabla v|^{\beta - 2} \nabla v \right) \cdot \nabla (u - v) dx \ge 0$$

for all  $v \in W_0^{1,\beta}(\Omega)$ . We take  $v = u \pm \theta z$  in (3), with  $z \in W_0^{1,\beta}(\Omega)$  and  $\theta > 0$ , we get

$$\pm \left[ \int_{\Omega} \frac{u_0 - (u \mp \delta z)}{h} z dx + \int_{\Omega} [f]_h(0) z dx - \int_{\Omega} \left( |\nabla(u \mp \delta z)|^{p(b(w)) - 2} \nabla(u \mp \delta z) + |\nabla(u \mp \delta z)|^{q(b(w)) - 2} \nabla(u \mp \delta z) + \varepsilon |\nabla(u \mp \delta z)|^{\beta - 2} \nabla(u \mp \delta z) \right) \cdot \nabla z dx \right] \ge 0.$$

By letting  $\theta \to 0$ , we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega} \frac{u - u_0}{h} z dx + \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^{p(b(w)) - 2} \nabla u \cdot \nabla z dx + \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^{q(b(w)) - 2} \nabla u \cdot \nabla z dx \\ + \varepsilon \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^{\beta - 2} \nabla u \cdot \nabla z dx = \int_{\Omega} [f]_h(0) z dx, \quad \forall z \in W_0^{1,\beta}(\Omega). \end{split}$$

Hence  $u = u_w$ . Since the limit is uniquely determined and by (25), we get

 $u_n \to u_w$  strongly in  $L^2(\Omega)$ , as  $n \to \infty$ ,

which proves the continuity of the mapping. By Schauder's fixed point theorem, this mapping has a fixed point, and thus concludes the proof of Lemma 3.1.

# Step 2: Passage to the limit as $\varepsilon \to 0$

From Lemma 3.1, it can be obtained that for each  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there exists  $u_{\varepsilon} \in W_0^{1,\beta}(\Omega)$  such that

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{u_{\varepsilon} - u_{0}}{h} v dx + \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_{\varepsilon}|^{p(b(u_{\varepsilon})) - 2} \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla v dx + \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_{\varepsilon}|^{q(b(u_{\varepsilon})) - 2} \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla v dx + \varepsilon \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_{\varepsilon}|^{\beta - 2} \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla v dx = \int_{\Omega} [f]_{h}(0) v dx$$
(30)

for all  $v \in W_0^{1,\beta}(\Omega)$ . By taking  $v = u_{\varepsilon}$  in (30), we get

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{2h} \int_{\Omega} u_{\varepsilon}^2 dx + \int_{\Omega} \left| \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \right|^{p(b(u_{\varepsilon}))} dx + \int_{\Omega} \left| \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \right|^{q(b(u_{\varepsilon}))} dx + \varepsilon \int_{\Omega} \left| \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \right|^{\beta} dx \\ \leqslant \frac{1}{2h} \int_{\Omega} u_0^2 dx + \int_{\Omega} [f]_h(0) u_{\varepsilon} dx. \end{split}$$

Then we conclude that

$$\int_{\Omega} \left| \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \right|^{p(b(u_{\varepsilon}))} dx + \int_{\Omega} \left| \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \right|^{q(b(u_{\varepsilon}))} dx + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \left\| \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \right\|_{L^{\beta}(\Omega)}^{\beta} \leqslant C,$$

and

$$\|\nabla u_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\alpha}(\Omega)} \leqslant C,$$

where C is a positive constant which does not depend on  $\varepsilon$ . Using the compact embedding  $W_0^{1,\alpha}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^2(\Omega)$  due to the fact that  $\alpha > 2N/(N+2)$ , we have

$$\begin{split} u_{\varepsilon} &\rightharpoonup u & \text{ in } W_0^{1,\alpha}(\Omega), \\ \nabla u_{\varepsilon} &\rightharpoonup \nabla u & \text{ in } (L^{\alpha}(\Omega))^N, \\ u_{\varepsilon} &\to u & \text{ strongly in } L^2(\Omega), \\ u_{\varepsilon} &\to u & \text{ a.e. in } \Omega, \\ p\left(b\left(u_{\varepsilon}\right)\right) &\to p(b(u)) & \text{ a.e. in } \Omega, \qquad q\left(b\left(u_{\varepsilon}\right)\right) \to q(b(u)) & \text{ a.e. in } \Omega. \end{split}$$

By the application of Lemma 2.1, we get

$$u \in W_0^{1,p(b(u))}(\Omega) \text{ and } u \in W_0^{1,q(b(u))}(\Omega).$$

Therefore,

$$u \in W_0^{1,p(b(u))}(\Omega) \cap W_0^{1,q(b(u))}(\Omega).$$

By using the monotonicity trick in [9], we can establish that (19) has a weak solution  $u_1(x)$  in W.

In the same way, we show that (18) has weak solutions  $u_k$  for  $k = 2, ..., N_0$ . It means that, for every  $\varphi \in W$ , we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{u_k - u_{k-1}}{h} \varphi dx + \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_k|^{p(b(u_k)) - 2} \nabla u_k \cdot \nabla \varphi dx + \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_k|^{q(b(u_k)) - 2} \nabla u_k \cdot \nabla \varphi dx$$
$$= \int_{\Omega} [f]_h \left( (k-1)h \right) \varphi dx. \quad (31)$$

114

For any  $h = T/N_0$ , we define  $u_h(x, t)$  by

$$u_h(x,t) = \begin{cases} u_0(x), & t = 0, \\ u_1(x), & 0 < t \le h, \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ u_j(x), & (j-1)h < t \le jh, \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ u_{N_0}(x), & (N_0 - 1)h < t \le N_0h = T. \end{cases}$$

By taking  $\varphi = u_k$  in (31), we obtain

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} u_k^2 dx + h \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_k|^{p(b(u_k))} dx + h \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_k|^{q(b(u_k))} dx 
\leq \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} u_{k-1}^2 dx + h \| [f]_h ((k-1)h) \|_{L^{\alpha'}(\Omega)} \cdot \| u_k \|_{L^{\alpha}(\Omega)} 
\leq \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} u_{k-1}^2 dx + Ch \| [f]_h ((k-1)h) \|_{L^{\alpha'}(\Omega)} \cdot \| \nabla u_k \|_{L^{\alpha}(\Omega)}. \quad (32)$$

By the Hölder inequality, one has

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_k|^{\alpha} \, \mathrm{d}x \leqslant C \, \||\nabla u_k|^{\alpha}\|_{L^{(p(b(u_k))/\alpha}(\Omega)}$$
$$\leqslant C \left( \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_k|^{p(b(u_k))} \, \mathrm{d}x + 1 \right).$$

By using Young's inequality, one deduces that

$$\|[f]_h((k-1)h)\|_{L^{\alpha'}(\Omega)} \cdot \|\nabla u_k\|_{L^{\alpha}(\Omega)} \leq \varepsilon \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_k|^{p(b(u_k))} dx + C.$$

From (32), we get

$$\int_{\Omega} u_k^2 dx + h \int_{\Omega} \left| \nabla u_k \right|^{p(b(u_k))} dx + h \int_{\Omega} \left| \nabla u_k \right|^{q(b(u_k))} dx \leqslant \int_{\Omega} u_{k-1}^2 dx + Ch.$$
(33)

By summing up inequalities in (33), we deduce that

$$\int_{\Omega} u_h^2(x,t) dx + \int_0^T \int_{\Omega} \left( |\nabla u_h(x,t)|^{p(b(u_h))} + |\nabla u_h(x,t)|^{q(b(u_h))} \right) dx dt \leq \int_{\Omega} u_0^2 dx + CT.$$

Hence

$$\begin{aligned} \|u_h\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;L^2(\Omega))} + \|\nabla u_h\|_{L^{p(b(u_h))}(\Omega_T)} + \|u_h\|_{L^{\alpha}\left(0,T;W_0^{1,p(b(u_h))}(\Omega)\right)} \\ + \|\nabla u_h\|_{L^{q(b(u_h))}(\Omega_T)} + \|u_h\|_{L^{\alpha}\left(0,T;W_0^{1,q(b(u_h))}(\Omega)\right)} \leqslant C. \end{aligned}$$

Thus we have for some subsequence still labeled with h and some u,

$$u_{h} \longrightarrow u \quad \text{weakly-* in } L^{\infty} \left( 0, T; L^{2}(\Omega) \right),$$

$$u_{h} \longrightarrow u \quad \text{in } L^{\alpha} \left( 0, T; W_{0}^{1,\alpha}(\Omega) \right),$$

$$|\nabla u_{h}|^{p(b(u_{h}))-2} \nabla u_{h} \longrightarrow \xi \quad \text{in } \left( L^{\alpha'}(\Omega_{T}) \right)^{N},$$

$$|\nabla u_{h}|^{q(b(u_{h}))-2} \nabla u_{h} \longrightarrow \chi \quad \text{in } \left( L^{\alpha'}(\Omega_{T}) \right)^{N}.$$

**Lemma 3.2** u is a weak solution to problem (1).

**Proof.** For every  $k \in \{1, 2, ..., N_0\}$ , we take  $\varphi(x, kh)$  as a test function in (31), where  $\varphi \in C^1(\overline{\Omega}_T)$ ,  $\varphi(\cdot, T) = 0$  and  $\varphi(x, t)|_{\Gamma} = 0$ , we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{h} \int_{\Omega} u_k(x)\varphi(x,kh)dx &- \frac{1}{h} \int_{\Omega} u_{k-1}(x)\varphi(x,kh)dx \\ -\int_{\Omega} \left( |\nabla u_k|^{p(b(u_k))-2} \nabla u_k \right)(x) \cdot \nabla \varphi(x,kh)dx - \int_{\Omega} \left( |\nabla u_k|^{q(b(u_k))-2} \nabla u_k \right)(x) \cdot \nabla \varphi(x,kh)dx \\ &= \int_{\Omega} [f]_h((k-1)h)\varphi(x,kh)dx. \end{aligned}$$

Using the definition of  $u_h(x,t)$  and the fact that  $\varphi(\cdot, N_0 h) = 0$ , we get

$$h\sum_{k=1}^{N_0-1} \int_{\Omega} u_h(x,kh) \frac{\varphi(x,kh) - \varphi(x,(k+1)h)}{h} dx - \int_{\Omega} u_0(x)\varphi(x,h) dx$$
$$-h\sum_{k=1}^{N_0} \int_{\Omega} \left( |\nabla u_h|^{p(b(u_h))-2} \nabla u_h + |\nabla u_h|^{q(b(u_h))-2} \nabla u_h \right) (x,kh) \cdot \nabla \varphi(x,kh) dx$$
$$= h\sum_{k=1}^{N_0} \int_{\Omega} [f]_h((k-1)h)\varphi(x,kh) dx.$$
(34)

Since  $C^1(\overline{\Omega}_T)$ , one has

$$\begin{split} h \sum_{k=1}^{N_0} \int_{\Omega} \left( |\nabla u_h|^{p(b(u_h))-2} \nabla u_h + |\nabla u_h|^{q(b(u_h))-2} \nabla u_h \right) (x,kh) \cdot \nabla \varphi(x,kh) dx \\ &= \int_0^T \int_{\Omega} \left( |\nabla u_h|^{p(b(u_h))-2} \nabla u_h + |\nabla u_h|^{q(b(u_h))-2} \nabla u_h \right) (x,\tau) \cdot \nabla \varphi(x,\tau) dx d\tau \\ &+ \sum_{k=1}^{N_0} \int_{(k-1)h}^{kh} \int_{\Omega} \left( |\nabla u_h|^{p(b(u_h))-2} \nabla u_h \right) (x,\tau) \cdot (\nabla \varphi(x,kh) - \nabla \varphi(x,\tau)) dx d\tau \\ &+ \sum_{k=1}^{N_0} \int_{(k-1)h}^{kh} \int_{\Omega} \left( |\nabla u_h|^{q(b(u_h))-2} \nabla u_h \right) (x,\tau) \cdot (\nabla \varphi(x,kh) - \nabla \varphi(x,\tau)) dx d\tau \\ &\longrightarrow \int_0^T \int_{\Omega} \xi \cdot \nabla \varphi(x,\tau) dx d\tau + \int_0^T \int_{\Omega} \chi \cdot \nabla \varphi(x,\tau) dx d\tau, \quad \text{as } h \to 0. \end{split}$$

From (34), we deduce that

$$-\int_0^T \int_\Omega u \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial t} dx \, \mathrm{d}\tau - \int_\Omega u_0(x)\varphi(x,0)dx - \int_0^T \int_\Omega \xi \cdot \nabla \varphi dx d\tau$$
$$-\int_0^T \int_\Omega \chi \cdot \nabla \varphi dx d\tau = \int_0^T \int_\Omega f \varphi dx d\tau.$$

By using the monotonicity method as in [9,15], we show that  $\xi = |\nabla u|^{p(b(u))-2} \nabla u$  a.e. in  $\Omega_T$  and  $\chi = |\nabla u|^{q(b(u))-2} \nabla u$  a.e. in  $\Omega_T$ . By applying Lemma 2.1, we can show that  $\nabla u \in (L^{p(b(u))}(\Omega_T))^N$  and  $\nabla u \in (L^{q(b(u))}(\Omega_T))^N$ . Choosing  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega_T)$ , we get

$$-\int_0^T \int_\Omega u \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial t} dx d\tau = \int_0^T \int_\Omega \xi \cdot \nabla \varphi dx d\tau + \int_0^T \int_\Omega \chi \cdot \nabla \varphi dx d\tau + \int_0^T \int_\Omega f \varphi dx d\tau,$$

therefore  $u_t \in X(\Omega_T)^*$  and  $u_t \in Y(\Omega_T)^*$ . Since  $u \in X(\Omega_T) \cap Y(\Omega_T)$ , we can deduce that  $u \in C([0,T]; L^2(\Omega))$  (see [10,12]). Then u is a weak solution to problem (1) in the sense of Definition 3.1.

## 4 Conclusion

In this paper, we proved the existence of weak solutions to some parabolic (p(b(u)), q(b(u)))-Laplacian problems stated in (1). By using a singular perturbation technique, we proved the existence of weak solutions for the discretized problem associated with problem (1). We finished this paper by proving the existence of a solution for problem (1) as a limit of the solutions of the approximated problem (18). This work provides a qualitative addition to the study of problems involving the (p,q)-Laplacian operators, especially the general reaction-diffusion system [5,7,14].

### References

- A. Abbassi, C. Allalou and S. A. Temghart. Check for updates Entropy Solution of Nonlinear Elliptic p(u)-Laplacian Problem. Recent Advances in Fuzzy Sets Theory, Fractional Calculus, Dynamic Systems and Optimization 476 (2022) 368.
- [2] S. Ait Temghart, C. Allalou and K. Hilal. Existence results of some p(u)-Laplacian systems. International Journal of Nonlinear Analysis and Applications 13 (2) (2022) 3073–3082.
- [3] S. Ait Temghart, C. Allalou and K. Hilal. Nonlinear elliptic problems involving the generalized p(u)-Laplacian operator with Fourier boundary condition. Boletim da Sociedade Paranaense de Matemática 41 (2023) 1–16.
- [4] C. Allalou, K. Hilal and S. Ait Temghart (2022). Existence of weak solutions for some local and nonlocal p-Laplacian problem. Journal of Elliptic and Parabolic Equations 8 (1) 151–169.
- [5] M. J. Alves, B. A. Ronaldo and H. M. Olimpio, Existence result for a class of quasilinear elliptic equations with (p,q)-Laplacian and vanishing potentials. *Illinois Journal of Mathematics* 59 (3) (2015) 545–575.
- [6] B. Andreianov, M. Bendahmane, S. Ouaro, Structural stability for variable exponent elliptic problems. II. The p(u)-Laplacian and coupled problems. Nonlinear Anal. **72** (12) (2010) 4649–4660.

- [7] F. Behboudi and A. Razani, Two weak solutions for a singular (p,q)-Laplacian problem. Filomat **33** (11) (2019) 3399–3407.
- [8] A. Bouzelmate and A. Gmira, Existence and Asymptotic Behavior of Unbounded Positive Solutions of a Nonlinear Degenerate Elliptic Equation. Nonlinear Dynamics and Systems Theory 21 (1) (2021) 27–55.
- [9] M. Chipot and H. B. de Oliveira. Some Results On The p(u)-Laplacian Problem. Mathematische Annalen (2019).
- [10] L. Diening, P. Nägele and M. Ruzicka. Monotone operator theory for unsteady problems in variable exponent spaces. *Complex Variables and Elliptic Equations* 57 (11) (2012) 1209– 1231.
- [11] H. El Hammar, S. Ait Temghart, C. Allalou and S. Melliani. Existence results of quasilinear elliptic systems via Young measures. *International Journal of Nonlinear Analysis and Applications* (2022), doi: 10.22075/ijnaa.2022.26962.3463.
- [12] J.-L. Lions. Quelques méthodes de résolution de problemes aux limites non linéaires. (1969).
- [13] S. Ouaro and N. Sawadogo. Nonlinear elliptic p(u)-Laplacian problem with Fourier boundary condition. CUBO A Mathematical **22** (1) (2020) 85–124.
- [14] Z. Yang and H. Yin, A class of (p,q)-Laplacian type equation with concave-convex nonlinearities in bounded domain. J. Math. Anal. Appl. **382** (2) (2011) 843–855.
- [15] L. Yanru. On a class of (p(u), q(u))-Laplacian problem. Pure Mathematics **11** (4) (2021) 586–598.
- [16] C. Zhang and X. Zhang. Some further results on the nonlocal p-Laplacian type problems. Proceedings of the Royal Society of Edinburgh Section A: Mathematics 151 (3) (2021) 953– 970.